800z siunosoy pue ucday jenuuy oid sbumpoH Z1G

Regtstered number 2088415

DTZ Holdings pic
Annual Report and Accounts 2008

Local passion
Global team

BRI

AKGK42VW*

05/09/2008 1
COMPANIES HOUSE

FRIDAY

i

A4




Group at a glance

Group’s key facts

Over

12,500

People

Operating In

150

Cities

Across

45

Countnes

Mission

To work with clients to create
leading edge property,
investment and business
solutions worldwide

Vision
To be a leading global

adviser renowned for
exceptional client service

Values

* integnty

* Teamwork

* Service excellence
¢ Creativity

* Enjoyment

* Make 1t happen

find out more at WWW.dtZ.COﬂ'I

Qur services

Capital Markets

Services

DTZ's capital markets team is an
integrated global real estate investment
and finance platform We provide
strategic advice to investors on new
markets and products, capital raising
and the investment or realisation of
real estate capital The team designs
innovative solutions to help clients
successfully maximise returns from
their real estate investments

Core Capabilities

* [Direct Investment

* Corporate Finance

+ |nvestment & Asset Management

Clhent highlights

LTZ Investment Management
widened its range of services
by investing in a dervatives
preduct for the first time

Acting for Shin Kong Bank

DTZ sold the Shin Kong Bank
Min Sheng Financial Building
for NT$7 3 billion (£110 milion)

Valuation

Services

Our global valuation team 1s renowned
for its consistent approach, service
delivery and market knowledge Acting
for investars, lenders, corporates and
prvate individuals, DTZ 1s chosen by
clients because of its dynamic, and
where necessary, Innovative approach
to valuation services to help our clients
understand what the value drivers are
In different markets

Core Capabilities

* Valuation & Appraisal

* Due Diigence

+ Corporate Recovery & Restructuring

Client highlights

Valued The Crown Estate's
£2 & brihon property holdings
in Londen's Regent St

and St James’s, aciing

as ndependent valuers

to just over a third of its

total £6 6 tallion portfolio

Valuation of a large
development company’s
assets in Egypt, with a
total value of US$15 billion

—the largest ever office (£7 5 hillron}
investment deal in Taipel
Revenue Revenue
£110.7m £81.0m
2007: £94 5m 2007 £58 2m

Cross reference within this repaort
pl2 Seepage 12 for more details

Cross referenca withwn this report
p15 Ses paga 15 for moreg details




Occupational &
Development Markets

Services

Acting for occupiers, developers and
investors across the globe, DTZ’s
agency, development and professional
teams dehver daily solutions for some
of the world's biggest names Whether
providing authoritative expertise on
developrnent, dehvering significant
occupier cost savings, managing the
implementation of business change,
or offering tailored leasing, landlord
and tenant, or disposal advice, DTZ's
market leading teams excel

Core Capabilities

» Office, Industnal & Retail Agency
» Global Corporate Services

* Development & Planning

* Professional Advisory Services

Chent highhghts

Appointment as Jjoint office
adviser to the 4 9 million sq ft
office element of King's
Cross Central In London, a
development by King's Cross
Central Limited Partnershup

DTZ Barnicke acting for Maple
Leaf Foods Inc assisted in
establishing a campus-styla
setting for its new corporate
offices in Mississauga, Canada
delivening 330,000 sq ft

of office space

Professional Services

Services

Working in partnership with investors,
corporate owners and occupiers
across all property sectors, DTZ's
professional services teams deliver a
full service offering Whether protecting
and enhancing investor clients’

asset performance or supporting the
business needs of occupier clents,

an innovative, flexible and insightful
approach is always adopted

Core Capabilities

* Property Management

¢ Facilities Management

* Project & Bullding Consultancy

Chent highlights

DTZ in India has been
mstructed to project manage
a1 2 milion 5q ft new

build research tech park in
Bangalare for Bearys Group

In Poland DTZ has been
Instructed to manage
Warsaw's largest office park,
the Marynarska Business
Park, spanming 43,799 sq m

Consulting & Research

Services

DTZ's established reputation in
consulting & research delivers a
competitive edge for chients and helps
them to unlock value, Improve efficiency
and enhance portfolio performance
Advice spans how to better align

real estate strategy with business
objectives, integrated development
consultancy, assessing the impact of
economic and soclal change on real
estate, and award winming research

Core Capabilities

* Research

* Economics

+ Corparate Consulting

» Development Consulting

Client highhghts

Providing consultancy
services for the world's
largest arport development,
Dubal World Central, centred
around the new Al-Maktoum
International Airport

Instructed by ORCO
Property Group to camy

out an Econormic Impact
Assessment of a 27 hectare
redevelopment site in the
Prague 7 district of the
Czech Republic

Revenue Revenue Revenue
£136.8m £87.4nm £30.5m
2007 £87 4m 2007 £47 7m 2007- £22 4m

Cross relarence within this report
pl6 Ses page 16 lor more datats

Cross relerance within this reporl,
p19 See page 1% lor more details

Cross refarencea within this report
p20 See page 20 for more detals




About us

Local passion, global team

With a global team of over
12,500 committed individuals
across 45 countries, wherever
our clients’ local markets are,
we are there with the drive
and passion to deliver the
right result.

As a team of leading real estate
experts our role 1s to advise,
steer and even challenge our
clients’ brief to find them the
best solution on the best terms.

Knowledge from a global,

as well as local, perspective
provides the competitive insight
behind every decision we make
and underpins our reputation
as renowned, respected and
trusted advisers.

Whether our clients require
high-quality real estate capital
market solutions or cutting-
edge occupier-led property
services and advice, we
deliver a comprehensive full
service offering.
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Directors’ Report: Business Review

Financial highlights

Profit before tax
Revenue (£m) & exceptional items (Em)

Earnings per share? (p}

UK GAAP

? bofore exceptional ltems

Corporate highlights

1 2
3 4
5 6

1 Acquisition of Donaldsons LLP, an independent
praperty consultancy which created a market-leading
retatl offenng to clients across Europe (Pictured left to
nght Martyn Chase, farmer Charrman of Donaldsons
and Robert Pato, Chairman of DTZ UK & Ireland)

2 Acquisition of Harlow Property Consultants Pty Ltd
and Harlow Property Management Ltd, specialist
industnal and fogistics businesses, located in
North Sydney, Australa

3 Acquisition of Fastighetsplanering AB,
a pavately owned commercial real estate adviser
and the market leader tn commercial leasing
based in Stockholm, Sweden

4 Durng the year DTZ strengthened its number one
market position in China by opening its twelfth
and thirteenth offices in mainiand China, mn
Ghingdae and Shenyang

5 Acquesition of JJ Barnicke Limrted, Canada's largest
independently-owned, full service commercial real
esltate services company, adding a DTZ presence In
18 more aities (Pictured left to nght Mark Struckett,
Group Chief Executive and Joseph J Barnicke,
Chairman, DTZ Barricke)

6 DTZ signed an agreement for a new UK and
global headquarters at 125 Old Broad Streetn
the City of London

DTZ Holdings plc Annual Report and Accounts 2008/ 1

Financial and corporate highlights




Directors’ Report: Business Review

QOur presence

As clients’ needs continue to internationalise, our presence 1n 150 of
the world’s major Central Business Districts enables us to deliver trusted
local solutions that are integrated and consistent across a global platform.

The Americas

“With the successful acquisition of
JM Barnicke last year, a major real estate
firm that offers cccupational and capital
markets services throughout Canada,
DTZ’s North American business now
encompasses all three nations in North
America In Mexico, we continued to
mvest capital across property types and
cities on behalf of a global investment
management chent, while the US
business adapted to changing market
conditions by refocusing its efforts on
emerging opportunities in the debt
markets, such as note sales and
structured re-financings "

John Magee
CEO DTZ Rockwood

DTZ people

600

25 Cities 3 Countries

EMEA

“Significant revenue growth in EMEA
was dnven by acquisihon and organic
development throughout the region
with strong growth in Germany,

Central Europe, Middle East and Russta
Valuation and professional services
performed particularly well and
occupational markets remained largely
robust The credit crunch has had a
negative impact on capital markets and
on demand for direct investment services
The market detenoration has inewvitably
reduced profitability and consequently
we are aligning our cost base to reflect
rmarket conditions and improve
operational efficiencies ”

Kilhan O'Higgins
CEO EMEA

DTZ people

9,500

90 Cittes 33 Countries

Chent snapshot

2/ www diz com




Asia Pacific

“During the year our business In

Asia Pacific saw increases in both
turnover and profitability We continued
Iintegration of our acquisitions in North
Asgia, Australia and New Zealand and
to build our business in India In China
we maintained market leadership and
increased coverage, adding to our

11 mainland offices, opening in
Qingdaoc and Shenyang "

Cawvid Steventon
CEO Asia Pacific

DTZ people

6,500

35 Cities 9 Countries

Global case studies

pi13

p17

p21

Cross reference within
this report See page 13
for mare details

Gross raferance within
this report See page 17
for more details

Cross reference within
this report See page 21
for mora detas
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For the past five years DTZ
has been managing a mixed
portfolio of UK properties

for ING Real Estate’s UK
investment management
bustness This Is one of many
services DTZ provides across
the world

With instructions ranging
from as far as Italy to China,
DTZ delivers a truly global
full service to BT and has
recently completed a mulh
disciplinary instruction m
New Delhi, India

Working across Europe and
more recently expanding
services Iinto Asia Pacific,
DTZ delivers various projects
for Standard Life Investments
including a recent acquisition
In Brisbane, Australia for its
Select Property Fund

Our presence



Directors’ Report Business Review

Chairman’s statement

Tim Malville-Ross, Group Chairman

“We will use all our people,
our skills, our assets and our
connections to continue to build
our market presence in what are
undeniably challenging times.
We believe that the broad spread
of our activities over many
geographic markets and sectors
will stand us in good stead.”

4/ www dtz com

Since my previous report to shareholders, economic
conditions have continued to deteriorate, especially

as a result of the credit crisis prompted by the sub-prime
mortgage difficulties in the United States These have had
a substantial impact on property markets generally and,
inewvitably, our business Despite this, | am pleased to report
that underlying prefitability 1s at a creditable level and in
ine with revised market expectations

These changed market conditions have led us to make
some significant exceptional charges for the full year

We regard these, together with significant cost savings
throughout the business and a slower pace in the continuing
implementation of our global strategy, as essenttal
ingredients in the prudent management of the business
which will ensure that we are well placed in the future to
benefit from the return of more normal market conditions
and thereby deliver long-term value to our shareholders

Results

Revenue increased substantially by 44% to £446 3 million
(2007 £310 3 milion) boosted by the impact of the
Donaldsons and Barnicke acquisitions, the full year

effect of our North Asia acquisition, and intial returns
from the substantial investment we have made in
addihonal staff resources in previous years

Despite this increase In revenue, profit before tax and
exceptional items reduced by 46% to £20 6 million
{2007 £38 0 million} This was largely the result of the
change in mix of our Income streams with our capital
markets business particularly affected by difficult
economi¢ condhitions, the delay between recruitment of
additional staff and their capacity to generate revenue,
and adverse trading conditions

In the light of the degree of exposure of DTZ Rockwocd
and our other investments in North America to these
conditions, we have decided to make an imparment charge
of £11 7 milhon against these investments We are also
making exceptional charges to reflect the reorganisation
costs associated with the Donaldsons acquisition and
redundancy charges asscciated with the staff reductions
needed In the light of prevaling market conditions The net
result of these 1s that profit before tax and after exceptional
items ts £5 6 milion Further details of this and the Group's
cash position are given in the financial review on page 23

As a prudent measure In difficult and uncertain conditions,
the Board has decided to recommend a reduction in the
final dividend to 3 0 pence per share (2007 8 0 pence)
bringing the total dividend for the year to 6 5 pence (2007
11 5 pence) The reduction in the total dividend 1s broadly
in ine with the movement in the Group's underlying
pre-tax profit

Strategy

The Board firmly believes that, especially in difficult market
conditions, it 15 vital to remain focused on the development
of the Group’s strategy This 1s to work with clients to create
leading-edge property, Investment and business solutions




worldwide It is precisely because we have been pursuing
thus strategy for some years that the Group 1s able to
generate profits in these difficult market conditions, albeit at
reduced levels Both our geographic and skill diversifications
have broadened the range of iIncome sources to give us
some protection from adverse developments mn certamn areas
and thereby improve the overall quahty of our earnings

A good example of this 1s the successful merger with and
Integration of Donaldsens This was an important milestone
for us, strengthening our position stll further in the UK and
the rest of the EMEA region across many of our skill ines,
and especially in the retall sector

The need for us to diversify across skill ines as well as
geographically 1s reinforced by our recent expenence In
the United States Because our strategy and presence (s
less well established there to date, with a disproportionate
exposure to capital markets activities, we have been more
affected by the current adverse market conditions We
therefore fully intend to cantinue with the development

of a full range of real estate advisory services in all key
North Amencan markets to augment our existing significant
presence 1N a number of locations, not least because of
the ending of our alliance with the Staubach Company
However, in recognition of current conditicns expansion in
the immediate future will clearly be done at a slower pace

By contrast, the already diversified and well established
businesses in Asia Pacific saw increases in both revenue
and profitability We continued during the year with the
succassful integration of our acgquisitions in North Asia,
Australia and New Zealand, and to build our business in
Indtz In China we maintained market leadership and
increased coverage with further office openings

Through our focus on cross-border services and skills,

we now have a wide range of very valuable capabilities
within the Group It 1s therefore important that we continue
to mnvest in these and manage them effectively to ensure
that we continue to grow our market share and thereby
delver the best possible returns to shareholders

People

As already announced, cur Chief Executive, Mark Struckett,
has indicated his desire to step down after 14 years in the
post Under his leadership, the Group has grown ts
geographic and service coverage very significantly When
Mark was appointed Chief Executive, the Group was
principally a UK based business employing Just over a
thousand people, and turnover In his first year in office was
£58 millon Turnover has increased mere than seven-fold
dunng Mark'’s term of office, and the Group now offers a
wide range of real estate services in 150 cities in 45
countnes, employing some 12,500 people His commutment
and far-sighted leadership have been invaluable to the
Group and its shareholders, and | would hke to take this
opportunity to express the Board’s grateful thanks for his
long and disttnguished service We are also grateful for
Mark’s willingness to assist with an orderly transttion to

his successor when appointed

The commitment and resilence of our staff are even

more impertant when business conditions are difficult,
and | would Iike to thank them on behalf of the Board

and shareholders for the great efforts that they are putting
into maximising the Group's business opportunities in
these conditions

Qutlook

it 1s difficult to predict how financial and property markets
throughout the world will develop over the next two or
three years | will only say that we will use all of our people,
our skills, our assets and our connechions to continue to
build our market presence in what are undeniably
challenging tmes In additton, we believe that the broad
spread of our activitres over many geographic markets

and sectors will stand us in good stead even in a prolonged
downturn and should ensure that we are best positioned
to deliver growth and value for our shareholders on the
recovery of financial and real estate markets worldwide

e, Mehe

Tim Melville-Ross
Chairman
9 July 2008

Total Dividend per share

[
2007: 11.5p

Revenue

£446.3m

2007: £310 3m

DTZ Holdings pic Annual Report and Accounts 2008/ 5

Chairman’s statement




Directors’ Report' Business Review

CEQ’s strategic review

Mark Struckett, Group Chief Executive

“The commercial property
services market has been
rapidly consolidating, reflecting
the globalisation of our clients’
requirements. We firmly believe
this trend will continue and have
positioned the business as one
of the major operators in the
marketplace in both EMEA and
Asia Pacific, and we will seek to
improve our market position
in North America.”

6/ www dtz com

Qverview

Following many years of strength, the past financial year
has seen substantial changes in the economy and real
estate markets

The shock to the financial systerns from the credit cnsis
that started in late summer 2007 had a quick and traumatic
impact on several of the world’s main property investment
markets Initially, the most substantial effects were seen in
the UK and the USA with large falls in pricing and activity
levels This spread to property investment markets in other
geographic areas and, by our year end, was affecting

most of the world’s maun markets However, occupational
markets remained generally robust against a background
of reasonable occupter demand, attractive current
avallability ratios and a development supply that, while
rising, I1s at lower levels than in past cycles Financially,

our business thus saw cne significant area of its actiity
(capital markets) change from being very strong to very
weak relative to histonc norms while the remainder of the
business saw a much steadier environment :

In addition to the markets, the structure of our business

has also changed significantly In early July 2007, the Group
completed the largest ever merger of commercial real estate
advisory businesses in Europe - the merger of DTZ and
Donaldsons This acquisition assisted the Group in key
strategic objectives It substantially strengthened the

Group’s capacity in retail property markets, particularly in

the consultancy, leasing and management of major shopping
centres, and it also cemented our position as one of the clear
top three commercial real estate advisers across Europe —
important in a consolidating market In addition to Donzldsons,
the Group also made acquisitions in Canada, Sweden and \
Australia However, with the change in market conditions,

the Group concentrated on its existing business to prepare

the Company for conttinuing difficult market conditions

Results

Overall Group revenue increased to £446 3 millon (2007
£310 3 milhon), an increase of 44% This increase can

be apportioned approximately 29% to the impact of our
corporate development actities and 15% to organic
growth A significant part of the organic growth is a result

of the investment made in additional people during previous
years who have started to contnbute meaningful fee revenue
to the Group during the course of the financial year, after the
normal penod of hmited contnbution following recruitment

Underlying profit before tax and before exceptional items
for the Group was £20 6 milhion {2007 £38 0 million), a
decrease of 46% Our profitability was significantly affected
by the collapse In the capital markets after summer 2007
and the movement of parts of our transactional activities

in this area from substantia! profit into loss

Our profit before tax was further affected by the impact

of a number of exceptional items totallng £15 1 million !
which were one-off events dunng the course of this year

These are descnbed in more detall in the financial review

on page 23 As a result, the Group's profit before tax feil

to £5 & million for the year (2007 £41 8 million)




The financial review alsa provides detalls on EBITDA,
earnings per share, dividend and the balance sheet

Strategy

The commercial property services market has been rapidiy
consolidating, reflecting the globalisation of our clients’
requirements We firmly believe this trend will continue and
have positioned the business as one of the major operators
in the market place m both EMEA and Asia Pacific and will
focus on the Integration and development of this leading
position We will also seek to improve our market position
in North America through organic and other means but
without investing significant equity in the short term until
market conditions strengthen

The Group’s expanded operations in Continental Europe
and Asia Pacific have mitigated the impact of the very
difficult conditions in the UK and US capital markets We
have continued to diversify our sources of income and both
the Donaldsons acquisition and arganic growth assisted this
process last year We intend to continue this policy, focused
in the short term on defensive iInceme sources but with the
long term aim of a full spread of activities by geography,
skill and sector

Property markets are cyclical and white the downturns can
ke uncomfortable, we have histoncally gained market share
during such periods We are also aware that the current fall
in capital values will in time recover and so we will use this
next pertod to position the business to benefit from this
upturn when it arrives

Corporate development

The major event of the year was our purchase of
Denaldsons in July 2007 This 1s believed to be the
largest ever merger amongst European property advisers

Donaldsons brought around 800 people to the DTZ
business, pnmarily in the UK but with significant operations
n Continental Europe At the tme of the merger, it was the
region’s leading adviser in the development consultancy,
leasing and management of shopping centres and fitted
well with our operations Our rationale was to increase

our expertise in the retail and public sectors, to exploit
synergies with cur own leading position in UK retail
investment and to strengthen our operations 1n other
activities across Europe

We are pleased with the merger process to date and

the physical integration has been largely completed

Client reaction has been overwhelmingly positive, overall
staff turnover has been in ine with our projections and while
the integratton costs were shghtly higher than budgeted, the
acquired business has performed in line with our expectations

Our other acquisitions have also had a good start In July,
we purchased a further 50% of our associate in Sweden,
taking us to 80%, and the business then acquired the
Stockholm leasing company of Fastighetsplanering AB

At the same time, our Australian business acquired Harlow
Associates in Sydney, providing the Group with industrial
property expertise in that market

1.

Our strategy

Our priorities for 2007/08

» Continue to grow our geographic presence

¢ Dwversify our service offering to chents

CEOQ’s strategic review

Our progress in 2007/08

Entered the Canadian market via acquisition
of JJ Barnicke Ltd

Grew our operations in Sweden and Australia
via acquisition

Significant orgamic growth in Asia Pacific,
Central & Eastern Europe ('CEE') and Middle East

Developed a leading European capability

in development consultancy and management
of shopping centres through the acquisition of
BDonaldsons LLP

Qur primary focus in 2008/09

+ Strengthen our position i the EMEA and

Asia Pacific markets

* Expand and diversify our market presence

in The Americas, In response to opportunities
while being sensitive to market conditions

* Redeploy and focus the business to perform

more effectively in the current climate and
gain market share

DTZ Holdings pic Annual Report and Accounts 2008 /7




Directors’ Report- Business Review

2.

Our sectors

Office

Qur global teams specialise In the leasing and
acquisition of city centre offices, business parks
and mixed use developments in the major CBDs —
testament to our success was being named
‘European Office Agency Team of the Year’

Industnal & logistics

Qur award winning teams deliver transactional
adwice, underpinned by local insight on the changing
markets Knowledge-sharng between regional
teams in EMEA and Asia Pacific helps us deliver
truly joined up and informed global sclutons

Retail

DTZ has a leading European capability in
development consultancy and management of
shopping centres We understand a shapping centre
15 a business as well as a property asset and
provide the fulf range of retail services, delivering

to clhients nationally and internationaliy

Source DTZ Research

Hospitality

Acting across EMEA, The Amencas and Asia Pacific,
the team has witnessed major growth dunng the year,
opening In Russia and Austna, and now delivers
adwvisory, transactional and vafuation assignments in
locations from Montenegro to Costa Rica and Malaysia

Residential

New homes consultancy and sales has been a
major feature of the residential business over the
tast year, especially in London, China and South
East Asia, leading to some major new wins The
other core disciphnes of land advisory, valuation
and investment also continue to grow

8/ www diz com

In August, we acquired an option to purchase the leading
Boston firm, FHO Partners This option was exercisable
at our year end, in April 2008 However, at that time we
considered market conditions had deteriorated so as

to make further capital investment in the United States
inappropriate for the tirne being We therefore did not
exercise the option but instead have entered into a
licensing arrangement

In November 2007, we acquired JJ Barnicke Ltd in Canada,
the country’s largest independent commercial property adviser
and third largest overall In addition to giving us new coverage
In this resource nch country, it has given us better access to
the Canadian institutions who are active internationally

Since the year end, The Staubach Company In the USA,
with whom the Group has had an allance agreement to
service occupational clients, has announced that it 1s being
acquired by a competitor We have therefore formally
terminated the allance agreement We had anticipated this
possibility which was part of the ratonale for our separate
expansion in North America, and have also built up our own
staff numbers there to deal with our Amencan based clients
We therefore do not anticipate any impact on 2008/09
earrings Looking forward, as market conditions allow,

we will continue our development in North Amenica, where
directly and indirectly we now have around 600 staff

Corporate and practice matters

Our organisational structure has focused on the further
development of our key business lines across geographies,
particularly in Asia Pacific where we had cbtained majonty
control across all our operations during 2006/07 We are
pleased with progress, which positions us well for winning
additional business across the region as Asia continues its
rapid development

This integration has been run in paralle! to our rebranding
exercise where the substantial majonty of our operations
have now rebranded as 'DTZ', losing many of the legacy
suffixes This change was finalised during the first four
months of the financial year and greatly assists the
integration referred to above

The business has had substantial success in winning
varnous industry awards across the world, including
industry recognihion as European Office Agency Team
of the Year as well as a number of national awards

As set out in more detail in the Corporate responsibility
report on page 30, there has also been a substantial focus
on improving our performance, both as a company and as
adwvisers n the area of sustainability and other aspects of
corporate responsibility These efforts have brought a further
improvement but are part of an on-going programme




People

Our business relies on attracting and retaining the best
people In our industry and this 1s inevitably a key focus each
year This 1s especially the case during the major integration
process that follows the acquisitions we have undertaken
during 2007/08, particularly Donaldsons This has seen a
penod of planned reductions alled with a pause in general
recruitment reflecting market conditions Overalt staff
retention has been satisfactory while we continue to make
some key recruitments to meet specific needs

A particular feature of the year has been increased mobility,
both geographically and by business line Tougher market
caonditions facilitate voluntary relocation and we have been able
to fill posts internally more easily, aiding lang term efficiency

There have been some significant senior management
changes durning the course of the year In addition to
welcoming Colin Child as Group Finance Director, we have
appomnted new Managing Directors for the UK & Ireland,
Czech Republic, Spain, India and New Zealand and a new
Group Marketing & Communications Director Qur
practitioners have also been active winning individual
awards, including five nominations as top agents in the UK,
with John Forrester being named as the UK'’s leading agent,
and similar wins as far apart as Stockholm and Sydney

Market outlook

There 1s now no doubt that much of the world 15
experiencing a substantial economtc downturn, albeit the
extent of this varies widely by geography While the inihal
focus was on the financial cnisis, there 1s now more
evidence of general recessionary pressure across rmany
sectors This inevitably has an impact on eccupational
demand and we expect this to dampen rental growth

and performance around the world although some areas,
particularly in developing markets, continue to perform well
Current availability ratios are generally low while new office
development supply 15 more modest than in past cycles,
except in a few of the most challenged tocations New
construction 1s now beng deferred in many parts of the
world and for most sectors of commerciat property This
lack of new supply should imit the length of the downturn
in the occupational cycle

The major repricing that occurred on investment property in
the UK first 1s generally spreading In addition to reflecting

the prospective weakening in some occupational markets,

on which all nvestment value 1s ultimately based, the markets
will also take note of the recent rise In long-term rates driven
by fears of inflation This, combined with absence of debt
availabilty, means that there could be further falls in capital
value before the significant sources of equity that are
available are encouraged to recommence purchasing

3.
Our insight

Global investment transactions (US$ billion)

Transactions peaked in 2007 at US$750 billion, but
have since fallen sharply and are Iikely to be down
substantially in 2008

Prime office yields (%)

Global yield compression may be unwinding, with the
UK leading the market correction

Our research
Some recent examples of our global research

find out more at  www.dtz.com
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Directors’ Report: Business Review

Operating review

Group performance

Revenue analysis by region

Revenue growth

The Group’s underlying performance was deminated by
two factors in the year Firstly, the collapse in the capital
markets spreading to many parts of the world following the
financial cnsis of summer 2007 and, secondly, the impact
of vanous acquisitions

All areas of the business, except aspects of our capital
markets related activity, showed significant growth in
revenue, both before and after taking account of
acquisitions Heowever, the substantial reduction in the
performance of the capital markets after the first quarter
nppled through to the overall performance of the Group
dunng the course of the year

We review below the Group’s operations by geographic
and by practice area

UK & Ireland

Qverall revenue increased to £212 1 million (2007 £176 0
million), growth of 20 5% These figures include the
contribution of Donaldsons since July 2007 —if this 1s
ignored, then overall organic revenue was broadly flat
Most business streams did well, with growth from
professional services (64 9% growth), occupational and
development markets (26 6% growth), consulting and
research (23 7% growth}) and valuations (10 2% growth)
However, from autumn 2007, investment agency income
suffered so that overall capital markets revenue reduced
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by 13 7%, despite a good start to the year and its solid
income from investment management

Operating profit before exceptional items fell to £14 7 million
(2007 £31 2 millon) This resulted in a fall in operating profit
margin to 7 0% (2007 17 7%}

The acquisition of Donaldsons saw staff numbers in the
UK peak at 2,409 Following the financial crisis, we
controlled recruitment in most areas reducing staff
numbers to 2,274 by the year end

Dunng the year, we committed to a substantial relocation
of our London estate, taking new space in 125 Old Broad
Street In the Crty and dispostng of four existing premises,
primarily expensive accommaodation in the West End The
rationale 15 to increase operating efficiency and manage
overall occupational costs

EMEA (ex UK & Ireland)
Overall revenue grew strongly by 42 5% to £124 5 million
(2007 £87 4 millton) with growth in all skill areas

Around £12 5 million of this increase came from our
acquisitions, so that arganic revenue increased by 28 2%
There was particularly strong growth in valuation and
professional services which both had record years,
showing revenue increases of 61 5% and 146 9%
respectively Professional services got a particular benefit
from Donaldsons, but also performed strongly organically
Occupational and development markets and consulting
and research also performed well Transactional activities
Iin capital markets were less affected than in the UK while
asset management agan performed well, so that overalt
capital markets revenue increased by around 17 1%

Qperating profit before exceptional items increased slightly
to £14 2 milhion (2007 £13 6 million) This steady
performance disguised many factors - the positive
contribution of our significant recruitment campaign in
2007 and same good performances through the region,
offset by some slowing investment markets and the costs
of developing certain offices

Indmidually, there were strong performances agan from
France and Germany The German performance I1s
particularly pleasing, where staff numbers have trebled In
two years to 370 people in six main offices while two thirds
of the revenue comes from non-transactional services

We have continued to invest in Central & Eastern Europe
(particularly Russia, where revenue increased by 75%)

and in the Middle East

We extended our geographic reach to meet existing chent
requirements by opening in Leipzig, our sixth office in
Germany, and Kuwait, our sixth office in the Middle East,
as well as entenng into new hcence arrangements with
affiiates in Croatia and Kazakhstan



Asia Pacific

Results for Asia Pacific are complicated by the effect of

the full year figures for North Asia, where we purchased the
remaining equity in December 2006 Overall, revenue has
grown to £93 5 millron (2007 £39 4 million) with significant
growth in all areas If we adjust for the impact of North Asia,
we have still seen an underlying organic growth of 70 8%

Operating profit before exceptional items has increased to
£3 0 million (2007 £1 1 million), again reflecting the iImpact of
the North Asian acquisition, as well as organic performance

The region shows some extremes of financial performance
For example, Singapore had an outstanding year and
produced the highest profit margin of any significant business
in the Group However, the overall regional figures are offset
by the substantial ongoing investment that we have been
making to develop our services further in other countnes,
particularly Japan and India, so that the overall profit margin
before exceptional iterms was just 3 2% (2007 2 7%)

We continued to invest in China, where we are the market
leaders, opening offices in our twelfth and thirteenth
mainland cities in Qingdao and Shenyang while, since the
year end, we have opened our fourth office in India, in
Chennar We took the decision to exit agency on small
homes in mainland China in order to focus on large projects
Accordingly, we have disposed of our business in this area
In Shanghar and, since the year end, in Shenzhen

Since the year end, our office in Chengdu was affected by
the Chinese earthquake but we are relieved to report that
none of our staff or their immedsate families were seriously
hurt, although several are facing the dreadful trauma of
hawing lost their family homes

The Amerncas

Qur business in North America i1s less substantive than
elsewhere in the world Our underlying financial results
reflect two equity holdings Firstly, our 50% holding in

DTZ Rockwood which 1s a capital markets specialist As
mentioned earlier, this business suffered with the downturn
tn the markets and lack of diversification to offset this
impact Conseqguently, cur 50% share of revenue showed
a decline to £6 2 million (2007 £7 5 million) despite higher
staff numbers

Our other ownership in North Amenca 1s DTZ Barnicke in
Canada, which became a subsidiary in November 2007
This 1s a diversified business across both capital and
occupational markets and contributed £10 0 million
revenue In the year

Together, these operations produced revenue for the Group
of £16 2 milion (2007 £7 5 million) However, our operating
loss before exceptional items in the Amencas increased to
£5 2 million (2007 £3 7 million loss), reflecting increased
losses in DTZ Rockwood and central management costs

Qur Amencan operations also include a team in corporate
services based in several locations across the continent,
responsible for relationships with American-based clients
that we service throughout the world We also established
DTZ FHO Partners as our licensee in Boston dunng the year
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Operating review

Capital Markets

“The global credit squeeze continued to
cast an economic shadow over the US
and Europe in Q1 2008, but most of
Eastern Europe and Asia Pacific
remained relatively well shielded from
the worst of its effects due to strong
economic fundamentals ”

Revenue growth

+17.1%

Strong capital flows continued into the real estate

sector in the first quarter of the Group’s financial year

until expectations of a substantial correction in the market
started rnaterialising around August 2007 The US
sub-prime housing crisis then acted as a catalyst for the
long awaited move from a focus on capitalisation rates

and financial arbitrage towards market fundamentals, while
the nsing cost and diminishing avallability of finance placed
upwards pressure on real estate yields, particularly in the
UK and USA

The global credit squeeze continued to cast an economic
shadow over the US and Europe in Q1 2008, but most of
Eastern Europe and Asia Pacific remained relatively well
shielded from the worst of its effects due to strong
economic fundamentals In Asia, histerically imited
exposure to public debt finance or syndicated loans

paid off In a more stable environment

Revenue increased by 17 1% to £110 7 million (2007
£94 5 milhen), reflecting a sharp nse in Asia Pacific but
offset by the fall in agency revenue in the UK Of the
increase, 5 5% came from organic growth and 11 6%
from acquisition activity These growth figures have
been boosted by £1 4 million from internal transfers
during the year from consulting and research

12/ www dtz com

Investment / asset management

Qur investment management team, with £2 0 billien

under management, produced a steady financial
performance and excellent figures for cur clients, winning
a British award for the eighth year in a row for the best
performing pension fund managed on a discretionary basis

Cur asset management teams have more than €3 5 billion
{£2 8 bilhon) 1n assets under management in continental
Europe They performed well and have added many
pan-European mandates from global institutional chents
Notable success was evidenced by our appointment by
Realkapital, a Norwegian investor, €100 nmillion (£80 mullion)
for whom we acquired assets for therr first fund of €50
million (£40 millien) in France and Germany Additionally we
won a mandate from GE Asset Management for a new
European fund and also launched the Hexagone

French Regional Property Fund, a joint Morley and

DTZ Asset Management imhative

investment agency

Our financial performance in agency directly reflected the
state of the markets, but nonetheless saw some notable
instructions In EMEA, mandates included advising
Hammerson and Kapma on the prominent disposal of One
London Wall for £136 mithon, advising Legal & General on
the sale of a mixed sector portfoho consisting of 11 UK
properties for circa €185 milhon (€147 million) and the
exclusive marketing of a portfolio of eight properties across
Germany with a net lettable area of approximately 60,400 sq
m for €75 5 million (£60 rllion} for a Middle Eastern investor

Following the acquisition of Donaldsons, our retail
investrment team doubled its UK shopping centre market
share by value from 11% to 219, albett in a reduced
market We advised on the acquisiton of The Telford
Shopping Centre, the largest single retall UK asset deal in
2007 while on the continent, we purchased a €700 milhon
portfolic for the AlM Europe joint venture

In Asia, we adwised on the acquisition of Shama Luxe in
Shanghai for U$S$138 million (£69 mullion), the Shin Kong Bank
Min Sheng Buillding in Taipe was sold for US$225 million
(£113 milion} while In Singapore we sold Leedon Heaights

for SGDAE35 million {£307 million) to Guoco Land Limited
Activity increased in India where we arranged several equity
participations for development funds in Delhy and Mumbai

In the US, tughhghts for DTZ Rockwood included the
US$515 million (£257 million) sale of North Bndge, a

68,100 sgq m mall in Chicago, and the US$360 million
{£180 milhon) re-financing of a 2,152 unit mulbfamily

apartment portfolio in California and Colorado

Corporate finance

We have substantially restructured our corporate finance
team during the year under new leadership, integrating

two teams and resulting in over 50 pecple with expertise

n mergers and acquisitions, property structured finance,
carporate advisory and indirect investment During the year,
the team successfully raised money for a number of indirect
vehicles and development funds



Local passion

Global team >>

DTZ has been managing a mixed portfolio of UK
properties for ING Real Estate’'s UK investment
management business for over five years

The value of property under management currently
exceeds £1 billion and comprises two institutional
pooled funds, (including the ING Lionbrook
Property Fund), a Retall Pooled Fund, and six
segregated funds Properties span all sectors and
range from the Sterling Mills Designer Cutlet Village
in Clackmannanshire, Scotland, to Eagle House
{pictured), a 3,500 sq m prime office bullding

i the heart of London’s St James's

Operating review



Local passion

Global team

DTZ works with ING Real Estate throughout Eurcpe
and has a strong relationship in many other parts
of the world

Alongside management advice in the UK, DTZ also
provides asset management and development
services to ING Real Estate for retail schemes in
Poland, Germany, Belgum, Hungary and the Czech
Repubhc In the USA, DTZ Rockwoed Asociades (s
aiso advising ING Real Estate on a fund which
invests in the Mexican real estate sector

Services provided by DTZ include mvestment,
leasing, rent reviews, project & bullding
consultancy, valuation, research and advice
on local taxation

Services provided*
& Capital Markets
¥ Valuation
# Professional Services
™ Occupational & Development
@ Consulting & Research

*Not all services are provided in all locations

Delivering for ING Real Estate
around the world
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Operating review

Valuation

“We continued to win a large share of
the cross border pnvate equity work in
European markets and our cross border
team efforts in Chinese, Japanese,
Indian, North American and Middle
Eastern markets also gave us a strong
footing for competing on a global scale.’

Revenue growth

+39.0%

Valuation work proved to be resilient in the current market
with revenue increasing by 39 0% to £81 0 milion (2007
£58 2 milhon), with 18 4% of the increase coming from
organic grewth and 20 6% from acquisition Revenue
generated outside the UK continued to grow strongly, whilst
our UK business also managed a small increase In revenue
The continued ternationalisation of the marketplace 1s
driving mcreased requirements for iIndependent advice from
global and local investors offering further growth
opportunmties The EMEA team now comprnises around 550
people, with continued growth especially in Germany,
Russia, Middle East and Ukraine

We continued to win a large share of the cross border
private equity work in European markets as these groups
have been particularly active in the past 12 months Cross
border team efforts iIn Chinese, Japanese, Indian, North
Amencan and Middle Eastern markets also gave us a strong
footing for competing on a global scale

Successes tncluded

+ Valuation due diligence for International Tobacco
Company in connection with a bid for a Turkish group,
compnsing 2 7 milion sq ft of assets across Turkey
with a value in excess of $230 million (€115 million)

Eastern European, Ukraintan and Russian valuation
advice on behalf of a major Russian based property
company of €1 8 billion (£1 4 billion) In 160 assets

On behaif of a consortium of international investors,
valuation of 90 retall assets in Germany comprising
1 4 millon sq m and a value in excess of €4 5 billion
(£3 5 billion)

Operating review

Appointment to value the assets of a major private
Insh owner of a retall portfolio across Central and
Eastern Europe and the UK of approximately €1 bilhon
(£800 mifiion) In value

Acting as independent valuers, we have been appointed
to value The Crown Estate’s £2 5 billion core property
holdings in London’s Regent Street and St James's

L]

Valuation of a large development company's assets in
Egypt, with a total value of the assets of US$15 billion
(£7 5 billion)

Advice on behalf of GIC on the Mermll Lynch Financial
Centre, London valued at circa £480 mitlon

»

Valuation of 206 assets 1n 29 countries including
Asia, Central Europe and North Amenca for a
global firm

* |n Japan we have been awarded a major mandate for
a portfalio of over 80 properties with an indicative value
of US$400 millron (£200 mulhon) The portfolio includes
praperties In Asia, Europe and the US

It 15 iImportant te note that our annual portfolio valuation
work for a wide range of mstitutional, public and private
funds grew over the year and continues to provide a
positive foundation for consistent year-on-year revenue,
both in the UK and increasingly in our Continental
European business

Corporate recovery

Our corporate recovery and restructuring team continued
their strong growth, working with a wide range of banking
clents and insolvency practitioners Focus remains on the
residential investment and development market, we seld
a number of large portfolios and have dewised solutions
for several developments on behaif of secured lenders
Activity 1s now increasing in the commercial sectors of the
market and across a multitude of geographies including
the USA, Spain, Turkey, Portugal, Germany, France, the
Caribbean and Heng Kong
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Operating review

Occupational & Development markets

“Our increasing market share ensures
DTZ will continue to be involved In a
significant level of transactions and whilst
negative sentiment prevails in many
markets, a number continue to exhibit
positive levels of rental growth, tenant
demand and asset value improvement

Revenue growth

+56.5%

Over the last 12 months a number of the major influencing
trends on the performance of Europe’s occupational and
development markets have moved from positive to neutral
or negative Whilst economic volatility has impacted on
certain sectors of tenant demand, such as financial
services, on the whole the take-up of accommodation
across Europe remains robust, albeit with rental growth
slowing Construction costs continue to rnise and combined
with the softening of iInvestment yields generally, this has
caused residual land values to fall and reduced the viability
of development, which will help to restrnict future supply
Asia Pacrfic has, however, remained more robust

QOur teams in occupational and development markets
performed well in the year Revenue rose by 56 5% to
£136 8 millron (2007 £87 4 million) This increase was split
18 4% from organic growth and 38 1% from acquisitions

DTZ continues to advise upen major transactions across
all geographies Successful appointments include

* Joint adviser to the 490,000 sg m office element of
King’s Cross Central in Londen, a development by Argent
(King’s Cross) Limited, London & Continental Railways
and DHL-Exel Supply Chain

In London, Hutchinson Whampoa has acquired a 30
acre site in Deptford from News International and DTZ
1s appointed residential and commercial joint agent
and adviser
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* Exclusive letting agent for a unique new 40,000 sq m
office development built by Sydporten and designed by
Henning Larsen architects in Sydhavnen, Copenhagen

* Joint leasing agents for Westheld on its proposed
60,000 sq m mixed use Sydney City development

* Engaged to acquire land to build a new 30,000 sqm
facility for Broadcom in Singapore

* DTZ Barnicke leased over 30,000 sg m in Technoparc,
Montreal, its largest ever transaction in the city, and
acquired a 46,000 sq m media facility for Corus
Entertainment Inc in Toronto which will be the anchor
for redevelopment of the city’s eastern waterfront

* |n the US, DTZ FHO Partners were named the exclusive
leasing agent for the award-winning Bay Colony Corporate
Center In Massachusetts by Broadway Partners

Our increasing market share ensures DTZ will continue to
be involved in a significant level of transactions and whilst
negative sentiment prevails iIn many markets, a number
continue to exhibit positive levels of rental growth, tenant
demand and asset value improvement, for example n
Central Europe, Russia and the Middle East

Our UK retail agency team benefited enormously from the
acquisition of Donaldsons and concluded over 500 deals
In addition to our work in Victona Square, Belfast, the year
also saw the opening of Land Secunties’ 48,000 sq m
Princesshay scheme in Exeter where we were appointed
as agents We are retained on some of Eurape’s most
successful shopping centre developments including
Krasnodar City {(under constructien) in Russia, Diagonal
Mar in Barcelona and Bluewater in Kent, and are finalising
the leasing of major city centre projects in Bristol, Leicester
and London for key clhients including Hammersen, Land
Securities and Westfield

We are also now established as advisers on 50 retail
warehousing parks throughout the UK totaling 800,000 sg m
and have transacted over £500 million of stock in nine deals
In addition, DTZ 15 adwvising on schemes across Europe,
including two of Europe’s largest out of town developments
located in Romania and Latvia

The European logistics markets, strongly linked to retall
activity, has slowed during the last 12 months, as economic
uncertainty hits the western markets Conversely, there has
been increased activity in Central and Eastern Europe and
in Southern Eurcpe One of the highlights of the year was
representing Hellos In the acquisition of 66 hectares of
prime logistics development land in Germany for a
speculative development programme totalling 300,000 sq m
of floor space Our pan EMEA team had a record year,
increasing floor space transacted by 32% this year to

395 mitlion sq m

DTZ’s global and local corporate services client base
expanded by circa 25% this year through instructions

on over 4 milllon sq m In response to cost saving mibatives
in multinational outsourcing In addition, we have advised
on many global corperate M & A due diligence projects,
including most recently, SAP We also expanded our

work with Vodafone as its preferred global adviser




Local passion

Global team >>

In India DTZ advised BT on the roll out of its
E-Serve faciity in Gurgaon, New Delhi

Providing advisory and brokerage services, the
team delivered due diigence, financial analysis
and tax advice on 15 different options and
subseqguently acquired 50,000 sq ft of offices
and technical space {pictured)

After negotiating signage rights and requisite tax
concessions, the mstruction was completed by
the project management team overseeing the
design, construction and fit-out process

DTZ continues to advise BT on several projects
across india iIn Mumbai, Bangalore and New Delhi

Operating review




Local passion

Global team

DTZ currently advises and provides a vanety

of services to BT in 17 countnes across EMEA,
Asia Pacific and The Americas, with recent projects
in addition to India, completed in China, Hungary,
Netherlands, Singapore and Australia

DTZ 1s also providing a range of advisory and
brokerage services on BT's global technical
and data centre portfolio

Services prownided*
& Capital Markets
& Valuation
# Professional Services
8 Occupational & Development
g Consulting & Research
*Not all services are provided in zll locations

Delivering for BT around the world
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Professional Services

“The Middle East has seen exceptional
growth and our North Asian business
has also enjoyed tremendous success,
doubling the property on which it I1s
providing management services.”

Revenue growth

+83.2%

The professional services team has had an impressive year
not only in terms of revenue growth and new business but
also 1in the progress made in developing our global footpnnt
and creating strong foundations for future growth In financiat
terms we have seen an 83 2% year-on-year increase In
revenue to £87 4 million (2007 £47 7 million) with 29 3%
coming from organic growth and 53 9% from acquisittons

Property management for investors

Qur European business has been strengthened by the
acquisitton of Donaldsons, enhancing our teams in the UK,
Germany, Czech Republic and Poland, making us market
leaders in the provision of management services to over
270 shopping centres across 20 countnes in the region with
over 4 5 mllton sq m of retall space We are involved with
over 15 schemes in the UK alone that are over 50,000 sqm
each Major new instructions have included the 93,000 sq m
Telford Shopping Centre for Apolio/Hark

In other sectors, the growth of our investor teams
continued, winning instructions to manage Warsaw's largest
office park, the Marynarska Business Park on behalf of
Ghelamco, a portfolio from Credit Suisse across Poland,
and Valad’s 122,000 sg m City Point Distribution Park, and
an appointment to manage the APIA Regional Office Fund
of some £500 milkon across the UK for a joint venture
between Warner Estates and Morley

The Middle East has also seen exceptional growth with new
instructions, including the management of Discovery
Gardens, initially 59 towers with over 6,500 residential units
in Dubal and the landmark QIPCO Tower of 58,000m sq m
of offices in Qatar

Our North Asian business has also enjoyed tfremendous
success, doubling the property on which it 1s providing
management services to over 100 milhon sq m Therr
successes have included consultancy for Evergrande
Real Estate Group on some 34 projects across China,
the management of 1-square retail mall in Hong Kong,
the Tianpin team’s instruction for the Handan Xinyu
International’s mixed use scheme of 264,000 sq m and
the tallest building in central China, the Mingsheng
Banking Tower in Wuhan

Property management for occupsers

The corporate outsourcing trend provided further
instructions from DuPont for their 300 property portfotio
across 37 countnes in EMEA

Our services to public sector clients has grown through
the acquisition of Donaldsons, where instructions have
included estate management services to Manchester
Airport and an appointment by the Home Office to
manage 2,000 properties across the UK

In New Zealand we have secured instructions from the
Minustry of Education to manage their leased property
portiolio including offices, health centres and schools

Buillding consultancy / project management

Our project and bullding consulting teams have seen
growth particularly in India, Central & Eastern Europe,
China, Australia and the UK Notable instructions included
project advice in Melbourne for the Australia and New
Zealand Bank on their 83,500 sq m headquarters relocation
and for KBR for their Australian offices headquarters In
Narth Asia project services have included the Tianjun Zovy
office tower, shopping centre and hotel for Tianin Tangy
Helfeng Investment Company Limited and 251,000 sq m
of offices and specialist engineering test labs for
Continental Automotive System

In Singapore we have been awarded a 6,500 sq m project
for the relocation and renovation of offices for the Singapore
Land Authanty

Our approach to the provision of a consistent global
service by our 7,000 strong team working i partnership
with our clients 1s ensuring that we continue to build our
very strong global business group
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Consulting & Research

“For the second consecutive year, our
research team was voted No 1 by
EuroMoney as the teading European
and global real estate research house ”

Revenue growth

+35.8%

Our team of 400 consultants, researchers and economists
in EMEA have been able to secure long-term advisory
positions In some of the largest and most complex property
projects in the region, ranging from the world’s largest new
arport development, Dubar World Central, to Europe’s third
largest urban regeneration project in Prague, spreading
across 27 hectares with a total investment over €2 5 billion
This saw revenue Increase by 35 8% to £30 5 milon (2007
£22 4 million), with 0 7% from organic growth and 35 1%
from acquisitions (primarily Donaldsons), although the
growth figures are understated by around £1 4 million
because of the internal transfer of various teams during

the year to capital markets

Corporate consultancy

Our corporate real estate consulting group has worked

with major clients in the corporate and public sectors to
help aign the estate, its management and financing, with
business strategy The team has been particularly active in
Central & Eastern Europe where it has helped organisations
secure cost competitive sites and access major talent pools

Development and planning

Our development and planning capability, reinforced by

the acquisition of Donaldsons, now forms a 150-strong
team In the UK In the tast 12 months, the team has advised
on 15 2 million sq m of proposed development across

446 schemes with a combined gross development value

of £43 bilhon

We have also been reinfarcing our existing capabilities
in strong development markets such as Central Europe,
Russia and the Middle East New regional teams have
been established in Bahrain and Budapest
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Besides the aforementioned Dubai project, our internationat
arrport consulting team has secured key advisory roles in
seven arport projects across EMEA, from new greenfield
developments to awport city related property developments
These are in Budapest, Dublin, Doncaster, Edinburgh,
Liege and Tbhsi, with a combined real estate development
of £1 billion

We were inveolved In the retall consultancy for HortPark - a
harticulture park to be created by the Singapore National
Parks Board (NParks), whose aim I1s to promate gardening
and other related industries DTZ assisted NParks in
identifying the lecations and potential posiicning of the
retaill sites in these parks

We assisted a Saudi client with a site selection exercise in
China and adwvised on the feasibility of a growing number
of high profile tourism projects

DTZ was appointed by AR Capital Pte Ltd to conduct a
review of the industnal property market in South East Asia in
Singapore, Malaysia, Thalland and Vietnam while Lend Lease
Investment Management appointed DTZ to provide a report
assessing the residential markets in Singapore and Malaysia,
as well as the retail markets in Malaysia and Taipel

Economics and research

For the second consecutive year, our research team was voted
No 1 by EuroMoney as the ieading European and global real
estate research house and provides services to some of the
world’s leading banks and real estate developers and investors

Major research projects included an examination of
alternative asset classes across Europe, supporting the real
estate strategy of a major bank in Saud: Arabia, a report on
Islamic Finance and an examination of commercial property
markets in South Africa and Central & Eastern Europe
Sustainability continued as a key topic, with our specialists
presenting at conferences, publishing articles and adwvising
international clients Emerging asset classes were on the
agenda in the US, where the team produced a strategy

for the US student housing market

In China and india, demand for consultancy and research
projects continues to increase Indeed, consulting and
research 1s at the forefront of assisting clients in new areas
of property investment including property linked securnities
and property derivatives

The forecasting team 1n Asia Pacific are continuing to
offer a ligh quality service to clients who are looking

to take advantage of the growth in the region at this
time For example, K-Reit Asia appointed DTZ to provide
an independent property market review of the Asian

and Singapore economies and the Singapore office
property market

M D St

Mark Struckett
Group Chref Executive
9 July 2008




Local passion

Global team >>

In Bnsbane, Australia, DTZ advised Standard Life
Investments (SLI) on the off market acquisition
of 82 Eagle Street (pictured) for its Select
Property Fund

Alongside investments services, DTZ also provided
due diligence advice and has been appointed
leasing adviser for the property tco

This i1s the third Australian acquisition in the past
year that the team has delivered for the fund and
they continue to work with SLI to increase its

exposure to direct property assets in Asia Pacific
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Local passion

Global team

DTZ has worked with Standard Life Investments
(SLI} across the UK and Europe for several years
and has recently expanded its work with them
into Asia Pacific

Following the acquisition of Donaldsons, DTZ has
ncreased the provision of its retall services to SLI,
most notably retail asset management advice, and
It now manages five shopping centres across the
UK on their behalf

Alongside its ongoing valuation work in the UK
DTZ also provides valuation services across Europe
currently valuing two funds - the Standard Life
Main Fund and the Standard Life Select Property
Fund, focused on office and industnal properties
across Europe

Services provided*
i Capital Markets
& Valuation
r Professional Services
& Qccupational & Development
g Consulting & Research
*Not all services are provided in all locations

Delivering for Standard Life
Investments around the world
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Financial review

Calin Child, Group Finance Director

“Revenue has increased significantly
In the year, approximately £90.0m
of this is attributable to the effect
of acquisitions during the year and
the full year effect of acquisitions
that were completed in the
previous year.”

The 2007/08 financial year has been both exceptionally
busy, with the acquisition and integration of Donaldsons,
and challenging with the ‘credit crisis’ having a matenal
impact on our industry and therefore our business

In addition, it has also heen necessary to provide for

a number of exceptional charges, described below,
which have reduced the Group’s profit for the year

Results

It should be noted that acquisitions during the year and in
the previous year make compansons between the perods
difficult The 2008 results include a full year contribution
(2007 four months) of cur North Asia business which

was acquired in December 20068 The 2008 financial year
includes a ten month contribution from Donaldsons which
was acquired in July 2007 and a five month contribution
from DTZ Barnicke

Group Results

2008 2007
£m £m
Revenue 77 4463 3103
Profit before taxatonand
exceptional items 20.6 38¢0
wImmeceptlonal items
Donaldsons integration costs (2 5) -
Restructuring costs (0.8) -
Impairment of North American
investments (11.7) -
Gain on fixed asset investments - 3.8
Profit before tax 5.6 418
Basic (loss)/earnings per share (7.65)p 4938p
Earmings per share adjusted to
exclude exceptional items 1756p 44 35p
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Group Revenue by geography and skill

2008 2007

Asia The Asia The
EMEA Pacific Amencas Total EMEA Pacific  Amencas Total
£m £m £m £m £m £m fm £m
Capital Markets 789 256 62 110.7 786 85 75 94.6
Valuztion 630 180 - 81.0 509 73 - 58 2
Occupier & Development markets 96 3 305 10.0 136.8 730 14 4 - 87 4
Professional Services 736 138 - 874 411 66 - a7 7
Consulting & Research 24.8 5.6 - 304 198 26 = 29 4
T 336 6 935 162 4463 263 4 394 75 3103

Revenue

Revenue has increased significantly in the year, approximately
£80 0 milkon of this i1s attnbutable to the effect of acquisitions
duning the year and the full year effect of acquisitions that
were completed in the previous year An analysis of revenue
by geography and by skill 1s set cut above

Revenue generated within our capital markets business

1s matenally below our onginai expectations for the year,
having been impacted by the credit crisis However, the
geographical spread of our business together with greater
depth in our non-transactional operations has given us
greater stability and enabled us to report good revenue
growth in such areas

Group costs

2008 2007

Total costs

Costs before before

acquisitions and exceptional

exceptional tems Acquisitions tems
£m £m £m £m
Staff costs 244.8 554 300.2 1952
Other costs 98.8 238 122.6 798
Depreciation 50 21 7.1 31
348 6 81.3 429.9 2781

Costs before exceptional items have increased by £151 8
millicn to £429 9 million of which £81 3 million I1s attributable
to the effect of acquisitions as summarised above

The Group's largest cost remains staff which, allowing for
the effect of acquisiions on both cost and revenue, was
68 7% of revenue compared with 62 9% in the previous
year This increase reflects the full year effect of new staff
recruited during 2006/07 and also the more difficult market
As the Group's mest significant cost, we moritor the
relationship between staff costs and revenue very closely
Approximately 30% of total staff costs 1s represented by
bonuses and commissions
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Other costs before exceptional items and the effect of
acquisitions increased by 24% to £98 8 millon As a
proportion of revenue, other costs were 27 5% n the
year compared with 25 7% In the previous year

Excephonal iterms

During the year, a number of exceptional items have been
recognised and charged to the profit and loss account To
enable a clearer understanding of the Group's underlying
performance and to assist comparability between periods,
the exceptional items have been separately shown in the
profit and loss account The reasons for these exceptional
items are summansed below

1 As a consequence of the acquisition of Donaldsons in
July 2007, the Group has incurred integration costs of
£2 5 million largely relating to staff costs, rebranding,
marketing, relocation and the co-ordination of systems

2 Restructuring costs of £0 8 million have been incurred
during the year in respect of adjusting staff numbers in those
parts of the business most affected by the credit cnsis

3 The Group has carried out an imparrment review of its
North Amerncan investments as a result of the
detenioration of the trading conditions 1n this market
This review requires a companson of the discounted
future cash flows of the business with its camying value
The conclusion of this review has resulted in an
impairment of £9 5 million against the carrying value of
DTZ Rockwood in addition, as a result of not exercising
an option to acquire FHO Partners, we have wntten off
the £2 2 million cost of this option

The 2006/07 exceptional item arose on the realisation of
the Group's interest in Curzon Capital Partners

It should be noted that the exceptional item relating to the
imparment review and £0 5 million of the integration costs
do not have a cash flow impact

The exceptional items also have an impact on the Group's
tax charge for the year which 1s referred to below

Associates

The Group’s share of the profits of our associates marginally
increased to £6 7 million (2007 £6 5 milhion) Qur business
in The Netherlands performed particularly well




Profit before tax and exceptional items

EMEA
UK & fex UK & Total Asia The Corporate
reland treland) EMEA Pacific Amercas overheads Total
£m £m £m £m £m Em Em
2008 147 14 2 289 30 52 61) 206
2007 312 136 44 8 11 37 {4 2) 380
(Decrease) / increase % (52 9) 44 {35 5) 1727 405 45 2 (45 8)

The decrease in financial results and the impact of acquisitions
has been commented on in detall in the Group Chief
Executive’s review and above The strong performance in Asia
Pacific, although affected by the full year impact of acquisitions,
has been achieved notwithstanding the costs associated with
the organic investment in new offices and staff in this region

Earnings before mterest, tax, depreciation and
amortisation (‘EBITDA’)

EBITDA has fallen by 67% to £15 2 mullion {2007 €456
milion) EBITDA adjusted to exclude the effect of exceptional
items fell by 28% to £30 2 million (2007 £41 8 million)

Taxation

The Group's effective tax rate on profits before exceptional
items has increased to 33% (2007 31%) reflecting the nux
in profits and tax regimes in the countnes the Group
operates in Unfortunately, as only a small proportion of
the exceptronal items qualify for tax relief, the overall tax
charge on profits after exceptional itemns 1s therefore
disproportionately high

Earnings per share and dividends

Earnings per share before exceptional items has decreased
to 17 56p from 44 35 p in 2006/07 Basic earnings per share
after exceptional items has fallen to a loss per share of

(7 65)p (2007 49 38p) as a consequence of the size of the
exceptional items and their associated lack of tax relief

As a result of the decline in underlying trading results, your
Board 1s recommending a final dividend of 3 Op per share
(2007 8p), a reduction of 62% With the intenm dividend
of 3 5p, the total dividend for the year 15 6 5p (2007 11 5p)
The Board expects the dividends for 2008/09 to reflect our
usual 30 70 spht between the intenm and final dividend
On this basts, the 2007/08 dividends rebased for the 30 70
split would have been an interm dividend of 2 Op and a
final dividend of 4 5p

Acquisitions

The most matenal acquisition duning the penied was

the business and assets of Donaldsons LLP which was
completed on 10 July 2007 lnihial consideration comprised
£20 1 milion in cash and £18 5 millton satisfied by the 1ssue
of loan notes, of which £9 2 milion has been converted
into 1,685,110 DTZ shares Deferred consideration of

£7 3 milion 1n cash s payable

Pensions

At 30 Apnl 2008, a deficit (net of tax) of £0 8 million was
held on the balance sheet {2007 £1 2 million) The deficit
has reduced as a result of an increase in investment values
and a reduction in future obligatrons due to changes in
bond yields The next tnenmal valuation as at 30 April 2008
1$ underway and resuits should be available in the final
quarter of 2008

Balance sheet

At 30 Apni 2008 the Group’s net assets were £117 6 milhon
(2007 £112 1 milbon) In addition to the effect of the
financial results for the year, the increase in net assets
reflects the 1ssue of shares to fund acquisitions and

1ssued to participants in the Group’s share option plans
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Cash flow and borrowings
2008 Revenue by skilf (Em) Net debt at 30 Aprl 2008 was £33 7 mitlion (2007 net cash
£24 0 mulion), comprised as follows

2008 2007

£m £m

Bank and cash balances 42.8 49 8
Loans {76.5) {25 8}
Net (debt) / cash (33 7) 240

The movement In net funds of £57 7 million reflects inter alta
the cash and deferred consideration elements of acquisition
costs of £42 3 million, other investments of £6 5 million,
dividends paid of £9 9 million and cash generated from
2007 Revenue by skill (Em) operating activittes of £14 2 mullion

The Group's bank borrowings are available under a number
of bi-lateral acquisition facility agreements denominated in
the currency of the country in which the acquisitions have
been made These agreements require the maintenance

of mimimum ratios of (} earnings before interest, tax,
depreciation and amortisation to debt and (i) cash flow to
financing costs These ratios are tested every six months

At 30 Apnl 2008, the Group had an uncommitted overdraft
faciity of £10 milion which was available for general purposes
Since the year end date this overdraft facility has been
replaced with a £15 million committed revolving credit facility

Treasury management

The Group has formal financial isk management policies

In place designed to minimise financial nsks for the Group
These pelicies and nisks are reviewed annually and
appropnate delegated authonties put in place All material
financing transactions are subject to approval by the Board
The treasury function 1s net a profit centre and the Group
does not undertake speculative transactions

The key financial nsks impacting the Group are

* Foreign currency risk The Group reports its results
in sterling but has a number of overseas businesses
operating in foreign currencies The Group does not,
at this stage of its development, consider it necessary
to hedge the foreign exchange risks arising from the
translation of overseas trading results into sterling
However, the Board does seek to hedge against the
translation of foreign currency denominated assets
and habiities by arranging acquisition finance in the
same currency At 30 April 2008, the Group had bank
loans deneminated in foreign currencies of £32 5 mullion
in order te hedge against specific Investments

* |nterest rate nsk The Group’s current policy 1s that
interest rate exposure to floating rates should not exceed
50% The Group has interest rate swaps to manage its
exposure to interest rate fluctuations

¢ Liquichty nsk The Group seeks to maintain sufficient
iquidity to meet its long-term strategic objectives The
Group’s requirements are reviewed regularly as part of
the budget and business plan process
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Risk and uncertainties

The Group's sk management process is an integral part
of the business plan and nsks are regularly reviewed and
assessed This process Is managed by the Group Risk
Management Committee, which 1s chaired by the Group
Chief Executive, and supported by KPMG LLP, our internal
auditors The commuttee’s remit includes all appropnate
aspects of nsk including financial systems and controls The
Group’s aim 1s to ensure we have approprate systems and
controls In place to enable the Group to develop and grow
while managmg the associated risks

It s of course not possible to mitigate completely the nsks
the Group faces, especially in a rapidly changing economic
climate, however the principal nsks are

Changing market conditions

The international property market 1s cyclical and will be
impacted by changes in economic activity, interest rates
and the availability of finance The Group’s geographic
spread and range of services provided helps mitigate,
but cannot ehminate, this nsk

Reputational and brand risk

In a professional services business there is always a risk
that professional opinions given in gooed faith can in some
circumstances lead to claims against the business and
assoclated adverse publicity These nsks may increase

in detenorating markets

With increasing recognition of DTZ as a global brand and
with an excellent reputation, we understand the importance
of maintaining high standards and reputation Accordingly,
procedures are in place which seek to minimise the nsk of
clams aganst the business

Recruitment and retention of staff

The Group’s employees are crucial te the success and
future development of the Group |t 1s therefore essential
that we reward and manage the development of cur
employees to ensure their retention and continued
contnbution to our business

bl £

Coln Child
Group Finance Director
9 July 2008

“The Group’s risk management
process is an integral part
of the business plan and
risks are regularly reviewed
and assessed.”
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Qur people

Sade Cole, DTZ Survayor, takes advantage of Flex's retall voucher scheme

“DTZ aims to ensure that learning
& development opportunities are
in place to equip all employees
with the skill, knowledge,
experience and behaviour
necessary {0 maximise their
current performance and career
potential.”
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Global pecple policies

DTZ has grown significantly over the last 18 months both
organically and through a number of acquisitions alongside
taking full ownership of its North Asia business

Following this growth, DTZ 1s atming to put in place a
number of global people policies which are applicable to all
empioyees regardless of which country they work in These
global policies will connect with the local pelicies of each
DTZ business, taking into account local legislation as well
as a global DTZ culture Examples of policies which will be
implemented globally, in the next 12 months, are DTZ’s
Diversity & Inclusion and Global Mobility programmes

Merger & acquisition (‘M&A) integration

Overseeing the integration of the Donaldsons business

has been a major focus of the past year, which saw an
additional 900 people predominantly in the UK but also
from across continental Europe join the Group Emphasis
has been placed on extending the DTZ culture and
processes such as performance management and induction
programimes, whilst ensunng we gather best practice and
innovations from Denaldsons to give us competitive
advantage in the market

With other acquisitions such as Barmicke, 1t 1s paramount
to ensure Importance Is placed on valuing our different
cultures and different ways of approaching 1ssues, whilst
still retaining the core DTZ culture glebally This approach 1s
adopted with all acquisitions no matter how large or small,
as well as where we increase our shareholding in affiliate
and associate organisations, as appropriate

Learning & development

DTZ aims to ensure that learning & development
opportunities are in place to equip all employees with the
skill, knowledge, experience and behaviour necessary to
maximise their current performance and career potential
Learning initiatives for 2007/08 included

induction workshop The workshop, ‘Welcome to DTZ’,
which aims to enable new joiners to deliver a return on
investment as quickly as possible, continued its successful
global rollout during the year The programme has been
embedded in EMEA, and launched across Asia Pacific

and The Americas

Performance Management A comprehensive review of
DTZ's approach to the business crtical area of indwidual
performance reviews was undertaken dunng the year
Outcomes have included a simplified global objective
framework with closer alignment to Business Plans, and
a senes of warkshops to equip managers with the skills
to support implementation




Graduate development This year a record number of
graduates joined DTZ For example there are currently

37 graduates in The Netherlands and 27 in our Indian
business, while 129 graduates were recruited from UK
universities with 114 joining domestic offices and 15
employed abroad in China, Germany, France, Hungary and
Poland The key focus In the next 12 months will be fast
track development for graduates in order that they
contnibute to our clients’ needs

Foundation4Success The talent development workshop that
focuses on career planning for newly qualfied surveyors and
consultants, 1s now i its third year The programme has
supported DTZ's retention figures, increasing the number of
graduates one year post-qualification choosing to continue
their career at DTZ to 82% of workshop attendees

Building4Success A third cohort of high-potential

Directors successfully completed DTZ's leadership
programme The programme contains two parallel themes
to focus participants on individual and organisational
learnng This year, almost 50% of participants were non-UK
based, emphasising DTZ’s commitment to supporting its
global growth

Flexible benefits

DTZ recognises that people'’s personal circumstances
constantly change and with these changes come different
requirements and needs from remuneration packages

With this in mind DTZ has a flexible benefits package in the
UK which can be tallored and adapted as necessary

In the last 12 months 73% of people in the UK took the
opportunity to review their package (2007 70%) DTZ
beheves this level of choice, whereby employees can opt
to flex benefits as vaned as holiday allowance, dental
nsurance or retail vouchers 1s ptoneenng in the industry

New for 2008 DTZ 1s also introducing an environmentally
friendly benefit allowing employees to carbon offset within
their flexible benefits package

DTZ continues to review its flexible benefits and 1s now
evaluating the benefits of introducing this to other countrnies
in the DTZ network to give 1t a further competitive
advantage Iin attracting and retaining the best people

Diversity & inclusion

At DTZ 1t1s recogrised that a diverse and cohesive
environment s essential for the success of our business
through building relationships with our people, clients and
suppliers While the vast majonity of our people are recruted
locally, we consider increasing staff global mobility essental
to promoting cultural awareness and building our global
capability To ensure global consistency and integnty a global
dwersity policy 1s being implemented across the DTZ network

The ‘Diversity Action Group’ focuses on improving flexible
working opportunities, and educating DTZ people on
diversity related topics In the coming year the Diversity

Action Group will be working closely with the global
resourcing team to ensure we have a diverse candidate
selection process in place, with preferred recruitment
suppliers sharing the diversity vision with DTZ

For DTZ, diversity 1s about achieving business excellence
through valuing individual differences, and embracing the
advantages that these bring Our business in Sweden for
example was named No 1 1n the ‘Best Camaraderne’
category by ‘Great Places to Work in Sweden’, and its
Managing Director, Agneta Jacobsson, was awarded the
title, Real Estate Woman of the Year

Our people

This year DTZ was selected by ‘London First’ to participate
In a diversity practice review of major firms in London The
resulting report will offer gurdance to firms wishing to move
their own diversity agenda forward

Global mabihty

DTZ 15 committed to growing its global presence and
recognises the key role our employees play in the
Company's success Globalisation brings an ncreased
requirement for cross-border working, cross-selling of
services and the sharing of knowledge, skills and best
practice It also maximises development opportunities
for our people by providing exposure to varying work
assignments, working environments and cultures The
methads we employ for global resourcing include
mternational assignments, permanent transfers and the
Graduate Global Exchange Programme

During the last year over 100 people at any one time were
either working in a host country on a local contract or
working on a formal International Asstgnment in a country
which was not therr place of residence Of these, 41 were
new cross-border moves, within 17 countries

Particular areas of growth over the past 12 months have
been the Middle East, Asia and Eastern Europe with a
corresponding Increase in mobility to these regions A trend
we are witnessing s iIncreased demand for permanent
transfers rather than the traditionat international Assignment

We are currently in the intial stages of formulating a defined
best-practice global mobility policy for all countries This will
standardise the internal process ensuring the smooth
relocation of employees, and enable us to meet the global
resourcing demands of the next few years

Succession planning

Luning 2007/08, DTZ reviewed and enhanced its succession
management process and created succession plans for key
leadership roles within Group functions and across its three
geographtc regions

DTZ 1s currently reviewing the development needs of its key
talent in order to fast track their careers This process will
be rolled out during 2008/09 and greater focus will be
placed on developing our young leaders of the future
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Corporate responsibility

In our approach to business we aim to

* Deliver the highest standards of business conduct
* Be renowned for client service excellence

* Excel in the way we treat our pecple/suppliers/clients
* Build good relationships with our communities

* Be exemplary in our environmental performance

Highlights for 2007/08

* ‘CR at DTZ' handbook 1ssued to all staff
* Appointment of new Head of Sustainability

* Video conference facilittes set up in 33 offices
across 16 countries, reducing arr travel

* People Communications Forum established
for the UK Busmess

* H&S management systems for Donaldsons
and DTZ combined

¢ [SO 14001 certification extended to all new
UK offices
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It matters how we do business...

At DTZ, Corporate Responsibiity ('CR’) 1s embedded in
our core approach to how we work and interact with all
our stakeholders = 1t really does matter to us how we
do business

As a major real estate adviser, our influence on how CR

ts handled and the importance attributed to it extends far
beyand our own aperations to the global network of clients,
giving us the opportunity to make a significant difference

DTZ 1s listed in the FTSE4Good index series, the responsible
investment index that 1s designed to facilitate Investment
In companies that meet globally recognised corporate
responsibility standards Specific Board responsibility

for CR at DTZ is led by Robert Peto, Executive Director
and Chairman of DTZ UK & treland, whilst the Board as

a whole ensures Company compliance with the Group's
pohcies including CR, environment, heaith & safety and a
range of people policies A CR steenng group, compnsing
senor executives from client-facing and operational roles,
meets quarterly and reports to the Board Its mandate I1s
to monitor, advise and assist with the execution of relevant
policies and to provide co-ordination across the Group

Each DTZ country operation takes responsibility for setting
its own priontes and developing appropriate implementation
plans in accordance with its local environment and the
overarching Group policy Over the past 12 months we
have formalised a network of CR representatives in each

of our operations to aid the roll out of Group-wide CR
programmes and facilitate best practice

Our marketplace

We recognise as an orgarusation that the area where
we can have the biggest impact in terms of CR 15 1n the
advice we provide to clients and the influence we have
with our suppliers

We are committed to developing and leading these
refationships wherever possible, using our expertise to

create a more Inteligent and efficient way of working
together To aid our capability we have formed a partnership
with *forum for the future’, the sustainable development
chartty, which works in partnership with leading orgarisations
to promote working towards a more sustainable future The
partnership helps to embed more sustainable practices
within the Company, reinforce our sustainability credentials
and underpin the services we offer to ¢lients

In the area of sustainability DTZ has built up a strong
reputation over recent years as a dedicated provider of
high level sustainable services and we see sustainability
as a key business growth area We have recently made
the senior appointment of Peter Langley as Head of
Sustamnability He will drive this area of the business
forward and continue to grow and innovate our service
offering to help clients meet and exceed therr own
sustainability objective




Our suite of sustainability services, delivered by in-house
specialists from across our busmess, spans both occupier
and investor clients and includes the developrment of
sustainabihty standards and procedures, sustainability
audits, benchmarking and portfolio risk analysis,
socio-econormic impact assessments, research,

and advice on ethica! funds and investment

Recent projects by our leading research team include an
analysis of the progress of the mplementation of the
Energy Performance of Buildings Directive across Europe,
as well as research Into sustanable investment strategies
DTZ has also presented on the subject at several major
conferences, including Sustainable Bullding 2007 {London),
ICSC Annual Conference (Warsaw) and the Nordic Property
Congress (Stockholm)

DTZ also uses its influential position in the supply chain

to promote sustainability In 2007, property management
contractors appainted via Buying Force {our appointed
procurement management firm and joint venture partner)
were asked to complete a sustainability questionnaire with
regard to assessing thewr own sustainability performance

Our marketplace targets for 2008/09

* Introduce sustainable facilitres management
services for occupiers

¢ Supplier perfermance and progress will be
monitored throughout the year and DTZ will
aim to extend its environmental requirements
to suppliers not appointed wia Buying Force

Our workplace

DTZ has over 12,500 peeple operating from 150 cities

In 45 countries We aspire to be recogrised as the best
employer in our industry, and cver the last 12 months we
have implemented a senes of new mnitiatives and continued
to develop our people policies to drive this vision Details

of some of our leading edge people policies and progress
to date are described further on pages 28 and 29 and below

People’s Communication Forum

Following the establishment of the ‘comité d’entreprise’
in France in 06/07, DTZ has introduced a People
Communications Forum (PCF) for its UK based staff
this year Employees from acrass the UK volunteered
for election by colleagues to become employee
representatives There are currently 43 representatives,
covering the four UK regtons and each representative 1s
required to attend a mimimum of three forums per year

The forums are used to communicate on a wide range
of business and people related matters, or where there
IS a statutory duty to inform and/or consult

Alongside establishing the PCF, DTZ also this year
undertook a UK staff survey to find out how our people
felt the integration of the Donaldsons business was
progressing, what was working and what still needed
improvement The information was fed back to staff along
with a plan of how any matenal cutstanding issues would
be resolved over the coming months

125 Old Broad Street

In March 2008 we announced that we had signed an
agreement for a new UK and global headquarters at 125
Old Broad Street in the City of London As well as offering
world class facilities for clients and staff, the fit out of the
building 1s being carefully considered to make sure iti1s
aligned with the green credentials of the Company

The space has also been designed to provide a flexible
and open plan warking environment, coinciding with
the completion of our UK all staff laptop roll out, which
dehvers the flexibihty for our people to work In the way
which best suits therr individual needs

The overall reorganisation of our London estate will
increase the total workspace for staff as well as offer
enhanced facilities and increased opportunities for
inter-team communications

DTZ Net

DTZ Net 1s an internal conference which takes place

twice a year within EMEA, annually in Asia Pacific and

we recently intrcduced a smailler sub regional Net for CEE
The programme has been running for 12 years and over
500 staff from more than 40 countries have taken part and
benefited The purpose of DTZ Net Is to create an employee
network, generally at Associate Director level and above,
to encourage cross-border business between delegates
and provide market updates It also allows senior people to
give feedback to business leaders and enhances cultural
understanding, whilst giving a better knowledge of

DTZ's giohal capabilities and the plans for the business

Internal communications

We realise the importance of keeping our people informed
and invelved in the business and its activities To this end
we have introduced a senes of initiatives duning the year to
improve the manner and frequency of communication

to staff, taking a more proactive personnel approach

to communicating the Company’s news
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Qur workplace targets for 2008/09

* Continue to focus on developing our internal
communications taking a more global approach
wherever possible

Review the effectiveness of setting up a Directors’
briefing on a quarterly basis from regional
management teams

* Hold more ‘listening’ groups to gain feedback,
particularly from those who are on international
assignments across the DTZ network

Health & Safety (‘H&S’)

As a people business DTZ fully understands that its
workforce 1s its greatest asset We are therefore
committed to improving the safety and well-being of
all those who work with us and to reducing accidents

For the reporting period 2007/08, we have agan mantained
our accident rates well below the Health and Safety
Executive (HSE) averages for our industry sector for UK
based employees

DTZ was not subjected to any prosecutions, prohibition or
improvement notices, served by the HSE, Fire Authorities
or local Environmental Health Departments, during 2007/08

Following the acquisition of the Donaldsons business

in July 2007 we set about combining the two H&S
management systems in order to maintain the high
standards that existed in both companies Over the
course of the year this has been successfully achieved
and a common system, including enhanced policies and
procedures now exists

Dunng the year we made encouraging progress on
the majonty of the targets we set ourselves last year
These include

* Global H&S - an annual H&S declaration was 1ssued
to all cur global operations Each country will adopt
and endorse the DTZ global H&S policy

e Working at Heights - recogrusing that working at height
15 a significant risk for the property sector, we revised
and re-1issued our related procedures This included the
appointment of a specialist consultant to undertake
audits of our managed properties and the introduction
of a specific training programme for employees involved,
In or managing, work at height

OHSAS 18007 — Our acquisition of the Donaldsons
business dunng the year defayed our move towards OHSAS
18001 {an assessment specification for Occupational Health
and Safety Management Systems), but a programme to
achieve this will commence in 2008/09
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Our Health & Safety targets for 2008/09

+ Gain certification to OHSAS 18001 standard for
the UK business and commence global roll out

Develop a common H&S framework for all of our
global operations, enabling us to reduce the
number of accidents at work and be able to deliver
consistent H&S advice and support for our clients
Initiatives to achieve this include

* A global H&S intranet, to enable policies and
procedures to be shared, alongside individual
country sites to ensure complance with local
legal requirements,

+ Onhne basic training modules, to ensure that
all employees are competently trained to a
consistent level,

* An ndependent auditing programme of our own
offices and managed sites agamnst our H&S
standards to monitor compliance

Qur community

As a people business we have the potential to make an
enormous impact on our surrounding environment and
communities, and H 1S our responsibility to ensure that
those impacts are positive it 1s impartant to us to make

a difference and we are fortunate that through our operations
there are clear opportunities for us to make our mark

We are working in partnership with a number of community
organisations and charnties to invest emplayee time,
expertise and financial donations These include,

Forum for the Future and Business in the Community

All DTZ’s global offices are committed to embracing

therr local communities, with each country responsible for
managing its own charitable and community activites In
the UK, DTZ's past support of Wellchild and the Meningitis
Trust raised funds of over £350,000 through a combination
of corperate donations and employee fundraising

One area which has been a major focus of our community
support has been homelessness A number of our people
work as Job coaches, helping the homeless find and sustain
employment and DTZ has been involved with Business in
the Community’s ‘Business Action on Homelessness'
{BAOH) programme since 2006,

Our support for homelessness includes The Americas and in
New York, DTZ Rockwood makes an annual donation to The
Bowery Mission, one of New York's most effective programmes
for breakeng cycles of homelessness and addiction




Our community targets for 2008/09
* Appointment of a new corporate charnty partner

¢ Propose to implement an employee
volunteenng policy

* Review community involvement In key countries
across the DTZ network

Our environment

Delivering environmental best practice for ourselves and
our clients I1s central to the way we operate as a socially
responsible business As we adwise clients on
environmental Improvement programmes, understanding
our own environmental impacts 1s essential and we are
committed to making all reasonable efforts to reduce these
wherever possible

Following the acquisition of the Donaldsons business our
ISO 14001 certified Environmental Management System
has been extended to cover all UK offices We also continue
to work towards our broad environmental policy goals

of continual iImprovement and poliution prevention

An update on our efforts to-date I1s provided below

Waste

In 2007, waste recycling schemes were implemented at

ning of our major UK offices We prowided the resources,
information and feedback to encourage staff to recycle
wherever possible We disposed of an estimated 454 tonnes
from our larger offices (occupled by over 50 people) and
29% of this waste (160 tonnes of paper, card and glass)
was recycled In 2008, we will continue with efforts to
reduce the amount of waste sent to landfill, bulding on
earlier intiatives in continental Europe

Energy consumption

In 2007 we continued to improve data collection and
reduce energy consumption in our offices To help improve
the availlability of accurate data we are investigating the
nstallation of ‘smart meters’, during 2008 which provide
live and accurate up-to-the-minute energy data This will
allow us to analyse energy consumption automatically

We have also replaced all old laptops and desktop
computers in the UK The new laptop models are energy
efficient, have reduced power consumption and allow for
flexible working, saving travel costs and associated carbon
emissions We believe that the introduction of new laptops
will save 146,850 kWh of etectnaity per year, equivalent to
631 tonnes of carbon To ensure long-term carbon neutrality
the supplier agreed to plant over 2,000 trees, one for every
new laptop supplied

In 2007 we also reduced our UK gas consumption per sgm
by 27% from the previous year, to 193kWh/m?

Reducing our environmental impact from travel

DTZ has substantially strengthened its global video
conferencing capabiiity, which reduces the need for staff
to travel As well as saving on costs and expenses, this
also helps reduce DTZ’s carbon footprint In 2007 video
conference facilities were made available to 33 offices
across 16 countries

Corporate responsibility

The difficulties in quantifying travel impact in a company
the size of DTZ are significant, but we aim to capture all car,
rail and plane travel for UK based staff starting from 2009
In the interim, we have intiated a three month sample
survey which requires 10% of our UK workforce to record
business travel Survey results will help us to form a
baseline assessment and establish improvement objectives

Delivering for clients

DTZ continues to adwvise clients in the development of
Environmental Management Systems in the property
sector Our services extend 1o over 50 sites, incorporating
fund portfolies and carporate head offices The value

of our service Is recognised by chents through reducing
operational risk and identifying improvement programmes
to enhance efficiency and reduce overheads

There has been an increasing interest in our ‘sustainability
audits’ as part of a traditional property transaction due
dihgence process The audit 1s practice focused - outiining
on-the-ground risks which remote environmental due
diigence assessments might not identify — and can be
inherited through a property purchase

Lastly, Energy Performance Certificates (‘EPC’) are an
increasingly topical 1ssue for which clients are turning
to DTZ for advice DTZ provides guidance on the
apphcabhility of the legislation and has project managed
in excess of 200 EPC surveys to meet client needs

Qur environment targets for 2008/09

* Swedish offices to abtain ISO 14001 certification
by the end of 2008

« Continue to roll out further video conferencing
globally and work to reduce significantly our carbon
footprint in this way

¢ Our move to a new London global headquarters in
2008 has provided us with an excellent opportunity to
maximise environmental performance The office will
be designed to minimise waste and maximise energy
efficiency during occupation Fit out 1s now underway
and we have established plans to ensure a carbon
neutral fit out and minimise waste to landfill
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1 T D Melville-Ross CBE FCIS FCIB
Group Charman

Non-Executive (Age 63)

Tim Melville-Ross has been Chairman of
the Group since September 2000, having
previously been appomted a Non-Executive
Director of the Company on 17 January
2000 He s the Chairman of the Group's
Nomination Comrmittee He was formerly
Director General of The Institute of Directors
and, before that, the Chief Executive of
Nationwide Building Society He s Charr

to the Board of The Higher Education
Funding Counctil for England, Chairman of
Manganese Bronze Holdings plc, The Royal
London Mutual Insurance Society Limited
and until 2 July 2008 was Chairman of
Bowvis Homes Group plc

2 M D Struckett MA MBA FRICS

Group Chief Executive (Age 50}

Mark Struckett has been Group Chief
Executive since 1995 He joined Debenham
Tewson & Chinnocks In 1979 He s a
member of the Group's Nomination
Committee He was formerly a Director

of the Surveyors Mutual Insurance
Association Limited and a Non-Executive
Director of Tenon Group plc

3 C C Child FCA

Group Finance Director (Age 50)

Calin Child 1s a chartered accountant

and was appointed to the Board as Group
Finance Director on 4 Qctober 2007

Pnor to joiming DTZ, he was Group Finance
Director of Stanley Leisure plc and before
that he was Group Finance Chrector at
Fitness First plc and National Express
Group plc

4 R HH Peto MA FRICS

Chairman UK & lreland {Age 57)

Robert Pelo joined the Group in 1971

and has been Chairman of DTZ {UK) since
September 1999 He s also Chairman of
DTZ Investment Management Ltd From
1999 to 2003 he was Charman of the RICS
Valuation Standards Board, and 15 currently
Chairman of the RICS Internatianal
Valuation Board He s a member of the
Governing Council of the RICS and has
recently been elected as a Vice President
of the RICS He s also a member of the
General Advisory Council of the British
Property Federation

5 D M Gray CA

Chairman EMEA Capital Markets (Age 56}
Dawd Gray 1s a chartered accountant He
Jjomned the Group on 1 May 2000 as Chairman
of DTZ Consulting & Research He is currently
co-chainng DTZ's EMEA Capital Markets
business He s also a Board member of
Scottish Water and a Non-Executive Director
of Romag Holdings plc

6 K B C’Higgins ASCS MRICS MIAVI
Managing Director EMEA {Age 47)

Killan O'Higgins joined the Group on

15 October 2001 He was appointed to

the Board on 9 July 2003 He has been
Managing Director for Europe, Middle East &
Africa ncluding UK since 1 May 2005 and,
prior to that, European Managing Director of
DTZ International where he was respenstble
for DTZ's European operational activity Prior
to joining the Group, Killian was Managing
Director of DTZ Sherry FitzGerald, our
associate business in lreland

7 Leung Chun Ying (CY Leung) FHKIS
Chairman Asia Pacific {(Age 53)

Leung Chun Ying (CY Leung) has been
involved with the Group since 1893, 1n 1999
the Group bought a minonty interest in his
business and affirmed the relationship in
2006 acquinng the rematning 70% of the
equity He was appointed to the Board on
14 December 2006 He has been Chairman
of DTZ Asia Pacific since February 2007
and pnor to that was Charman of OTZ
Debenham Tie Leung in North Asia CY1s
past Chairman of the Royal Institution of
Chartered Surveyors in Hong Kong and
past President of the Institute of Surveyors
in Hong Kong He is also a Trustee,
Executive Committee Member and
Chairman of Asta for the Urban Land
Institute of the United States Since 1897,
CY has been a member of the Executive
Council of Hong Kong and s currently

the Convenor Since 2003 he has been

a member of the National Standing
Commuttee of the Chinese People's
Political Consultative Conference

8 P J Stone Solicitor

Independent Non-Executive (Age 62)

Peter Stone was appointed a
Non-Executive Birector of the company

©n 26 April 2001 He was previously Deputy
Chasrman of merchant bank Close Brothers,
where he worked for 23 years until 1998
He 15 currently Non-Executive Chairman

of WRAP (Waste & Resources Action
Programme), a Government delivery

body set up and funded by DEFRA, and

a Non-Executive Director of Opus Trust
Group Limited He 1s Chairman of the
Remuneration Committee and a member
of the Audit and Nomination Committees

9 L Cullen BSc (Hons) FCCA FCT MBA
Independent Non-Executive (Age 56)

Les Cullen was appointed a Non-Executive
Director an 11 September 2003 He was
previously Group Finance Director of STC plg,
De La Rue ple, Incheape ple and Prudential
plc, which he left in 2000 Since then he has
been Chairman of a number of pnvate equity
backed compamies and he 1s currently a
Non-Executive Director and Chatrman of the
Audit Committees of Avis Europe plc, BT
Pension Scheme Trustees Ltd, F & C Global
Smaller Companies PL.C, and Interserve plc
He 18 a Trustee of the chanty Sustrans He s
Charrman of the Group’s Audit Commitiee
and a mernber of ts Remuneration and
Nomination Commitiees

10 D Detter

Independent Non-Executive (Age 48)

Dag Detter was appomnted as a
Non-Executive Director on 8 March 2004
A former banker in both China and
Europe, Bag has served on a number

of Boards of beth pubhe and unhsted
companies in vanous sectors mncluding
telecommunications, defence and
transport He was previously President of
Stattum, Sweden's state-owned enterprises
{SOEs) holding company and a Director at
the Swedish Ministry of Industry where he
led the deep-rooted transformation of the
Government’s €60bn corporate portfoho
A recogmised expert in the field, he was
one of the key imtiators and architects

of the OECD's Guidehnes on Corporate
Governance of SOE’s Dag ts currently

a Serior Advisor at Terra Firma and a
member of DTZ’s Audit, Remuneration
and Nomination Committees

11 A Lesmak BSc {(Hons) ARCS FCA
Independent Non-Executive (Age 56)
Alicja Lesniak has served as a
Non-Executive Director for DTZ Holdings
plc since March 2004 She has over 30
years expenence of the financial and
operational management of fast growing
service businesses in disciplines such as
management consultancy, engineenng
and, most recently, marketing services
She s currently CFO of Aegis Group pic
Previously she served as a Board member
tor BBDO Werldwide Inc and prior to that
she was Chief Financial Officer worldwide
of Ogilvy & Mather and Managing Director
of J Walter Thompson UK She currently
holds another Non-Executive Director post
with the specralist staffing business SThree,
appomted in 2006 She s a member of
DTZ’s Audit, Remuneration and Nomination
Committees Alicja s a fellow of the
Institute of Chartered Accountants in
England and Wales
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Directors’ Report: Corporate Governance: Other statutory information

Other statutory information
The Directors present therr twenty first Annual Report and the audited financial statements for the year ended 30 April 2008

Prnincipal activities
DTZ Heldings plc continues to be the holding Company of a group of companies acting as national and international property advisers
and consultants worldwide, offering comprehensive integrated property advice and econom:c consultancy services to chents

Review of business and future prospects
Revenue
Revenue, derived from the above activities, increased from £310 3 million to £446 3 milllon during the year ended 30 April 2008

Group results
The Directors report a profit before taxation and exceptional tems of £20 6 million compared with £38 0 million for the previous
year, along with a loss after taxation and exceptional items of £0 3 million {2007 profit £28 7 million)

Equity shareholders’ funds at 30 April 2008 amounted to £110 1 mithon (2007 £106 4 million)

Enhanced business review
A review of the business, future prospects and the principal risks and uncertainties it faces are contained within the Business
Review on pages 1 to 33

The principal financial nsks are discussed In note 21 to the financial statements

Dividends

A final dmvidend, for the year ended 30 Apnit 2007, of 8 00 pence net per ordinary share was paid in September 2007 This,
together with an intenm dividend for the year ended 30 Apnl 2008 of 3 50 pence net per ordinary share patd In February 2008,
gives a total dividend charged to the results for the year ended 30 April 2008 of 11 50 pence net (2007 10 50 pence) A final
dividend for the year ended 30 Apnl 2008 of 3 00 pence net per ordinary share 1s to be proposed at the Annual General Meeting
on 4 September 2008 If approved, this will be payable to shareholders on the register at the close of business on 15 August
2008 This proposal will provide a total dividend for the year ended 30 Apnl 2008 of 6 50 pence net per ordinary share

(2007 11 80 pence)

Directors

The present rmembership of the Board Is set out on pages 34 and 35 All Directors served throughout the year with the exception
of Mr Colin Child, who was appointed as an Executive Director on 4 October 2007 and who offers himself for election In
accordance with the Company's Articles of Assoctation, Mr K B O’Higgins, Mr D Detter, Ms A Lesmak and Mr P Stone retire

as Directors at the forthcoming AGM and, betng eligible, offer themselves for re-election

None of the Directors had any interest in any material contract dunng the year relating to the business of the Company

The interests of Directors and their families in the shares of the Company were

Beneficial Beneficial Non-beneficial  Non-beneficral
Number of ordinary shares of 5 pence gach 1 May 2007 30 Apnl 2008 1 May 2007 30 Apnl 2008
T D Melville-Ross 16,450 26,450 - -
M D Struckett 479,347 654,771 54,500 54,500
C C Chuld - 10,000 - -
R HH Peto 249,485 295,381 - -
K B C'Higgins 105,253 185,253 - -
D M Gray 8,609 18,609 - -
CY Leung 2,628,305 2,628,305 - -
L Cullen 5,000 5,000 - -
D Detter - - - -
P J Stone 50,000 50,000 - -
A Lasniak 5,000 5,000 - -

MrT $ Maynard resrgned on 4 October 2007
Mr T J Hodgson resigned on 24 May 2007
{11 Mr C C Child was appointed on 4 October 2007
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The above non-beneficial interests refate to the interests of the Directors (or ther spouses) as trustees of trusts established
for the benefit of their respective children or those of other Directors or former Directors of companies in the Group

As at 30 Apnl 2008, all the above Directors are Interested 1n 3,178,245 ordinary shares (2007 3,354,540) held by DT&C Limited,
a subsidiary of the Company, as trustee of the Company’s Discretionary Employee Benefit Trust, which holds the shares in trust
tor Group employees

Between 30 April 2008 and 27 June 2008, this figure has decreased to 3,176,719

In addition, Mr M D Struckett, Mr R H H Peto and Mr K B O’Higgins have been granted options under the DTZ Holdings pfe
Deferred Share Scheme Full detalls are included in the Directors’ remuneration report set out on pages 39 to 46

As at 20 June 2008, the Company had been notified of the following interests in the Company’s ordinary share capital
in accordance with Chapter 5 of the UK Listing Authority’s Disclosure and Transparency rules

At 30 Apnl 2008 AL 20 June 2008
Substantial nterests Shares % Shares %
Groupe CM, Sant George, Piddehévre & Associgs, Stéphane Mathy,
Michael Jacquet & Derrey's 16,282,837 27 40 17,064,300 2872
DT&C Limited® 3,178,245 534 3,178,245 534
CY Leung 2,628,305 442 2,628,305 4 42
Wasatch Adwvisors™ 2,461,041 414 2,443,361 411
Legal & General Investment Management Limited 2,438,608 410 2,438,698 410
Third Avenue Management LLC 2,421,276 408 2,497,276 420
Montanaro Group® 2,413,673 406 2,343,373 394
Barclays PLCW 2,243,468 377 1,721,950 290

{1) Nen-disciosabia sharehciding
(2) Trustee of the Company s Discretionary Employes Benefit Trust
(3) Non-disclosable sharehelding at 30 April 2008 (Disclesable sharehalding with effact from 10 June 2008)

Other than as shown 18 Company is not awara of any shareholder with an Interest of 3% or more in the 8sued share capital of the company

Employee involvement

The Directors recognise that the key to delivering conststent high-quality client services lies in the skill, loyalty and motivation
of allits employees It s the policy of the Group that all employees are provided with support, advice, training and development
opporturities to allow them to achieve their own potential within the framework of the bustness

The Group has made and continues to make substantial iInvestment in network information technology, to iImprove service to
chents, and facihtate goed internal communications and information sharing

Employment of disabled persons

The Group has continued i1ts existing policy regarding the employment of disabled persons Full and farr consideration 1s given
to apphcations for employment made by disabled persons, taking into account their particular aptitudes and abilittes and the
nature of the work involved Appropnate traming 1s avarlable for disabled employees, including retraining for alternative work if
necessary for those employees who become disabled, to promote their career development within the Group

AGM special business
Thus year, the Directors are putting forward one item of special business at the AGM This i1s resolution 9 as set out In the notice
of meeting and described in the letter to shareholders accompanying that notice

Donations
Dunng the year, the Group made donations for charitable purposes of £214,401 {2007 £42,224) No denations were made
for pohtical purposes (2007 nil)

Creditor payment policy

It 1s the Group's normal polcy to pay suppliers within the payment terms of the contract, where these have been agreed in
advance, or within 30 days of the end of the calendar month of supply Sub-contractors, in accordance with their contract
terms, are paid when the Group 1s paid As at 30 April 2008, creditor days were calculated at 47 days (2007 51 days)
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Directors’ Report: Corporate Governance. Other statutory information continued

Directors’ indemnities
The Articles of Association grant indemnities to each of the Directors and the Group Secretary to the extent permitted by law

These indemnities are uncapped 1N amount i relation to certain losses and habihties, which may incur to third parties in the
course of acting as Directors (or Company Secretary as the case may be) or employees of the Company or one or more of
s subsidiaries and associates

Going concern
The Directors are satisfied that the Company and the Group have adequate resources to continue in operational existence for
the foreseeable future For this reason they continue to adopt the going concern basis in prepanng the accounts

Audrtors
In accordance with the provisions of Section 234ZA of the Companies Act 1985, each of the Directors at the date of approval

of this report confirms that
« So far as the Director is aware there 1s no relevant audit information of which the Company’s Auditors are unaware, and

+ The Director has taken all of the steps that he or she ought to have taken as a Director in order to make himself or herself
aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that the Company's Auditors are aware of that information

Deloitte & Touche LLP have expressed therr willingness to continue in office as Auditors and a resolution to re-appoint them
will be proposed at the forthcoming AGM

Philip Cook
Company Secretary
9 July 2008
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Directors’ Report Corporate Governance: Directors’ remuneration report

Directors’ remuneration report
The Directors submit their report on remuneration for the year ended 30 April 2008

This report has been approved and adopted by the Board and has been prepared in accordance with the Directors’
Remuneration Report Regulations 2002 (‘Regulations’) and the Listing Rules of the Financial Services Authority In accordance
with the Regulations, the tables of Directors’ Share Options under the Deferred Share Scheme, Company Share Option Plan
(COSOP’) and tables of Long-Term Incentive Plan awards in section 3 and the whole of section 4 have been

subject to audit The remaining parts of section 3 and sections 1, 2 and 5 are not subject to audit

1 The Remuneration Committee {'Committee’)

The Board has appointed a Remuneration Committee which considers, for recommendation to the Board, Company policy
on remuneration and conditions of service, and, within the terms of the agreed policy, approves the compaosition and level of
remuneration of Executive Directors, the Charrman of the Company and such other members of the Executive Management
as It 1s designated to consider The Board has accepted, without amendment, the Committee’s recommendations

The Committee members during the year comprised, Mr P J Stone, Mr L Cullen, Mr D Detter and Ms A Lesnmak Mr P J Stone
served as Charman of the Committee, Mr T D Melville-Ross, Charrman and Mr M D Struckett, Group Chief Executive, are mvited
to join its meetings, as appropriate The Group Company Secretary s the Secretary to the Committee No Director takes part in
discussion on their own remuneration

2 Remuneration policy

In determining an appropnate remuneration pohcy for recommendation to the Board, the Committee’s objective 1s toc ensure

that the Group 1s able to attract and retain high quality professional staff while iIncentivising exceptional performance Basic salary
and benefits are set at a level having regard tc other comparable listed companies and those within the professional services
sector and are monitored on a regular basis Remuneration for Executive Directors and Sentor Executives takes account of the
Company's overall performance, achievement of corporate objectives and personal contnibution, through an annual performance
related bonus scheme and, for long-term performance, by the award of shares or options under the Long Term Reward Plan,
approved at the AGM In September 2006

To assist the Committee in determining remuneration policy, although he 1s not a member of the Committee, information

and adwvice has been provided and recommendations have been made by Mr M D Struckett, (other than in respect of his own
position) This includes information from internal and independent scurces on the remuneration for comparable positions in isted
companies and in the professional services sector

3 Remuneration of Executive Directors and Senior Executives
The remuneration packages for Executive Directors consist of the following elements

¢ Salary and benefits

+ Performance related bonus
+ Pension

* Long term incentive plans

and are structured to relate reward to both corporate and individual performance Details of all payments to Executive Directors,
which are disclosed in sechion 4 on page 45, show the relative value of the basic and performance related elements of their
remuneration The Group's remuneration structure 1s such that in 2007/08 the highest paid employees within the Group were
not Directors of the Company

1) Salary and Benefits

Basic salanes for Executive Directors and other Senior Executives are reviewed by the Remuneration Committee annually, having
regard to competitive market practices and remuneration levels in companies which it considers to be comparable by taking into
account ther market capitalisation and annual turnover, the Commuittee’s own judgement of the performance of the Group’s
businesses and the contnbution made by individual Directors

The main benefits provided to the Executive Directors and Senior Executives are the use of a Company car or the provision of a
cash allowance, medical insurance and life assurance cover Detalls of Directors’ emoluments are given in section 4 on page 45
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Directors’ Repont. Corporate Governance Directors’ remuneration report continued

1) Annual Performance Related Bonus Scheme

UK based staff, including Executive Directors, participate in a performance related bonus scheme Payments under the scheme
are based on the achievement of profit and operational targets, which are set so that they are relevant both to the specific
circumstances of the Company and the performance of the individual against their annually agreed cbjectives In the case of the
Executive Directors, any performance related bonus Is based on the achievement of their objectives and Group performance and
any payment to them 1s made partly from the UK bonus scheme and partly from a discretionary bonus pool related to the pre-tax
profits of the Group, which provides individual performance bonuses against pre-set Group-related objectives

The UK bonus scheme conststs of two compenents

a) Profit Share — an annua! bonus scheme in which all UK based employees are entitled to participate, where the bonus is directly
related to the performance of the individual against objectives set for the year, and

b} Indmidual Performance Bonus ~ the main purpose of this component 1s to create flexibility in the allocation of bonus amounts
based on an individual’s contribution and the overall success of the Company Bonus awards to individuals are determined by
scoring ndividual performance during the year against pre-set objectives, covering five areas business development, client
relationship management, personal financial performance, people management and risk management

The calculation of the discretionary benus pool from which these two components are pard and the calculation of the
discretionary bonus pool in relation to Group-related objectives are directly related to, respectively, the audited pre-bonus,
pre-tax profits of the UK operating companies or the Group so as to provtde both for a return to shareholders and for the
creation of a bonus pool for distnbution to employees

The Remuneration Committee agrees bonus payments, which are not pensionable

1} Pensions
The Executive Directors, apart from Mr D M Gray and Mr C Y Leung, are members of the Company’s non-contributory money
purchase pension scheme of which Mr M D Struckett 15 a deferred member

v} Long Term Incentive Plans

At the AGM in September 2006 approval was given to implement a new Long Term Incentive arrangement, known as the DTZ
2006 Long Term Reward Plan (the ‘Plan’) The Company has confirmed the strategy of aiming to become, a leading global
provider of integrated property solutions to chents Acthievernent of this strategy will require a greater focus on long-term results,
and will require significant cross-working between the different service lines within the Company in order to provide the integrated
solutions that clhents are seeking

The Pian has four components

Deferred Bonus

Under the Plan, a percentage of any annual bonus payable, that exceeds a value prescribed each year by the Remuneration
Committee, will be delivered as an award of Shares {'Deferred Shares’), the receipt of which will be dependent on continuing
employment within the Group over the three year penod of deferral (the ‘Deferral Period’) This element of the Plan incorporates
the previous deferred bonus arrangements

The formula for determining the percentage of the annual bonus that 1s delivered in Deferred Shares and the threshold for
deferral deterrmined by the Remuneration Committee 1s disclcsed each year in the remuneration report For the operation of
the Plan in 2008, the following tiered structure has applied to deterrmine the value of the annual bonus that will be delivered
in Deferred Shares

» 10% of any annual bonus that is in excess of £100,000 but less than or equal to £250,000
(1 e a maximum of £25,000), plus

« 20% of any annual bonus that i1s In excess of £250,0Q00
In addition, for certain individuals, 100% of thewr annual bonus above an agreed level will be delivered in Deferred Shares

Co-investment

Under the Plan, the Remuneration Commuttee may invite selected employees to make a further investment (‘Co-investment’)
in shares which must be held for a three year period Individuals who participate in Co-investment will receive awards of free
matching shares {'Matching Shares’) The Matching Shares will vest at the end of the three year retention pericd (‘Retention
Period’) if the individual remains in employment with the Group (subject to ‘good leaver’ prowisions) and to the extent that he
has retained his Co-invested shares Vesting of the Matching Shares 1s also subject to the satisfaction of a performance
condition over a three year performance penod {'Performance Pernod’)

The Remuneration Committee determines each year the ndividuals to whom Co-investment 15 to be offered, the Co-investment
parameters, the matching multiples and the performance condition

in 2008 it 1s envisaged that Co-investment is offered only to participants who receive Deferred Shares in respect of their annual
bonus for the immediately preceding financial year and that the maximum number of Co-invested Shares would be imited to the
number of the Deferred Shares awarded in respect of that year However, the Remuneration Committee reserves the nght to offer
Co-investment more widely
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The Remuneration Committee proposes that the matching multiples for the 2008 operation of Co-investment will range from
20% of the number of co-invested shares to 100% of the number of co-Invested shares for maximum performance

The Remuneration Committee has confirmed that the performance condition attaching to the Matching Shares will be based on

Group Earnings Per Share {('EPS') annual growth targets The range of EPS growth targets is set each year by the Remuneration
Commuttee, taking inte account the prospects for the business at that time and analysts’ forecasts of Group EPS for the ensuing
three years

The proposed EPS growth targets for awards of Matching Shares under the Plan will be aligned with those for the LTIP awards
(see below) For the 2008 operation of the Plan, the following vesting schedule has been used

Group EPS Growth Matching Shares as multiple of Co-invested Shares
<RPl + 5% pa 0% of number of Co-invested Shares
RPI + 5% pa 20% of number of Co-invested Shares
RPl + 12% pa 100% of number of Co-invested Shares

The number of Matching Shares awarded will be determined on a pro rata basis, if annual Group EPS growth I1s between RP! +
5% and 12% per annum

Long Term Incentive Plan (‘'L TIP'} awards

The LTIP awards are designed to provide a long-term focus to senior members of the management team The Remuneration
Committee has agreed to extend participation in LTIP awards in the 2008 year of the Plan to those Executives whose roles
require them to take a longer-term perspective

LTIP awards will be structured to provide the full value of the underlying share to participants Awards will vest at the end of a
three year penod, providing the participant continues to be employed within the Group and to the extent that the performance
conditions have been met over the Performance Period

Each year, the Remuneration Committee will determine individual levels of participation Maximum grants will be 150% of
annual salary

The Remuneration Committee has determined that the performance condition for the 2008 LTIP awards will be based on annual
Group EPS growth targets as follows

Group EPS Growth Percentage of LTIP award vesting
<RPl + 5% pa Nil
RPl + 5% pa 20%
RPI + 12% pa 100%

The percentage of an LTIP award vesting for annual Group EPS growth between RPI + 5% and 12% will be calculated on a pro
rata basis

Company Share Option Plan {'{COSOP’) options

The Plan will provide for the grant of market value options The COSOP will consist of an HM Revenue & Customs {{HMRC’)
approved section and an unapproved section Options over shares having a value at the time of grant of up to the imit specified
from time to time by HMRC {(currently £30,000} will be granted under the HMRC approved section and all other COSOP options
will be granted under the unapproved secticn

COSOP options will be subject to performance conditions selected from time to time by the Remuneration Committee For the
2008 COSCP options, the Remuneration Committee has determined that the performance condition will be based on annual
Group EPS growth targets, similar to that attaching to LTIP and Matching Share awards

For COSOP options, the following Group EPS growth targets will apply
Percentage of COSOP opticn vesting

Group EPS Growth Approved options Unapproved options
<RPl + 5% pa Nil Nil
RPI + 5% pa 100% 20%
RPI + 12% pa 100% 100%

The percentage of an unapproved COSOP option vesting for annual Group EPS growth between BPI + 5% and 12% witll be
calculated on a pro rata basis
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Directors’ Report. Corporate Governance: Directors’ remuneration report continued

Eligibility

All Executive Directors and employees of the Group are eligible to participate in the Plan The Remuneration Committee wilk
approve the participation in the Plan of individual employees each year The Remuneration Committee will determine each
year the types of award to be made to each participant

Exercise perod

The period during which a participant may exercise a vested option granted in respect of Deferred Shares, an LTIP award or
an award of Matching Shares will be the penod of 12 months after the end of the Restricted Period The period during which
a participant may exercise a vested COSOP option will be the peniod of seven years after the end of the Restricted Penod

Employment condition

If a participant ceases to be employed within the Group before the end of a Restricted Penod in respect of any awards, his or
her Deferred Share award, any Malching Share awards, any COSCP options and any LTIP awards will lapse forthwith {subject
to ‘good leaver’ provisions}, unless the Remuneration Commuttee in its absolute discretion determines otherwise

Change of control

In the event of a change of contral of the Company, If a court sanctions a compromise or arrangement under Section 425 of

the Companies Act 1985 or If a resotution 1s passed for the voluntary winding-up of the Company, the Deferral, Retention and
Performance Periods will come to an end Co-invested shares and Deferred Shares will vest in the participants immediately
Matching Share awards, COSOP options and LTI awards wili vest in the participants to the extent that the relevant performance
condition has been satisfied prorated to reflect the part of the Restricted Period that has elapsed at the date of the event Any
options will be exercisable for a penod of up to six months from the date of vesting

In the event of a change of control of the Company, the Plan will allow for awards to be exchanged for awards over shares of
equivatent value in the acquinng company, by agreement with the acquinng company

Timing
COSOP options and co-invested share, Deferred Share, Matching Share and LTIP awards will be granted within a 42 day period
following the announcement of half year or year end results for the financial year

Dividends or dividend equivalents

Dividends or dvidend equivalent amounts in respect of Deferred Share, co-invested share, Matching Share and LTIP awards may
be rolled up over the Restricted Period and paid out to participants to the extent that ther respective Plan awards vest at the end
of the Restricted Period

Share Incentive Pian {SIP’)

At the AGM in September 2006 approval was given to implement a new SIP This was in order to ensure the alignment of all of
our UK employees’ interests with those of shareholders and to provide them with an opportunity to invest in the Company The
SIP will provide for free shares, partnership shares and matching shares but for the foreseeable future it 1s being restncted to
the purchase by employees of partnership shares

The SIP 1s an HMRC approved all employee scheme under which employees must generally participate on similar terms
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Dtrectors’ share options under the DTZ Holdings plc Deferred Share Scheme

MNotional
dradend

Valugat _ accrued al Date from

At AL grant 30 Apnl 2008 Exercise which
Name 1 May 2007 Granted Exeroised 30 Apnl 2008 £ £ pnce  exercisable Exprry date
M D Struckett 50,000 - 50,000 - 81,250 - N 13 Jul 04 13 Jul 08
50,000 - 50,000 - 55,000 - NI 18 Jul 05 18 Jul 09
50,000 - 50,000 - 40,000 - NI 11 JulC6 11 Ju 10
30,000 - - 30,000 42,000 12,000 N 18 Jul 67 16 Jul 11
30,000 - - 30,0060 66,000 9,500 Nl 74ul08 7 Jul 12
10,000 - - 10,000 67,000 2,300 Nil S5Julcg  S5Jul13
- 15,000 - 15,000 78,000 1,800 NIl 11 Jul 10 11 Jul 11
R HH Peto 15,000 - 15,000 - 16,500 - NI 18 Jul05 18 Jul09
20,000 - 20,000 - 16,000 - NIl 11 2006 11 Jul 10
20,000 - 20,000 - 28,000 - NI 16 dul 07 16 Jul 11
30,000 - - 30,000 66,000 9,600 Nil 7Jui08  7Juli12
8,500 - - 8,500 57,000 2,000 Nt 5Jul08  5Jul 13
- 10,000 - 10,000 52,000 1,200 NiE 11 Jul 10 11 Jut 11
K B O'Higgins 30,000 - 30,000 - 24,000 - Nib 11 Jul 08 11 Jul 10
20,000 - 20,000 - 28,000 - Nl 16 Jul 07 16 Jul 11
20,000 - - 20,000 44,000 6,400 Nil 72008 7Jui2
4,500 - - 4,500 30,000 1,000 NI 5Jul08 5Jul13
- 10,000 - 10,000 52,000 1,200 Nl 11 Jul 10 11 Jul 11

Totals 388,000 35,000 255,000 168,000

The mid-market pnce of our shares at 1 May 2007 and 30 Apnl 2008 was 595 5 pence and 215 pence respectively The share
price dunng the year ranged from 204 25 pence to 624 5 pence

The mid-market price of the shares at the date of exercise by Mr M D Struckett were 438 25 pence and 243 5 pence respectively
The aggregate gains made on the exercise of the share options by Mr M D Struckett were £219,625 and £243,500 respectively
(2007 £324,500) The mid-market price of the shares at the date of exercise by Mr R H H Peto was 533 pence The aggregate
gain made on the exercise of the share options by Mr R H H Peto was £293,150 (2007 nil) The mid-market price of the shares
at the date of exercise by Mr K B O’'Higgins was 515 pence The aggregate gain made on the exercise of the share options by
Mr K B O'Higgins was £257,500 (2007 nil}

Mr T S Maynard resigned as a director on 4 October 2007 Prior to his resignation, he exercised 20,000 share options The
mid-market pnce of the shares at the date of exercise was 499 pence The aggregate gain made on the exercise of options
by Mr T S Maynard was £99,800 (2007 £330,177)

Dunng the year 24,000 options lapsed which were held by Mr T S Maynard

Mr T J Hodgson resigned as a Director on 24 May 2007

Upon exercise of an option, a payment equal to the notional dividend the shares would have receved from the date of

grant to the date of exercise 18 made, plus an amount for notional interest In respect of the options exercised in the year

by Mr M D Struckett the payments made were £29,406 and £47 487 respectively {2007 £22,470) (n respect of the options
exercised In the year by Mr R H H Peto the payment made was £18,602 (2007 nil) In respect of the options exercised in the
year by Mr K B O’Higgins the payment made was £15,815 (2007 nil) In respect of the options exercised In the year by

Mr T S Maynard the payment made was £5,413 40 (2007 £4,463 and £11,885)

Since the year end, the Remuneration Cormrmittee has recommended that Deferred Share awards be granted to Mr M D Struckett,
Mr R H H Peto, Mr KB O' Higgins, Mr C Y Leung and Mr G G Child in respect of 60,000, 10,000, 15,000, 50,000 and 10,000
shares These are exercisable at any time between three and four years after the grant date

In addttion, the Remuneration Cormmmitiee has recommended that LTIP awards be granted to Mr R H H Peto, Mr K B O'Higgins,
Mr C Y Leung and Mr C C Child in respect of 45,000, 45,000, 75,000 and 30,000 shares respectively
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Directors’ share options under the COSOP

Granted  Exercised Date from

At during during At Option price which
Name 1 May 2007 the year the year 30 April 2008 pence  exercisable Expury date
M D Struckett 18,126 - - 18,126 1855 16Jul07 15Ju 14
1,874 - 1,874 - 16565 16JulQ7 150u 11
R H H Peto 18,126 - 18,126 - 1855 16 Jul07 15 Ju 14
1,874 - 1,874 - 1655 16 Juld7 15 Jul 11
K B O'Higgins 20,000 - 20,000 - 895 11Jul06 10Jul13
7.312 - 7.312 - 165656 16 Jul07 15Jul14
2,688 - 2,688 - 1665 16Jul Q7 15 Jul 11
C C Cinud - 6,730 - 6,730 44575 11 0ct 10 10 Oct17

Totals 70,000 6,730 51,874 24,856

The mid-market price of shares at 1 May 2007 and 30 April 2008 was 595 5 pence and 215 0 pence respectively The share price
during the year ranged from 204 25 pence to 624 5 pence

On 8 August 2007, Mr T S Maynard {who resigned from DTZ Holdings plc on 4 October 2007) exercised 7,312 ophons at 1655
pence per share The exercise penod for these options was 16 July 2007 to 15 July 2014 He also exercised 2,688 options
at 165 5 pence per share on the same date The exercise period for these options was 16 July 2007 to 15 July 2011

On 24 May 2007, Mr T J Hodgson resigned from the Board He retains 18,126 options at 165 5 pence per share, which are
exercisable between 16 July 2007 and 15 July 2014 and 1,874 options at 165 5 pence per share which are exercisable
between 16 July 2007 and 15 July 2011

Directors’ Long Term Incentive Plan Awards

Granted dunng Exercised dunng Date upon which the

Name At 1 May 2007 the year the year At 30 Apnl 2008 Award prica award will vest

M D Struckett 33,587 - - 33,587 nil 6 Oct 09

- 50,000 - 50,000 nil 11 Jul 10

R HH Peto 18,320 - - 18,320 nil &6 Oct 09

- 30,000 - 30,000 rul 11 Jul 10

K B O'Higgins 18,320 - - 18,320 nil 6 Oct 09

- 30,000 - 30,000 nil 11 Jul 10

C C Chid - 44,868 - 44,868 ntl 11 Cct 10
Totals 70,227 154,868 - 225,095

Mr € C Child was appointed as a Director on 4 October 2007

Mr T J Hedgson rasigned as a Director on 24 May 2007

Mr T S Maynard resignec as a Diractor on 4 Qctober 2007

The LTIP awards as set cut above are granted and will vest subject to the terms and condiiens set out in tha Plan and also subject to the performance target being sausfied

Co-investment by Director

Granted dunng Exercised dunng
Narne At 1 May 2007 the year the year At 30 Apnl 2008
M D Struckett - 15,662 - 15,662
R H H Peto 8,694 - - 8,694
K B O’'Higgins 4,603 10,441 - 15,044
C C Chid - - - -
Totals 13,297 26,103 - 39,400

Mr M D Struckett and Mr K B O Higgins were also granted a Matching Share award for 15 662 plan shares (2007 nul} and 10 441 plan shares {2007 4 603} raspectvely
Mr R HH Peto holds a Matching Share award of 8 694 plan shares granted to him on 6 Qctober 2006

In addition, under the SIP Mr K B O Higgins held 134 shares at 30 April 2008 (2007 40 shares)

Detalls of the share option schemes are set out on pages 79 arxd B2 of the Notes to the financial statements
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4 Remuneration of Directors

The Charman of the Board, Mr T D Melville-Ross, is a Non-Executive Director and his fee, and those of the other Non-Exacutive
Directors, 1s determined by the Board, having regard to the contribution required from and the responsibility taken by Non-
Executive Directors and current market practice, including the level of fees paid to Non-Executive Directors of comparable
companies Non-Executive Directors are not ehigible for performance retated bonuses or grants of options and therr fees are

not pensionable Mr P J Stone's fees are payable to a Company of which he 1s a Director

The following table shows an analysis of the remuneration of the Directors for the year ended 30 Apnl 2008

Continuing Directors

Performance Pension

Salary related Benefits contributions Total Total
and fees payments (Note 1) Sub-total {Note 2) 2008 2007
Nameg £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'0
M D Struckett 271 255 19 545 41 586 768
C C Chid* 160 140 10 310 25 335 -
K B O'Higgins 183 240 19 442 28 470 871
R H H Peto 183 100 9 292 140 432 596
D M Gray 104 90 11 205 16 21 250
T D Melvlle-Ross 80 - - 80 - 80 80
L Cullen 45 - - 45 - 45 35
D Detter a7 - - 37 - 37 30
P J Stone 43 - - 43 - 43 33
A Lesniak 37 - - 37 - 37 30
C Y Leung 268 540 4 812 1 813 302
1,411 1,365 72 2,848 251 3,099 2,605

Nen-caontinuing Directors

Performance Pension

Salary related Benefits contnbutions Total Total
and fees payments {Note 1) Sub-total (Note 2} 2008 2007
Narne £000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £:000 £ 000
T 8 Maynard** 14 175 9 198 94 292 G615
T J Hodgson™* 18 - 4 22 1 23 763
32 175 13 220 95 315 1,378

Appointed to the Board on 4 October 2007

Resigned fram the Board 4 October 2007 - Amounts included In the table abova relata to ramuneration eamed as a Director
* *Aesigned from the Board on 24 May 2007 — Amounts inciuded In the table above relate to remuneration earned as a Director Mr T J Hodgson continues his employment with DTZ and was
patd £145 000 tor the penod thereaftar

Notel The main benafits prowided consist of the provision ¢f a fully expensed car, or cash allowance and medical insurance

Note 2 Pension contnbutions to the Group s money purchasa pension scheme include where appropriate salary sacnfices made by incrvidual Directors The Company s contnbution to the
pension schema is 15% of baswc salary

Pensions

Three (2007 three) of the Executive Directors actively participate in the DTZ Group Directors Pension Scheme, which 1s a defined
contribution scheme open to senior employees and which 1s mere particularly described in note 27 to the financial statements
on pages 85 to 87 The Scheme provides pension and other benefits Pension entitlements, which are based on basic salary, are
subject to restrictions proposed by the Income and Corporation Taxes Act 1988 The Company also makes contributions to the
personal pension plan of Mr D M Gray

Executive Directors’ contracts
Iths the Company’s policy and practice to provide for a rolling notice penod of no greater than six months in the service contracts
of Executive Directors Their service contracts do not include prowvision for a specific payment in the event of early termination

Detatls of the service contracts of the Executive Directors are set out in the table below

Name Date of contract MNctice panod
M D Struckett 1 May 1987 6 months
C C Chid 16 Sep 2007 6 months
D M Gray 1 May 2000 6 months
R HH Peto 1 May 1987 6 months
K O'Higgins 1 Oct 2001 6 months
C Y Leung 14 Dec 2006 6 months
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Non-Executive Directors

All Non-Executive Directors are elected for a term of three years unless required under the rotation provisions of the Articles of
the Company to submit for re-election The appointment of Non-Executive Directors can be terminated by either side without
notice or compensation

The dates of appointment of Non-Executive Directors are shown in the table below

Unexpered penod at
Name Date of appointment Date of current contract 30 Apnl 2008
T D Melville-Ross 17 Jan 2000 17 Jan 2008 21 months
P J Stone 26 Apr 2001 4 Apr 2007 23 months
L Cullen 11 Sep 2003 23 Aug 2006 16 months
D Detter 8 Mar 2004 4 Apr 2007 23 months
A Lesnak 8 Mar 2004 4 Apr 2007 23 manths

External appointments

The Company recognises that Executive Directors may be invited to become Non-Executive Directors of other companies and
that such appointments can broaden therr knowledge and experience, to the benefit of the Company The Board must approve
any such appointment An individual Director will normally be required to account to the Company for fees received in respect

of such directorships unless otherwise approved

5 Shareholders’ return

The graph below shows the total shareholder return (‘'TSR’) in respect of the Company’s ordinary shares of 5 pence each for the
five years ended 30 April 2008 relative to the total return for the FTSE Small Cap Index The Directors believe that the FTSE Small
Cap Index, as an index of companies of similar size to the Company, is the most appropnate against which to compare total
shareholder return

TSR Performance over period 30/04/2003 - 30/04/2008

/
Peter Stone

Charrman of Remuneration Committee
9 July 2008
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Statement of corporate governance

Comphance with the Combined Code

on Corporate Governance

Throughout the year ended 30 April 2008 the company has
been in compliance with the provisions set out In Section 1 of
the July 2003 FRC Combined Code on Corporate Governance
(the '‘Combined Code’) except, as specified below, as regards
the nomination of a Senior Independent Director

The Board continues to endorse and apply the principles

of good corporate governance reflected in the Combined
Code and in accordance with the Combined Code, a narrative
statement of how the company has applied the provisions of
the Combined Code 1s set out below

The Board of Directors

The Board compnses Mr T D Melville-Ross, Charman,

Mr M D Struckett, Group Chief Executive, four other

Executive Directors and four Non-Executive Directors

There 1s a separation of the roles and responsibilities of

the Chawrman and the Group Chief Executive The Board has
considered carefully the need to appoint a Senior Independent
Director and concluded that, in view of the calibre and number
of the Non-Executive Directors, it 1s not necessary to nominate
a Senior Independent Director at present

The Directors submit themselves for election at the first AGM
after therr appointment and for re-election at least every three
years thereafter Detalls of the Directors submitting themselves
for re-appointment at the AGM on 4 September 2008 are
shown on page 35

As Chairman, Mr Melville-Ross ts not considered independent,
but the ather Non-Executive Directors are considered by the
Board to be independent of management and free from any
business or other relationships that could matenally interfere
with the exercise of their independent judgement Non-
Executive Directors are appointed for periods of up to three
years Biographies of the Non-Executive Directors appear

on page 35 and demonstrate the calibre and breadth of
expernence they provide to the Company, which complements
the industry experience of the Executive Directors Through
the Company Secretary, all Directors can, If they so wish,

take independent advice at the expense of the Company

The Board has a formal schedule of matters reserved to it
for decision that includes

« Approval of annual budgets and strategic plans,

« The establishment of new businesses or businesses
in new geographical areas,

+ Acquisitions and disposals, major capital projects
and matenal contracts, and

+ Changes to the Group’s capital, corporate or
management structure

All Directors recerve written reports pnior to each Board
meeting that enable them to take informed decisions on the
corporate and business 1ssues which they are considering
The Company Secretary 1s responsible to the Board for
ensuring that its procedures are followed and is available
to indmidual Directors for advice on those procedures

The Company Secretary supports the Chairman and Group
Chief Executive in ensuring new Directors receive appropriate
training and induction te the Company and that on-going
training for Directors 1s provided when a need for such training
1s Identified as part of the Board’s annual evaluation process

Board evaluation

Formal evaluation of the performance of the Board and of the
principal Board committees was conducted during the year
under the leadership of the Chairman and the respective
Committee charrmen This was done through structured
discussions, Including separate discussions dealing with the
Chairman’s performance The Board and each committee
has concluded that its performance and that of its individual
members 1s generally satisfactory and i1s aligned with the
Company's strategic abjectives and the interests of shareholders

Board committees

The Board has established the following committees details of
which are set out below, each with defined terms of reference,
procedures, responsibiities and powers Each committee reviews
its terms of reference and effectiveness at least annually The
minutes of committee meetings are normally sent to all Directors
and oral reports of committee activities are given at Board
meetings The terms of reference of the Board commitiees

are avallable, on request, from the Company Secretary

Audit Committee
The Audit Cornmittee is chaired by Mr L Cullen and comprises
the Non-Executive Directors excluding the Chairman

The external and internal Auditors, the Chairman, Group Chief
Executive and the Group Finance Director normally attend
meetings of the Committee and the Committee alsc meets
separately with the external and internal auditors without
management present The Audit Committee discharges its
responsibibties by meeting at least three times a year to

« Review the intenm and annual financtal statements prior
to subrission to the Board,

+ Keep under review the cperation and effectiveness of the
Company’s internal financial control and accounting policies,

» Monitor and review the effectiveness of the company’s
operational and compliance controls and nsk management,

+ Rewview the nature and extent of non-audit services
provided by the external auditors, and

» Rewview the plans and work of the internal auditors

The Audit Commuttee also reviews the scope and cost of both
the internal and external audit and makes a recornmendation to
the Board regarding re-appointment of the external auditors
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As part of its role in relation to the provision of non-audit
services by the external auditors, the Audit Committee
agrees with the external auditors which types of work the
external auditors are permitted to undertake and monitors
the nature and extent of non-audit work undertaken by the
external auditors

In forming therr opinion of the independence and objectivity of
the external auditors, the Audit Commuttee takes into account
the safeguards operating within Deloitte & Touche LLP Regard
1S given to the nature of remuneration receved for other services
provided by Deloitte & Touche LLP to the Company and, inter
alia, confirmation is sought from them that the fee payable

for the annual audit 1s adequate to enable them to fulfil their
obhgation in relation to the scope of the audit

The Board considers that the members of the Audit Commuttes
as a whole have sufficient recent and relevant experience to
carry out the functions of the Committee and has not identified
a particular member of the Committee as hawving such expenence

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee 1s charred by the Charman and
comprises the Non-Executive Directors and the Group Chief
Executive There were no changes to the composition of the
Committee in the year

The Committee meets as and when required to

« Review the structure, size and composition of the Board
and make recommendations as to any changes,

= Keep under review the leadership needs of the Company
and consider succession planning for Directors and other
senior executives,

= Assist in identifying and become involved In the selection
process for candidates to fill Board vacancies, and

+ Evaluate the time required to be spent by the Non-
Executive Directors and ensure that what 15 required of
them s clearly specified

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee 1s chaired by Mr P J Stone

and comprises the Non-Executive Directors excluding the
Chamrman The Committee meets at least once a year and
considers, for recommendation to the Board, Company pohcy
on remuneration and conditions of service, and, within the
terms of the agreed policy, approves the composition and
fevel of remuneration of Executive Directors, the Charman
and such other members of the Executive Management as

i I1s designated to consider

When the Committee considers matters relating to an individual,
that person 1s not present nor does that person act in relation
to any matters relating to him

The remuneration report 1s on pages 32 to 46

48 / www dtz com

Meetings

Duning the year there were thirteen Board meetings, five Audit
Committee meetings, one Remuneration Committee meeting
and one Nomination Committee meeting Attendance at these
meetings by individual Directors 1s given in the table below

Board Audit Remuneration Nommnation
T D Melville-Ross 13 - - 1
M D Struckett 13 - - 1
T S Maynard” 6 - - -
C C Chid** 7 - - -
R HHPeto 13 - - -
K B O'Higgins i3 - - -
D M Gray 13 - - -
CY Leung 11 - - -
L Cullen 13 5 1 1
D Detter 1 5 1 1
P J Stone 11 4 1 1
A Lesnak 13 5 1 1

Mr T S Maynard ceased to ba a member of tha Board from 4 Gctober 2007

Mr C C Chlld was appointed to the Board on 4 Qctober 2007
Relations with shareholders
The Company reports formally to shareholders twice each
year, when its half-year and full-year results are announced
The AGM takes place in London and all the Directors who
are able to attend are available, formally at the meeting and
informally afterwards, for questions

The Group Chief Executive and Group Finance Director hald
regular meetings throughout the year with institutional
Investors and analysts

Statement of Directors' responsibilities in respect of the
financial statements

The Directors are responsible for preparning the Annual Report
and financial statements The Directors are required to prepare
financial statements for the Group in accordance with International
Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by EU {‘IFRSs"}
Company law requires the Directors to prepare such financial
statements in accordance with IFRSs, the Companies Act
1985 and Article 4 of the IAS Regulation

International Accounting Standard 1 requires that financial
statements present fairly for each financial year the Company's
financial position, financial performance and cash flows This
requires the farthful representation of the effects of transactions,
other events and conditions In accordance with the defimitions
and recognition critena for assets, habiities, income and
expenses set out in the International Accounting Standards
Board’s ‘Framework for the Preparation and Presentation

of Financial Statements’ In virtually alt circumstances, a

fair presentation will be achieved by comphance with all
applicable IFRSs Directors are also required to

+ Properly select and apply accounting policies,

+ Present information, including accounting policies, in a
manner that provides relevant, reliable, comparable and
understandable information, and

+ Provide additional disclosures when compliance with the
specific requirements in IFRSs 1s insufficient to enable users
to understand the impact of particular transactions, other
events and conditions on the entity’s financiat position and
ftnancial performance




The Directors are responsible for keeping proper accounting
records which disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time
the financmal position of the Company, for safeguarding the
assets, for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and
detection of fraud and other irregulanties and for the preparation
of a Director’s report and Directors remuneration report which
comply with the requirements of the Companies Act 1885

The Directors are responsible for the mamntenance and integrity
of the Company website, In so far as 1t relates to the financial
statements Legislation in the United Kingdom governing the
preparation and dissemination of financial statements differ
from legislation in other junsdictions

Statement on internal control and nsk management

The Beoard takes ultimate responsibility for the Group's system
of internal control and risk management The system of control
Is designed to enable the Board to govern and manage the
business to achieve the Group's nsk management objectives
A system of internal contrcl can provide reasonable but not
absolute assurance against misstatement or loss

The Board conducts an annual review of the effectiveness of
the system of internal control and nsk management This review
IS based on reports to the Board and the Audit Committee,
prepared by the internal auditors and managernent

The principal elements of the Group's system of interna
control and risk rmanagement are

» The Board's vanous committees, which have defined
financtal authonties and operaticnal responsibilities
designed to enable effective decision making A matrix
management structure operates within the business
focusing on commercial matters, the techmical excellence
of the Group and client relationship management,

+ The Group Risk Management Committee, which is chaired
by the Group Chief Executive, meets regularly to review the
management of nsk artsing out of the Group’s activities,

+ Each of the Group’s regional businesses has a regronal Board
which compnses Group Executive Directors and other senior
employees These Boards and therr nsk committees meet
regularly to consider significant commercial matters,

Including nsk management and internal control, and
have formal repeorting structures to the Board,

« The Group Executive conducts a top-down tdentification
and review of the main nsks facing the Group and internal
control activities to mitigate these nsks,

» Ongoing processes for identifying, evaluating and managing
the significant nsks faced by the Group in accordance with
requirements of the Combined Code and Turnbull Guidance
on internal control A Group risk register identifies the risks
the business faces, their potential impact, likelihood of
occurrence and the key controls and action plans to
mitigate these,

« The Audit Committee assists the Board in discharging its
responsibility to review the system of internal control,

« Aninternal audit function, which has been outsourced to
KPMG, that 1s subject to the controlling direction of the Audit
Committee Internal audit provide to the Audit Commuttee an
independent assessment of the Group's system of internal
control, through reviewing how effectively key nisks are being
managed, and assist management i the effective discharge
of their responsibilities by carrying out independent
appraisals and making recommendations for improvement,

« Business policies and procedures are being progressively
embedded across the global operations of the Group, and

+ Certain aspects of the Group’s activities are also subject to
regulatory control by external bodies such as the FSA and
are audited in respect of the quality standard 1508001

Health & safety

The Company recognises that the maintenance of high
standards of health & safety management 1s imperative to
ensure the welfare of its employees Clients too are placing
a greater emphasis on health & safety when deciding which
service providers they will work with Our commitment to
improving health & safety performance will demonstrate our
abthty to meet their expectations, and help the Group to win
more business The Company’s policy 1s to strive towards
an integrated approach to health & safety throughout the
supply chain

Managing the environment

The Company regards the promotion of an environmental
strategy an important element in operating a successful
business, not only to mimimise its impact on global resources
but also to maintain goed investor and chent relations

We believe that we have already taken significant steps in
reducing the potential for the Group’s activities impacting on the
environment, by the development of envircnmental standards
for properties, training for employees and the adoption of a
recycling programme These initiatives have been
acknowledged through a number of client award schemes

Approved by the Board of Directors and signed on behalf of

the Board

Philip Cook
Company Secretary
9 July 2008
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Directors’ responsibility statement

We confirm to the best of our knowledge

» The financial statements, prepared in accordance with
International Financial Report Standards as adopted by
the EU, give a true and far view of the assets, Labilities,
financial position and profit or loss of the Company and
the undertakings included :n the conschdation taken as
a whole, and

« The management report, which is incorporated in the
Directors’ Report, includes a farr review of the development
and performance of the business and the position of the
Company undertakings included in the consolidation taken
as a whole, together with a description of the principal risks
and uncertainties they face

By order of the Board

MID. St -

Mark Struckett
Group Chief Executive

Lo L U

Colin Child
Group Finance Director
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Independent auditors’ report

Independent auditors’ report to the members of DTZ Holdings plc
We have audited the Group and parent Company financial
statements (the ‘financial statements’) of DTZ Holdings plc for
the year ended 30 Apnl 2008 which compnse of the
Consohdated income statement, the Consolidated and
Company balance sheets, the Consolidated and Company cash
flow statement, the Consolidated statement of recogrused
incomne and expense and the related notes 1 to 30 These
financial statements have been prepared under the accounting
policies set cut therain We have also audited the information in
the Directors’ remuneration report that s descnbed as having
been audited

This report 1s made solely to the Company’s members, as a
body, in accordance with section 235 of the Companies Act
1985 Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might
state to the Company’s members those matters we are required
to state to them in an auditors’ report and for no other purpose
To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or
assume responsibihity to anyone other than the Company

and the Company's members as a body, for our audit work,
for this report, or for the opinions we have formed

Respective responsibiities of Directors and auditors

The Directors’ responsibilities for preparng the Annual Report,
the Directors’ remuneration report and the financial statements

in accordance with applicable law and Intemational Financial
Reporting Standards (*IFRSs’) as adopted by the European Unton
are set out 1n the Statement of directors’ responsibilittes

QCur responsibility 1s to audit the financial statements and the
part of the Directors’ remuneration report to be audited in
accordance with relevant legal and regulatory requirements
and International Standards on Auditing (UK and Irelandy}

We report to you our opimon as to whether the financial
statements give a true and far view and whether the financial
statements and the part of the Directors' remuneration report
to be audited have been properly prepared in accordance with
the Companies Act 1985 and, as regards the Group financial
statements, Article 4 of the IAS Regulation We also report

to you whether in our opinion the information given n the
Directors’ Report 1s consistent with the financial statements

In addition we report to you if, in our opinton, the Company has
not kept proper accounting recerds, If we have not receved all
the information and explanations we reguire for our audtt, orif
information specified by law regarding Directors’ remuneration
and other transactions 1s not disclosed

We review whether the Statement of corporate governance
reflects the Company’s compliance with the nine provisions of
the 2006 Combined Code specified for our review by the Listing
Rules of the Financial Services Authority, and we report if it
does not We are not required to consider whether the Board's
staterments on internal control cover all nsks and controls, or
form an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s corporate
govermnance procedures or its nsk and control procedures

We read the other information contained i the Annual Report
as described in the contents section and consider whether 1t

1s consistent with the audited financgial statements The other
infermation comprises only the Directors’ Report, the unaudited
part of the Cirectors’ remuneration repert, the Charrman's
Statement, the Business Review and the Statement of
corporate governance We consider the implications for our
report iIf we become aware of any apparent misstatements or
matertal Inconsistencies with the financial statements Qur
responsibiities do not extend to any further information outside
the Annual Report

Basis of audit opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International
Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland} 1ssued by the Auditing
Practices Board An audit includes exarrunation, on a test basis,
of evidence relevant to the amounts and disclosures In the
financial statements and the part of the Directors' remuneration
report to be audited 1t also includes an assessment of the
significant estimates and yjudgments made by the Directors in
the preparation of the financial statements, and of whether the
accounting policies are appropnate to the Group’s and Company’s
cireumstances, consistently applied and adequately disclosed

We planned and performed our audit so as to obtain all the
information and explanations which we considered necessary in
order to provide us with sufficient evidence to give reasonable
assurance that the financial statements and the part of the
Directors’ remuneration report to be audited are free from
matenal misstatement, whether caused by fraud or other
iregularity or error In forming our opinion we also evaluated
the overall adequacy of the presentation of information in the
financial statements and the part of the Directors’ remuneration
report to be audited

Opinion
In our opimicon

» the Group financral staterments give a true and fair view, In
accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the European Union,
of the state of the Group's affairs as at 30 April 2008 and of
its loss for the year then ended,

« the parent Company financial statements give a true and far
view, in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the European
Union as applied in accordance with the provisions of the
Companies Act 1985, of the state of the parent Company's
affawrs as at 30 Apri) 2008,

+ the financial statements and the part of the Directors'
remuneration report to be audited have been properly
prepared In accordance with the Companies Act 1985 and,
as regards the Group financial statements, Article 4 of the
IAS Regulation, and

» the information given in the Directors’ Report s consistent
with the financial statements

Separate opinion 1n relation to IFRSs

As explained in note 2 to the Group financial statements, the
Group In addmion to complying with its legal obhgation to comply
with IFRSs as adopted by the European Union, has also comphed
with the IFRSs as 1ssued by the Intemational Accounting
Standards Board

In our opinion the Group financial statements give a true and
fair view, In accordance with IFRSs, of the state of the Group's
affars as at 30 Apnl 2008 and of its profit for the year then ended

delo e & Toncle LS

Deloitte & Touche LLP

Chartered Accountants and Registered Auditors
London

9 July 2008

Note Neither an audit nor a review provides assurance on the maintenance and
integnty of the website including controls usad to achieve this and in particular

whether any changas may have occurred to the financial infermaton since first published
These matters are the respansibility of the directors but ne control procedures can
provide absolute assurance in this area Legislation in the United Kingdom governing
the preparation and disseminabon of hinaneial information differs from legislat:on in

ather junsdictions
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Financial Statements

Consolidated income statement
Year ended 30 Apni 2008

Belore Exceptional Belore Exceptional
axceptional tems axceptional tems
items 2008 1tems 2007
2008 {note 5) 2008 2007 {note 5} 2007
Continuing operations Note £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £ 000 £000
Revenue 4 446,309 - 446,309 310,262 - 310262
Staff costs 6 (300,207) (1,633} (301,840) (195,225 - (195,225)
Other operating costs {122,594) (13,419) (136,013 {79,835) - (79,839
Depreciation and amortisation 7,113) - 7,113 (3,051) - (3,051)
(429,914) (15,052) (444,966) (278,111) - (278111)
Operating profit /(loss) 7 16,395 (15,052) 1,343 32,151 - 32,151
Share of profits in associated undertakings 6,687 - 6,687 6,514 - 6,514
Total profit/(loss) from operations
including joint ventures and
associated undertakings 23,082 {15,052) 8,030 38,665 - 38,665
Income from other fixed asset Investments 9 - 9 59 3,834 3.893
Finance Income 8 2,661 - 2,661 1,376 - 1,376
Finance expense 8 (5,139) - {5,139) {2,139) - (2,139)
Net finance expense (2,478) - {2,478) {(763) - {763)
Profit /{loss) on ordinary activities
before taxation 20,613 {15,052) 5,561 37,961 3,834 41,795
Taxation on profit /{loss) on
ordinary activities 9 (6,852) 1,017 {5,835) (11,882) {1,198) (13,060)
Profit / (loss) for the year from
continuing operations 13,761 (14,035) (274) 26,099 2,636 28,735
Attnbutable to
Equity shareholders of the parent 9,777 {(14,035) (4,258) 23,244 2,636 25,880
Minonty interest 3,984 - 3,984 2,855 - 2,855
13,761 (14,035} (274) 26,099 2,636 28,735
Basic eamings/(loss) per ordinary share 12 17 56p 7 65)p 44 35p 49 38p
Diluted eamings/{loss) per ordinary share 12 17 56p {7 65)p 43 83p 48 80p
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Consolidated balance sheet
At 30 Apt 2008

2008 2007
Note £'000 £ 000

Non-current assets
Intangible assets 13 152,474 94,110
Property, plant and equipment 14 16,140 11,422
Investments in associates 15 7,285 7,484
Other iInvestments — financial assets 16 537 1,133
Deferred tax assets g 7,112 5,631
Trade and other receivables 17 51 80

183,599 119,860

Current assets

Work in progress 8,045 6,715
Trade and other receivables 17 151,215 111,153
Tax recoverable 1,121 149
Cash and cash egquvalents 21 42,773 49,798
203,154 167,815
Total assets 388,753 287,675
Current habilities
Bank loans and overdrafts 20 (13,599) {1,840)
Trade and other payables 18 (162,574) (122,134}
Tax habilities (1,490) (7,116}
Provisions 19 (5,737) (2,698)

(183,400) {133,888}

Non-current habiities

Bank loans and overdrafts 20 (62,8067) (23,861}
Retirement benefit obligations (3,574) {4,470)
Trade and other payables 18 5,797) {4,556)
Deferred tax labilities 9 {73} (73)
Convertible loan notes 22 (10,011} -
Provisions 19 {3,452} {8,718)
(85,774)  (41,678)
Total habilities (269,174) (175,566)
Net assets 117,579 112,109
Equity
Calied-up share capital 23,24 2,970 2,865
Share premium account 24 49,737 39,008
Retaned eamings 24 51,653 62,384
Equity reserves 24 (3,098) -
Other reserves 24 8,881 2,159
Equity shareholders’ funds 110,143 106,418
Minonty interest 24 7,436 5,693
Total equity 117,579 112,109

These financial statements were approved for 1ssue by the Board of Directors on 9 July 2008

Signed on behalf of the Board of Directors

MGl e £ M

Mark Struckett Colin Child
Group Chief Executive Group Finance Director
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Financial Statements continued

Company balance sheet

At 30 Aprll 2008

2008 2007
Note £'000 £000
Non-current assets
Investments In associates and subsidiary companies 15 15,905 15,755
Cther investments — financial assets 16 1 1
15,906 15,756
Current assets
Trade and other receivables 17 126,640 66,651
Cash and cash equivalents 141 371
126,71 66,822
Total assets 142,687 82,678
Current habihities
Bank loans and qverdrafts 20 {12,096) (750)
Provisions 19 {1,417} -
Trade and other payables 18 {3,364) (487)
(16,877) {1,237)
Non-current habibties
Bank loans and overdrafts 20 (62,867) (23,861)
Provisions 19 - {2,833)
Trade and other payables 18 {1,930) {1,757)
(64,797) (28,451)
Total hatihities (81,674) (29,688)
Net assets 61,013 52,990
Equity
Called-up share captal 23, 24 2,970 2,865
Share premium account 25 49,737 39,008
Retamned earnings 25 9,724 11,783
Other reserves 25 {1,418) {666)
Total equity 61,013 52,990

These financial statements were approved and authonsed for 1ssue by the Board of Directors on 9 July 2008
Signed on behalf of the Board of Directors

M D04

Mark Struckett
Group Chief Executive
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Consolidated and Company cash flow statement
Year endod 30 Apid 2008

Group Compary
2008 2007 2008 2007
Note £'000 £:000 £'000 £'000
Cash flows from operating activities
Cash generated from operations A 23,718 26,159 (42,303) {15,958)
Dividends received 6,852 5,694 - -
Interest received 2,661 1,376 - -
Interest paid (5,139) {2,139} (504) {126)
Income tax paid {13,910) {9,285} - -
Net cash generated from/{used n) operating activities 14,182 21,805 (42,807) {16,084)
Cash flows from investing activities
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment 728 612 - -
Proceeds from sale of investment - 1,614 - -
Incoame from other fixed asset investments 9 2,925 - -
Purchases of property, plant and equipment (6,501) (5,381} - -
Payment of deferred consideration (7,010) (2,315) (1,416) (1,417)
Purchase of nvestments in associates, joint ventures and other
investments {net of cash and cash equivalents acquired) (35,252) (18,817} {150) {225)
Net cash used in investing actvities (48,026) (21,362) {1,566} {1.642)
Cash flows from financing activites
Proceeds from issue of share capital 922 429 263 429
Proceeds from borrowings 52,767 25,051 51,102 23,861
Repayment of loans {11,784) (750) {750) {750)
Purchase of shares for Employee Benefit Trust (4,022) - - -
Dmdends paid to equity shareholders {6,473) (5,518) {6,473) (5,518)
Dimvmdends paid to minonties (3,470) (410) - -
Net cash generated from financing activities 27,940 18,802 44,142 18,022
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents {5,904) 19,245 {231) 296
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 49,798 31,857 37 75
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes {1,121) (1,304) - -
Cash and cash equrvatents at the end of the year B 42,773 498,748 140 371
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Financial Statements continued

Notes 1o the consolidated and Company cash flow statement
Year endad 30 Apnt 2008

A Cash generated from/{used in) operations Group Company
2008 2007 2008 2007
£'000 £ 000 £'000 £ 000
{Loss) profit for the year from continuing operations (274) 28,735 4414 4,835
Adjustments for
Taxation 5,835 13,060 - -
Depreciation and amortisation 7,113 3,051 - -
Imparment charge 11,688 - - -
Share of profit in associated undertakings {6,687) 6,514) - -
Income from other fixed asset investments 1] (3,893) - -
Net finance expense 2,478 763 504 126
Loss/(profit) on sale of property, plant and equipment 155 (00} - -
Increase/(decrease) In provisions 12 1,381) - -
Operating cash flow before movements in working capital 20,311 33,731 4,918 5,061
Decrease/(increase) in work In progress 317 {(2,.250) - -
Increase n recenvables {1,745) {24,287) {49,434) {22,787}
Increase in payables 4,835 18,965 2,213 1,768
Cash generated from/(used i} operations 23,718 26,159 (42,303) {15,958}
COther
B Analysis of movement in net funds AL non-cash At
1 May 2007 Cash flows changes 30 Apnl 2008
£'000 £:000 £000 £'000
Analysis of movernent in net funds
Cash and cash equivalents 49,798 (5,904) (1,121) 42,773
Bank loans and overdrafts within one year (1,940) {11,659) - (13,599)
Bank loans and overdrafts after one year {23,861) (39,008) - (62,867)
23,997 (56,569} (1,121)  (33,693)
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Consolidated statement of recognised income and expense

Year enced 30 Antd 2008

2008 2007
£'000 £'000
Net actuanal {loss)/profit on retirement benefit obhigation {223) 2,139
Net revaluation of interest rate swap (837) (197)
Faoreign exchange translation differences 7.657 {1,065)
Net income recognised directly in equity 6,597 ar7
Tax onitems directly taken to reserves (30) 175
Transfers from reserves to Income statement - (563}
(Loss)/profit for the year from continuing operations (before dmdends) (274) 28,735
Total recognised iIncome and expense for the year 6,293 29,224
Attnbutable to
Equity shareholders of the parent 2,298 26,369
Minonty interest 3,895 2,855
6,293 29,224
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Financial Statements continued

Notes to the financial statements

1 General nformation

DTZ Holdings plc 1s a Company incorporated in the United Kingdom under the Companies Act 1985 The address of the registered
office 1s One Curzon Street, London W1A 5PZ DTZ Heldings plc {'the Company’) and its subsidianes (together 'the Group’) are cne
of the world’s leading real estate adwvisers, providing Innovative real estate and busingss sofutions Further information regarding
the nature of the Group's operations and its principal activities are set out in note 4 and in our Business Review on pages 1 to 33

These financial statements are presented in Sterling as this i1s the currency of the pnmary economig environment 1n which the
Group operates Foreign operations are included in accordance with the policies set out in note 2

2 sgnificant accounting policies

Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements of the Group have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards ('IFRSs’} as adopted by the European Union {‘EL)") and therefore comply with Article 4 of the EU IAS Regulatton and
those parts of the Companies Act 1985 applicable to companies reporting under IFRSs The Group’s financial statements are
also consistent with Internaticnal Financial Reporting Standards as 1ssued by the International Accounting Standards Board

During the year, the IASB and IFRIC have issued the following standards and interpretations with an effective date after the date
of these financial statements

Effective date

International Accounting Standards (IAS/IFRSs)
IFRS 8 Operating Segments 1 January 2009
1AS 1 Amendments - Presentation of financial statements 1 January 2009
IAS 12 Amendments — Borrowing Costs 1 January 2009
IFRS 2 Amendments — Share-Based Payment Vesting conditions and cancellations 1 January 2009
1A5 31 and 1A 1 Amendments - Puttable financial nstruments and obligations ansing on iquidation 1 January 2009
IFRS 3 Business Combinations 1 July 2009
1AS 27 Amendments - Consolidated and separate financial statements 1 July 2009
International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee (IFRIC)
IFRIC 12 Service Concession Arrangements 1 January 2008
IFRIC 14 IAS 19 = The Imit on a defined benefit asset, mnmum funding requirement and therr

interacticn 1 January 2008
IFRIC 13 Customer loyalty programmes 1 July 2008
IFRIC 16 Hedges of a Net Investment in a Foreign Operation 1 October 2008
IFRIC 15 Agreements for the Construction of Real Estate 1 January 2009

The Group will adopt the new standards and interpretations, if applicable, when they become effective However, the Directors do
not anticipate the adoption of these standards and interpretations will have a material impact on the Group's financial statements
in the period of inihial application

Accounting convention
The financial statements are prepared under the historical cost convention except for the revaluation of unhisted investments
which are held at their farr value under IAS32 and 1AS39

Basis of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the Company its subsidiaries and joint venture
undertakings, together with the Group's share of the results of its associates

A subsidiary 13 an entity controlled by the Company Control 1s achieved where the Company has the power to govern the
financial and operating policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities

The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of duning the year are included in the consohdated income statement from
the effective date of acquisition or up to the effective date of disposal

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their acceunting policies into line
with those used by other members of the Group All intra-Group transactions, balances, iIncome and expenses are eliminated
on consolidation

Investments in assoctates

An associate 1s an entity over which the Group has significant mfluence and that 1s neither a subsidiary ner an interest in a jomnt
venture Significant influence is the power to participate in the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but i1s not
control or joint control
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The results, assets and habilities of associates are incorporated in the financial statements using the equity method of accounting
Under this method investments in associates are carned in the consolidated balance sheet at cost as adjusted for post-acquisition
changes in the Group's share of the net assets of the associate, less any impairment in the value of individual investments Losses
of an associate in excess of the Group’s interest in that associate are not recognised The Group's share of profit, net of tax, 1s
recognised in the income statement

Where a Group entity transacts with an associate of the Group, profits and losses are eliminated to the extent of the Group's
interest in the relevant associate

Interests in joint ventures

A Joint venture 1s a contractual arrangement whereby the Group and other parties undertake an economic activity that 1s subject
to joint control, that 1s when the strategic financial and operating policy decisions relating to the activities require the unanimous
consent of the parties shanng control Joint ventures are accounted for using the proportional consohdation method The Group’s
share of assets, habilities, revenues and expenses of the joint venture are combined line by line with sirmilar items in the Group's
financial statements

Revenue recognition
Revenue 1s measured at the farr value of the consideration received or receivable Revenue comprises commussions and
fees receivable from agency and professional actwities, exclusive of sales-related taxes and amounts due to third parties

Agency commissions are recognised either on the unconditional completion of a contract or when a fee 1s contractually
due Professional fees are recognised on compiletion of the assignment

Goodwill

Goodwill ansing on consclidation represents the excess of the cost of acquisihion over the Group’s interest in the farr value of the
identhfiable assets and liabilities of the subsidiary, associate or jointly controlled entity at the date of acquisition Goodwill 1s initrally
recognised as an asset at cost and 1s subsequently measured at cost less any accumulated impawrment fosses

Goodwill s reviewed for mparment at least annually Any imparrment loss 1s recognised iImmediately 1n the income statement
and s not reversed in a subsequent period

Goodwill in respect of subsidianes 1s included in intangible fixed assets Goodwill relating to associates is included within the
carrying value of the assocrate

For acquisitions that completed prier to 30 April 1998, goodwill was written off directly to reserves in the year in which it arose
Goodwill acquired from 1 May 1998 to 30 April 2004 was capitalised and amortised over its useful economic ife Goodwill ansing
on acquisibions before the date of transition to IFRS has been retained at the previous UK GAAP carrying value subject to being
tested for impaurment at that date Goodwill previously written off directly to reserves has not been reinstated and will not be
mcluded in determiming any profit or loss on disposal of the entity to which it relates

Intangible fixed assets

Licences are classed as intangible fixed assets as per IAS38 As such they are measured inttially on the balance sheet at the
carrying value at the date of transition to IFRS At each balance sheet date the Group reviews the carrying amounts of its intangible
fixed assets to deterrine whether there 1s any indication of an impairment loss

Intangible assets acquired as pan of a business combination are valued at farr value on acquisitron and amortised over the
useful Ife Amortisation charges are spread on a straight line basis over the period of the assets’ estmated useful lives using
the following rates

» Brand 33%-50% per annum
« Customer relabonships and contracts 33%-50% per annum
« Software 33% per annum

Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any related imparrment losses

Depreciation 1s provided so as to write off the cost of tangtble fixed assets over therr estimated useful lives, on a straight-ine
basis, using the following rates

+ Long and short leaseholds over term of lease
« Furmiture and equipment 10% to 33% per annum
+ Mator vehicles 20% to 25% per annum

Provision 1s made for asset imparment if the asset’s recoverable amount {the higher of net realisable value and value in use) falls
below its carrying value
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Financial Statements continued

2 Sgnificant accaunting policies continued

Work In progress

Work in progress 1s recognised in relation to professional activities over the duration of the assignment and 1s stated at the lower
of cost, Including attnbutable overheads, and net realisable value No account 1s taken of work in progress relating to agency
activities If the recovery of such costs 1s contingent upon the successful completion of the transaction and such completion

had not occurred at the balance sheet date

Taxation
The tax charge comprises current tax payable and deferred tax The current tax charge represents an estimate of the amounts
payable to tax authorities in respect of the Group's taxable profits

Deferred tax is recogrused on differences between the carrying amount of assets and liabilities in the financial statements and the
corresponding tax bases used in the computation of taxable profit, and 1s accounted for using the balance sheet ltatility method
Deferred tax habities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences and deferred tax assets are recognised to the
extent that 1t 1s probable that taxable profits will be avallable against which deductible temporary differences can be utiised Such
assets and habilities are not recognised If the temporary difference anses from goodwill or the initial recognition (other than in a
business combination) of other assets and habilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit

Deferred tax labihties are recognised for taxable temporary differences ansing on investments in subsidianes and associates, and
Interest in joint ventures, except where the Group I1s able to control the reversal of the temporary difference and it 1s probable that
the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets 1s reviewed at each balance sheet date and reduced to the extent that it 1S no longer
probable that sufficient taxable profits will be avarlable to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered

Deferred tax Is calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the pernod when the liability 1s settled or the asset realsed
Deferred tax 1s charged or credited to the income statement, except when it relates to items charged or credited directly to equity,
in which case the deferred tax is also dealt with in equity

Foreign currencies

Transactons in foreign currencies are recorded at the rate of exchange at the date of the transaction At each balance sheet date,
monetary assets and liabilities that are denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing on the balance
sheet date Gains and losses ansing on retranslation are included in the income statement

For the purpose of presenting consolidated financial statements, the assets and habilities of the Group’s foreign operations are
expressed in sterling using exchange rates prevaiing on the balance sheet date Income and expense items are translated at the
average exchange rates for the period Exchange differences ansing are classified as equity and transferred to the translation reserve
Such translation differences are released to the iIncome statement in the perntod in which the foreign operation i1s disposed of

Goodwill and farr value adjustments arising on the acquisition of & foreign operation are, after the date of transaction, treated
as assets and liabilthes of the foreign operation and translated at the closing rate

Borrowing costs
Borrowing costs are recogrised in profit or loss in the period in which they are incurred

Financial instruments
Financial assets and hatilities are recognised on the Group's balance shest at far value when the Group becomes a party to
the contractual prowvisions of the instrument

Trade receivables

Trade recevables are measured at iniial recognition at far value, and are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest rate method Appropnate allowances for estimated rrecoverable amounts are recagnised ih profit or loss when
there 1s objective evidence that the asset 1s impairred The allowance recognised 1s measured as the difference between the
asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows discounted at the effective interest rate computed
at initial recognition

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash eguivalents compnse cash in hand and demand deposits, and other short-terrn tughly hiquid investments that
are readily convertible to a known amount of cash and are subject to an insigrmificant risk of changes in value

Bank borrowings

interest-bearing bank loans and overdrafts are initally measured at fair value, and are subsequently measured at amortised cost,
using the effective interest rate method Any difference between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the settlement or
redemption of borrowings is recogmised over the term of the borrowings in accordance with the Group's accounting pohey for
borrowing costs (see above}

Trade payables
Trade payables are initially measured at farr value, and are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest
rate method
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Investments

Investments are recognised and derecognised on a trade date where a purchase or sale of an investment i1s under a contract
whose terms require defivery of the investment within the timeframe established by the market concerned, and are initially at
cost including transaction costs

Investments are classified as either held-for-trading or available-for-sale, and are measured at subsequent reporting dates at farr
vafue Where securtties are held for trading purposes, gains and losses ansing from changes in far value are included in net profit
or loss for the penod  For avallable-for-sale investments, gains and losses anising from changes in farr value are recognised directly
in equity, until the secunty 1s dispesed of or 1s determined to be impaired, at which time the cumulative gain or loss previously
recognised In equity 13 included in the net profit or loss for the period tmparment losses recogrised in profit or loss for equity
mvestments classified as avalable-for-sale are not subsequently reversed through profit or loss Impairment losses recognised

i profit or loss for debt instruments classified as avallable-for-sate are subsequently reversed if an increase in the farr value of

the instrument can be objectively related to an event occurring after the recognition of the impairment loss

Retirement benefit obligations

Retirement benefit obligations to employees are provided by three principal schemes, which are funded by contnbutions from
certain Group companies and employees Payments are made in accordance with periodic calculations by a professionally
qualfied actuary Contributions to the defined contribution schemes are charged as an expense on a payable basis

For the defined benefit scheme, the cost of providing benefits is calculated by a professionally qualified actuary using the
projected unit credit method Actuarial gains and losses are recogrised in full in the period in which they occur and are
presented i the statement of recogrmsed income and expense

The retrement benefit obligations recognised in the balance sheet represent the present value of the defined benefit obligations
determined by discounting the estimated future cash flows using the rate of interest or a high quality corporate bond less the farr
value of scheme assets

Capitahsed pension hability

Provision 1s made for the capitalised value of future pensions payable to certain former partners and widows of the Bernard Thorpe
partnership This I1s calculated in accordance with advice provided by Lane Clark & Peacock, professionally qualified actuaries,

on bases appropriate as at the year-end date In the event of a permanent diminution 1n the profits of the Group, the liability would
substantially reduce The deferred tax asset relating to this hability 1s recognised within non-current assets Payments in respect

of these pensions are charged to the provision

Leasing

Assets held under finance leases and the related lease obligations are recorded 1n the balance sheet at the far value of the leased
assets at the inception of the leases The excess of each lease payment over the recorded lease obligations 1s treated as a finance
charge which 1s amortised over each lease term to give a constant rate of charge on the remaining balance of the obligation Rental
costs under operating leases are charged to the income statement 1n equal annual amounts over the period of the leases

Benefits received and receivable as an incentive to enter into an operating lease are spread on a straight-ine basis over the lease term

Share-based payments
In accordance with the transitional provisions of IFRS1, IFRS2 has been applied to all grants of equity instruments after 7 November 2002
that had not vested as of 1 May 2006

The Group 1ssues share option awards to certain employees and Semor Executives on a periodic basis under the Company Share
Option Plan (‘COSOP’} The awards are measured at fair value at the date of the grant and are expensed on a straight-line basts
over the vesting period, based on the Group’s estimate of shares that will eventually vest

The fair value of the share awards 1s determined using the Black-Scholes option valuation method

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obhigation as a result of a past event, and it 1s probable that the Group
will be required to settle that obhigation Provisions are measured at the Directors’ best estimate of the expenditure required to
settle the obhgation at the balance sheet date

Dervative financial instrument and hedge accounting

The Group’s activittes expose it primanly to the financial nsks of changes in foreign currency exchange rates and interest rates
The Group uses interest rate swap contracts to hedge these exposures The Group does not use derivative Instruments for
speculative purposes

The use of financial derivatives 1s governed by the Group's policies approved by the Board of Directors, which provides wiitten
prnnciples on the use of financial denvatives
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2 Significant accounting policies continued

Dervative financral instrument and hedge accounting continued

Changes in the farr value of denvative financial instruments that are designed and effective as hedges of future cash flows are
recognised directly in equity and the ineffective portion 1s recogmsed immediately in the income statement If the cash flow hedge
of a firm commitment or forecast transaction results in the recognition of an asset or a liability, then at the time the asset or lability
1s recognised, the associated gan or loss on the derivative that had previously been recognised in equity 18 included in the initial
measurement of the asset or liabihty For hedges that do not result in the recognition of an asset or a lability, amounts deferred in
equity are recognised in the income statement in the same penod in which the hedged item affects net profit or loss

Changes in the far value of denvative financial instruments that do not qualify for hedge accounting are recognised in the income
statement as they arise

Hedges of net investments In foreign operations are accounted for similarly to cash flow hedges Any gain or loss on the hedging
instrument relating to the effective portion of the hedge Is recognised in equity 1n the fareign currency translation reserve The gain
or loss refating to the ineffective portion i1s recognised in profit or loss Gains and losses deferred in the foreign currency translation
reserve are recognised in profit or loss on disposal of the foreign operation

Hedge accounting 1s discontinued when the hedgmg instrument expires or 1s seld, terminated, or exercised, or no lenger qualifies
for hedge accounting At that tirne, any cumulative gain or ioss on the hedging instrument recognised In equity IS retained in equity
until the forecast transaction occurs If a hedged transaction 1s no longer expected to occur, the net cumulative gain or loss 1s
transferred to net profit or loss for the penod

3 Critical accounting Judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty

The preparation of the financial statements necessitates the use of estimates, assumptions and judgements These estimates,
assumptions and judgements affect the reported amounts of assets, habilities and contingent habilities at the balance sheet date
as well as affecting the reported income and expenses for the year Detalls of these estimates, assumptions and judgements are
discussed below

Imparrment of goodwill

Determining whether goodwill 1s impaired requires an estimation of the value-in-use of the cash-generating units to which goodwili
has been allocated The value-in-use calculation requires the Group to estimate the future cash flows expected to anse from the
cash-generating unit and a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present value Actual outcomes could vary significantly
from these estimates Estimates used in this analysis are set out in note 13 to the financial statements

Retirement benefit obligations

The Group operates a number of defined benefit pension schemes as described in note 27 to the financial statements The assets
of the schemes are measured at therr far value at the balance sheet date Scheme habilities are measured using the projected unit
credit method, which takes account of projected earnings increases, using actuanal assumptiens that give the best estimate of the
future cash flows that will arise under the scheme habilities These cash flows are discounted at the interest rate apphcable to high-
guality corporate bonds of the same currency and term as the liabilities Any surplus or deficit of scheme assets over habilities 1s
recognised in the balance sheet as an asset {surplus) or habihty {deficit} In deterrmining the value of scheme habilities different
assumptions could signficantly alter the amount of the deficit recognised in the balance sheet and the pension cost charged to the
income statement The assumptions adopted for the Group’s pension schemes are set out In note 27 to the financial statements

Income taxes
As the Group operates across many income tax junsdictions, judgement 1s required in determining the consolidated provision for
Income taxes

Far valug of assets avallable-for-sale
The far value of assets avallable-for-sale that are not traded in an active market 1s determined by using vatuation techniques
The Group has used discounted cash flow analysis for those available-for-sale assets not traded in an active market
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4  Segmental analysis

For management purposes, the Group 1s currently organised Into three operating divisions - EMEA, Asia Pacific and The Americas

These divisions are the basts on which the Group reports its primary segment information, however for disclosure purposes, the UK

& Ireland has been separately analysed In addition, the Group operates five business lines across each geographic segment

Year ended 30 Aoni 2008

UK & EMEA fex UK The  Corporate
Ireland & Ireland} Total EMEA  Asia Pacific Amencas overheads Consolidated
£'000 £'000 £000 £'000 £'000 £000 £ 000
Revenue
Extemal sales
Capital Markets 36,703 42,202 78,905 25,598 6,214 - MNM0,717
Valuation 41,492 21,447 62,939 18,029 - - 80,968
Occupational & Development Markets 57,135 39,182 96,317 30,516 9,960 - 136,793
Professional Services 56,158 17,446 73,604 13,749 - - 87,353
Consulting & Research 20,613 4,220 24,833 5,645 - - 30,478
Total external sales 212,101 124,497 336,598 93,537 16,174 - 446,309
Total revenue 212,101 124,497 336,598 93,537 16,174 - 446,309
Result
Operating profit/{oss) before exceptional tems 15,995 6,988 22,981 3,474 {3.964) {6,096) 16,395
Share of profits in associated undertakings 340 6,347 6,687 - - - 6,687
Total profit/{loss) from operations including jomt
ventures and associated undertakings 16,335 13,333 29,668 3,474 {3,964) {6,096) 23,082
Income from other fixed asset investments 22 (13) 9 - - - g
Net finance {expense)/ Income (1,683) 865 {818) (431} (1,229) - (2,478)
Operating profit/{loss) before exceptional items 14,674 14,185 28,859 3,043 (5,193) {6,096) 20,613
Exceptional items (4,884) {266) (5,150} (300) {9,602) - 15,052
Profit/(loss) on ordinary activities before taxation 9,790 13,919 23,709 2,743 (14,795) (6,0986) 5,561
Taxation on profit/{loss) on ordinary actvities {5,835)
Loss for the year from continuing operations {274)
Other information
Segment assets™ 141,012 121,520 262,632 79,946 36,990 - 379,468
Investment in equity method asscciates 1,231 5,906 7,137 148 - - 7.285
Consolidated total assets 386,753
Segment habiliies (159,065) (54,599) (213,664) (40,518} (14,992) - (269,174)
Consoldated total latilities {269,174)
Capital addtions™ 1,596 1,908 3,504 2,705 292 - 6,501
Bepreciation and amortisation 4,107 1,149 5,256 1,238 619 - 7,113

{1) The Drrectars behave it is not pracical 1o allocate assets or capital addibions On a Secorkary segmental basis
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4 Segmental analysis continued
Year ended 30 Apnl 2007

UK& EMEA {ex UK The Corporate
freland &lreland)  Total EMEA  Asia Pacfic Amencas overheads  Consolidated
£000 £'000 £ 000 £:000 £000 £'000 £'000
Revenue
Extemal sales
Capital Markets 42,554 36,031 78,585 8,463 7,475 - 94,523
Valuation 37,645 13,280 50,925 7,293 - - 58,218
Occupaticnal & Development Markets 45117 27,856 72,973 14,447 - - 87,420
Professional Services 34,061 7,067 41,118 6,546 - - 47,664
Consulting & Research 16,669 3,120 19,789 2,648 - - 22,437
Total external sales 176,036 87,354 263,380 39,397 7,475 - 310,262
Total revenue 176,036 87,354 263,380 39,397 7,475 - 310,262
Result
Operating profit/floss) befcre exceptional items 30,075 7,080 37,165 1,351 (2,160) (4,205) 32,151
Share of profits in asscciated undertakings 301 6,172 6,473 41 - - 6,514
Total profit/{loss} from operations including joint
ventures and associated undertakings 30,376 13,262 43,638 1,392 (2,180} (4,205) 38,665
Income/(loss) from other fixed asset
nvestments 24 8 16 43 - - 59
Net finance income/(expense) 781 322 1,103 (366} (1,500) - (763)
Operating profit/{loss) before exceptional tems 31,181 13,576 44,757 1,069 {3,660} (4,205) 37,961
Exceptional items - - - - - 3,834 3,834
Profit/floss) on ordinary activities before taxation 31,181 13,576 44,757 1,069 {3,660} (371) 41,795
Taxation on profit on orcdinary actimties {13,060}
Profit for the year from continuing
operations 28,735
Other information
Segment assets!! 107,574 73,345 180,919 68,919 30,353 - 280,191
Investment in equity method associates 1,258 6,139 7,397 87 - - 7,484
Consolidated total assets 287,675
Segment labilities (99,785) (37,713} (137,498} (28,064) {10,004} - (175,566}
Consolidated total liabilites (175,566)
Capital additions® 1,148 1,892 3,040 1,048 1,293 - 5,381
Depreciation and amortisation 1,671 702 2,373 533 145 - 3,051
{1) The Directors believe it 15 not pracheal to allocate assels or capital additions on a secondary segmental basis
5 Exceptional items
2008 2007
£'000 £'000
Exceptional items relating to continuing operations
Restructunng costs {839) -
Non-recurnng ntegration costs {794) -
Staff costs (1,633) -
Impaiment of North Amencan investments (11,688) -
Non-recurnng integration costs (1,731) -
Other operating costs {13,419) -
Realisation of interest in Curzon Capital Partners - 3,834
Total exceptional items before taxation (15,052) 3,834
Taxation 1,017 (1,198}
(14,035) 2,636
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Year ended 30 April 2008
Restructuring costs
Restructuring costs represent the cost of staff redundancies incurred in the current year

Impairment of North Amertcan investments

During the current year an imparrment charge of £9,517,000 has been recogmised in respect of the Group’s mvestment in DTZ
Rockwood, and the cost of £2,171,000 for an option to acquire DTZ FHO Partners, which has not been exercised and has been
accordingly written off See notes 13 and 16 of these financial statements

Non-recurring ntegration costs
Non-recurring integration costs associated with the acquisition of Donaldsons LLP compnse staff and other operating costs
totalling £2,525,000

Year ended 30 Apnl 2007
Income from fixed asset Investments
The realisation of the Group's investment in Curzon Capital Partners resulted i incentive fees and a gain totalling £3,834,000

6 Staff costs

2008 2007
£'000 £000

Staff costs dunng the year

Wages, salanes and performance-related payments

259,205 164,609

Social secunty costs 29,714 20,707
Other pension costs 12,766 9,769
Share-based payments 155 140

301,840 185,225

Dunng the year the Group employed an average of 6,588 staff (2007 3,993} including Directors Of this number, 5,757 (2007 3,485)
were Involved in the professional side of the Group's activities and 831 (2007 508) were mvolved In central support functions

At 30 April 2008, the Group employed 7,079 staff (2007 5,565)

Detatls of the Directors' emolurnents and share options required by the Companies Act 1985 are included in the Directors’

remuneration report, which forms part of these financial statements

Key management compensation 2008 2007
£'000 £000

Key management
Remuneration 2,844 3,603
Fees to Non-Executive Directors 242 208
Post-employment benefits 27 530
Share-based payments 2 -
3,359 4,341

Key management are those persons having authonty and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities of the
entity and include Executive and Non-Executive Directors and a member of serior rmanagement
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7  Operating profit

2008 2007
£'000 £:000
Operating profit 1s stated after charging/(crediting)
Loss/(profit) on disposal of tangible fixed assets 155 (90)
Depreciation on tangible fixed assets
Owned assets 5,909 3,051
Amortisation of ntangible assets 1,204 -
Rentals under operating leases
Land and buldings 19,723 11,302
Others 6,449 4970
The analysis of the auditors’ remuneration 1s as follows
Fees payable to the Company's auditors for the audit of the Company’s annual accounts 181 126
The audit of the Company's subsidianes pursuant to legislation 513 469
Total audst fees 694 595
Other services pursuant to legisiation 9 19
Tax services 420 385
Information technology services - 394
Corporate Finance services - 28
Other services 85 24
Total non-audit fees 514 850
Totat fees 1,208 1,445
8 Net finance {expense)/income
2008 2007
£'000 £'000
Bank interest receivable 1,975 954
Other Iinterest recewvable 686 422
Total finance Income 2,661 1,376
Bank loans and overdrafts — interest payable (4,508) (1,808)
Unwinding of discount on provisions (631) (331)
Total finance expense (5,139) {2,139)
Net finance (2,478) {763)
9 Taxation on profit/{loss) on ordinary activities
2008 2007
£'000 £'000
UK corporation tax at 30% (2007 30%) based on the profit for the year (141) B8,423)
Qverseas taxation {10,157) {7,209)
Double taxation relief 2,757 1,410
(7,541) {14,222)
Deferred taxation - ongination and reversal of timing differences 1,706 1,162
(5,835) (13,060)
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Factors affecting tax charge for the year
The tax assessed for the period 1s hugher than that resulting from applying the standard rate of corporation tax in the UK of 30%
(2007 30%) The differences are explained below

2008 2007

£'000 £ 000

Profit on ordinary activities before taxation 5,661 41,795

Tax at 30% thereon (1,668} (12,538)
Effects of

Expenses not deductible for tax purposes 5,132) (771)

Overseas tax rates 1,504 249

Movement in tax losses {539) -

Total tax charge for the year (5,835) {13,060)

The effective tax rate, pre-exceptional items, for the year was 33 24% (2007 31 25%)

Factors that may affect the future tax charge
The Group operates in countries where the tax rate may be different to the UK corporate rate tax of 30%

A deferred tax asset has not been recognised in respect of iming differences relating to trading losses in overseas subsidiaries
where there 1s insufficient ewidence that the asset will be recovered The amount of the asset not recognised i1s £4,121,000
{2007 £1,400,000) The asset will be recovered if sufficient suitable profits are made in the future against which the asset
could reverse

Financial statements

2008 2007
£'000 £'000
Deferred tax
Movement on deferred tax bafance in the penod
Deferred tax asset
At 1 May 5,631 5,761
Charge to reserves (221) (1,346)
Reducticn in corporation tax hatility {405} (405)
Acquired with subsidianes {38) 459
Credit to profit and loss account 1,706 1,162
Foreign exchange 439 -
At 30 Apnl 7112 5,631
Deferred tax kabilty
At 1 May (73) (334)
Credit to rezerves - 261
At 30 April 73) {73)
Analysis of deferred tax balance
Capital allowances In excess of depreciation 95 95
Retirement benefit abligations 476 1,095
Short-term timing differences 3,845 2,341
QOverseas losses 2,696 2,100
Deferred tax asset 7,112 5,631
Revaluation reserve (73 (73)
Undistnbuted profits within equity accounted non-UK investments - -
Deferred tax habilty (73) {73)

Deferred tax assets have been recognised in respect of temporary differences and overseas losses, where it is probable that these

assets will be recovered

10 Results of the parent Company

As perrmitted by Section 230 of the Companies Act 1985, the profit and loss of the parent Company Is not presented as part of
these accounts The parent Company’s profit for the financial year after taxation amounted to £4,414,000 (2007 £4,935,000)
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11 Equity dividends

2008 2008 2007 2007

Per share £'000 Per share £ 000

Final 2007 (2006) 8 00p 4,506 7 00p 3613
Intenm 2008 (2007} 3 50p 1,967 3E50p 1,905
11 50p 6,473 1080p 5518

Proposed final dividend for the year ended 30 Apnl 2008 of 3 00 pence
The final dividend 1n respect of 30 Apnl 2008 Is to be proposed at the Annual General Meeting on 4 September 2008
These financial statements do not reflect this dividend payable

12 Earnings/ {loss} per ordinary share

The basic earnings/ (loss) per ordinary share 1s calculated by dwiding the profit or loss attnbutable to equity shareholders by
the wetghted average number of shares inissue during the year The diluted earnings/ (loss) per ordinary share 1s calculated by
adjusting the weighted average number of shares to assume conversion of all dilutive potential ordinary shares In 2008, neither
the convertible unsecured loan notes nor the share opbions were dilutive

2008 2007
Number Numier
Average number of shares in 1ssue 55,679,658 52,407,300
Share options - 623,279
Diluted average number of shares in 1ssue 55,679,658 53,080,579
Earmings per Eamungs per
share betore Earmings share before Eamings
exceptional items per share excephonal tems per share
2001 2008 2007 2007
£'000 £'000 £ 000 £ 000
Profit/ {loss) attributable to equity shareholders 9,777 (4,258) 23,244 25,880
Basic eamings/ (loss) per ordinary share 17 56p (7 65)p 44 35p 49 38p
Diluted earmings/ (oss) per ordinary share 17 56p {7 65)p 43 83p 48 80p
13 Intangble assets
Customer
relationships
Goodwtll Brand and contracts Scftware Licences Total
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £1000 £'000
Group
Cost
At 1 May 2006 36,489 - - - 1,893 38,382
Foreign exchange transtation differences (1,785} - - - {30) (1,815)
Acquisihon of subsidianes and joint venture interests 55,838 - - - - 55,838
Transfer from associates 1,705 - - - - 1,705
At 30 Apnl 2007/1 May 2007 92,247 - - - 1,863 94,110
Reduchion in deferred consideration {5,199) - - - - (5,199)
Foreign exchange transtation differences 2,519 3) (3) - 363 2,876
Acquistion of subsidianes 66,414 1,727 2,337 930 - 71,408
Imparment charge for the year {9,517) - - - - (9,517)
Amortisation charge for the year - (394) (552} {258) - (1,204)
At 30 Apnl 2008 146,464 1,330 1,782 672 2,226 152,474
Goodwilt

Goodwill 1s not amorbised but the Group tests goodwill annually for imparrment with the recoverable amount being determined
from value in use calculations Value in use 1s determined through the analysis of discounted cash flow forecasts based on financial
forecasts approved by management which takes account of both past performance and expected future market developments
Management have used a pre-tax discount rate of 7 8%, equivalent to its weighted average cost of capital This has been
determined as reflecting current market assessments of the time value of money and nsks specific to the industry and Company

At 30 April 2008, pror to imparment testing, goodwill of £28,731,000 was held in the Group's accounts in relation to DTZ
Rockwood Due to the poor underlying performance of this business as a result of the ‘credit cnisis’ in the US economy, the
goodwill has been reduced by £5,193,000 related to deferred consideration that 1s deemed no longer payable, and there has been
an imparment charge recognised in the penod of £9,517,000 The revised goodwill allocated to DTZ Rockwood I1s now £14,015,000
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14 Property, plant and equipment

Long Short Fumniture and Motor
leasehotds leaseholds equipment vehicles Total
£'000 £'000 £'000 £1000 £'000

Group
Cost
AL 1 May 2006 221 8,245 14,249 110 22,825
Acquired with subsidiary - 1,327 3,872 325 5524
Additions - 924 4,415 42 5,381
Disposals (221) (266) {(7110) (68) (1,265)
Foreign exchange translation differences - 8) {120) {1) (129)
At 30 Apnl 2007/1 May 2007 - 10,222 21,706 408 32,336
Acquired with subsichary - 1,976 7,030 1,173 10,179
Additions - 1,784 4,533 184 6,501
Disposals - (425) (2,765) (299) (3,489)
Foreign exchange translation differences - 305 1,305 38 1,648
At 30 April 2008 - 13,862 31,809 1,504 47,175
Accumulated depreciation
At 1 May 2006 {22) (5,419) (9,740) (91) (15,272)
Acquired with subsidiary - {787) (2,380) (254) (3.421)
Charge for year - {723) (2,299} {29 (3,061)
Digposals 22 169 493 £9 743
Foreign exchange translation differences - 2 85 - a7
At 30 Apnt 2007/1 May 2007 - 6,758) (13,841) (315 (20,914)
Acquired with subsichary - (837) (4,361) (399) (5,597)
Charge for year - (1,339) (4,384) (185) {5,908}
Disposals - 392 2,040 174 2,606
Foreign exchange translation differences - (172) (1,020) (30) {1,222)
At 30 Apnl 2008 - 8,714}  (21,566) (755}  (31,035)
Net book value
At 30 Apnl 2008 - 5,148 10,243 749 16,140
At 30 Apni 2007 - 3,464 7,865 93 11,422
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15 Investments in associates

Group Company
Share of  Goodwill an Shares in
net assets of acquisition of Total associates
associated  assooated associated  and subsidiary
undertakings undertakings undertakings companies
£'000 £000 £'000 £'000
Cost
At 1 May 2006 5201 3,402 8,603 15,530
Additions 338 254 592 225
Transfer from investments {207) (20) (227) -
Transfer to subsidiaries (1,190) {1,705} (2,895) -
Fareign exchange translation differences {46) 2 (44) -
At 30 Apnl 2007/1 May 2007 4,096 1,933 6,029 15,755
Additicns 294 - 294 150
Acqguired with subsidiary 201 - 20
Disposals (24) (270) (294) -
Transfer to subsidianes {25) (1,171) (1,196) -
Foreign exchange translation differences 546 70 616 -
At 30 Apni 2008 5,088 562 5,650 15,905
Share of retained profits/llosses) in assoclates
At 1 May 2006 1,123 - 1,123 -
Movement in the year 5,499 - 5,499 -
Transfer to subsichanes 585 - 585 -
Disposals 63 - 63 -
Dividend received (5,694) - (5,894) -
Foreign exchange translation differences (121) - (121) -
At 30 Apnl 2007/1 May 2007 1,455 - 1,455 -
Movement in the year 6,687 - 6,687 -
Transfer to subsidianes (554) - (554) -
Dmidend receved (6,751) - {6,751) -
Foreign exchange translation differences 798 - 798 -
At 30 Apnil 2008 1,635 - 1,635 -
Net book value
At 30 Apni 2008 6,723 562 7,285 15,905
At 30 Apni 2007 5,651 1,833 7,484 15,755
Detalls of principal subsidiaries and associated undertakings are given in note 28
Associates
The following information 1s given in respect of the Group’s share of all associates
2008 2007
£'000 £1000
Asgsets 19,426 15,530
Liabilities {11,921) (8,979)
Revenue 29,143 27,880
Profit 6,687 6,514
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16 Other investments - financial assets

Other investments Group Company
Listed Unlisted Other
Investments  Investments Total investments
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
Cost
At 1 May 2006 1 2.501 2,502 1
Additions - 872 872 -
Bisposals - (2,176) {2,176) -
At 30 Apnl 2007/1 May 2007 1 1,197 1,198 1
Additions - 2,178 2,178 2,17
Imparment charge for the year - {2,171) (2,171) 2171)
Drsposals - (616) (616) -
Foreign exchange translation differences - 14 14 -
At 30 Apnl 2008 1 602 603 1
Provision
At 1 May 2006 - (57) (57) -
Additions - 8) (8) -
At 30 Apnl 2007/1 May 2007 - (65) {65) -
Foreign exchange translation differences - 1) (1) -
At 30 April 2008 - (65) (66) -
Net book value
At 30 Apnl 2008 1 536 537 1

-

At 30 Apnl 2007 1,132 1,133 1

Investments are non-interest beanng The Directors consider that the carrying values of all investments approximate therr farr value
Additional iInvestments

Acguisitions
The following matenal acquisitions have taken place in the 12 months to 30 April 2008

On 2 July 2007, DTZ Australia Pty Limited, a 100% owned subsidiary of DTZ Heldings plc, acqurred 100% of the share capital of
Harlow Property Consultants Pty Limited and Harlow Property Management Limited (‘Harlow'},a real estate business specialising
tn industnal and logistics properties, located in Sydney Australla Consideration of AU $1,000,000 (£423,000) was paid in cash
with a maximum future deferred consideration payable of AU $1,142,000 (£483,000} dependent upon performance

On 10 July 2007, DTZ Debenham Tie Leung Limited, a 100% owned subsidiary of DTZ Holdings plc, acquired the business and
assets of Donaldsons LLP (‘Donaldsons’), a privately owned UK-based property consultancy Initial consideration comprised
£20,080,000 satisfied in cash and £19,511,000 satisfied by the 1ssue of loan notes of which £9,167,000 has been converted
into 1,685,110 shares The deferred consideration compnses cash payable of £6,552,000, and shares to the value of £710,000

On 29 July 2007, DTZ International Limited, a 100% owned subsichary of DTZ Heldings plc, exercised an option to acquire an
additional 50% n DTZ Sweden AB ('DTZ Sweden’) This brings the total interest in DTZ Sweden to 80% Caonsideration paid
compnsed SEK 35,058,000 (£2,577,000) in cash along with the 1ssuance of 140,577 shares (£744,000}

On 8 November 2007, DTZ International Lirmited, a 100% owned subsidiary of DTZ Holdings plc, acquired 100% of the

share capital of JJ Barmicke Limited (‘Barnicke'), Canada's largest independently owned full service commercial real estate services
company [nitial consideration compnised CAD 18,615,000 (£2,709,000) and CAD 6,069,000 (£3, 166,000} convertible into 743,507
shares The deferred consideration comprises of CAD 2,591,000 (£1,352,000) to be paid over three years, with up to 40% allowed
to be paid in the form of loan notes convertible into DTZ ordinary shares A further payment of CAD 1,600,000 {£835,000) 1s
payable to vendors contingent upon certain conditions being met

The above transactions have been accounted for by the purchase method of accounting
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16 Other investments — financial assets continued

Harlow Donaldsons DTZ Sweden Barnicke Tatal
Book valua Far value Book value Far value Book value Far value Book value Far value Fair value
£000 £'000 £000 £:000 £000 £'000 £000 £000 £'000
Net assets acqurred
Property, plant & equipment 15 15 3,541 3,541 127 127 792 792 4,475
Intangibles - - 804 1,885 528 - - 3,099 4,994
Other non-current assets - 12 354 208 - - 1 1 221
Trade and other recevables 205 162 21,005 18,370 2,091 1,369 7,714 6,984 27,885
Other current assets - - 4,969 1,648 - - - 268 1,916
Cash and cash equivalents 29 27 1173 1,159 1,625 1,625 173 173 2,884
Bank joans and overdrafts - - (9,843) (9,843) - - - - (9,843)
Trade and other current
payables (53) (107) (8,262) (9,669) (2,359 (2.074) 5427 (5,079 {16,929
Other current habilites - - (8,021} 8,216} (278) {278) - - (8,494)
Tax liabiities (77 (76) - - - - - - (76)
Non-current payables - - (1.544) {1,712} (559) {559) (257) {257) {2,528)
Net assets 209 33 4,176 (1,619) 1,076 110 2,096 5,981 4,505
Minority Interest - - 1 1 {215} {128) (177) 177) {304)
209 33 4177 (1,618) 861 (18) 2,819 5,804 4,201
Prelminary goodwill 921 49,327 3,631 8,994 62,773
Total consideration 954 47,709 3,513 14,798 66,974

Total consideration
Consideration satisfied by
cash 423 20,080 2,577 9,709 32,789

Consideration satisfied by
Issuing shares and loan notes

convertible into shares - 19,511 744 3,166 23,421

Acquisition costs 48 856 - 571 1,475

Deferred consideration 483 7,262 - 1,352 9,097

Transfer from investments - - 192 — 192
954 47,709 3,513 14,798 66,974

Net cash outflow ansing on

acquisition

Cash consideration 471) (20,936} 2,577) {10,280 (34,264}

Cash and cash equivalents

acquired 27 1,159 1,625 173 2,884
{444) (19,777) {1,052) (10,107} (31,380}

Net cash outflow after

accounting for purchase of

Minority interests (1,701)

QOther nvestments (2,171)

Total (35,252)
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The preliminary goodwill ansing on the acquisition of the above subsidianes, which may be subject to amendment, 1s attributable to
the anticipated future operating synergies from the combinations, and the anticipated profitability from the combined businesses
No intangible asset has been recognised In relatron to employees acquired in the above transactions, as the Group has insufficient
control over the expected future economic benefits ansing from a team of skilled staff and from traming for these items to meet the
defimition of an intangible asset

Harlow contributed £466,000 revenue and an operating profit of £45,000 to the Group's profit before tax for the period between
date of acquisitien and 30 April 2008 Had the acquisition been completed on the first day of the cumrent period, the estimated
contribution to the Group would have been revenues of £602,000 and an operating profit of £105,000

Donaldsons contnbuted £47,254,000 revenue and an estimated operating profit of £3,481,000 to the Group's profit before tax for
the period between date of acquisiion and 30 April 2008 Had the acquisition been completed on the first day of the current period,
the estimated contnbution t¢ the Group would have been revenues of £58,854,000 and operating profit before tax of £4,881,000

DTZ Sweden contributed £6,458,000 revenue and £417,000 to the Group's profit before tax for the penod between date of
acquisttion and 30 April 2008 Had the acquisitton been completed on the first day of the current penod, the estimated contnbution
to the Group would have been revenues of £7,916,000 and operating profit befaore tax of £617,000

Barnicke contnbuted £9,960,000 revenue and a loss of £413,000 (after associated financing costs) to the Group's profit before tax for
the period between date of acquisiion and 30 Apnl 2008 Had the acquisiton been completed on the first day of the cuirent period,
the estimated contribution to the Group would have been revenues of £23,585,000 and operating profit before tax of £2,850,000

Also during the period the Group acquired additional minority interests in DTZ New Zealand Limited (34%) and the remaining
minority interest in DTZ Austria (14%), DTZ Russia - Donaldsons (40%), DTZ Turkey — Donatdsons (40%) and DTZ Germany —
Donaldsons (20%) Goodwill arising from other acquired interests resulted in a further increase to goodwill of £3,641,000
Additional deferred consideration 1s payable in relation to the New Zealand minonty interest purchase of £28,000

17 Trade and other receivables

Group Compary
2008 2007 2008 2007
£'000 £'000 £'000 £000
Non-current
Qther 51 80 - -
Current
Fees recevable 125,264 88,896 - -
Allowance for doubtful debts (7,023} (2,801) - -
Net fees recevable 118,241 86,095 - -
Amounts owed by subsidiaries - - 126,640 66,551
Loans 4,788 26 - -
Other debtors 12,635 6,266 - -
Prepayments and accrued income 15,551 18,766 - -

151,215 111,153 126,640 66,551

Fees recewvables

Total fees receivable {net of allowances) held by the Group at 30 April 2008 amounted to £118,241,000 (2007 £86,095,000)

The Group has provided fully for all receivables over eight months because histoncal experience 1s such that receivables that are
past due beyond eight maonths are generally not recoverable Fees receivable between one month and eight months are provided
for based an estimated irrecoverable amounts determined by reference to past default expenence

Ageing of past due but not imparred receivables 2008 2007

£'000 £ 000
Up to 3 months 25,064 25,190
3 to 6 months 10,532 4,564
QOver 6 months 5,810 1,299
Total 41,406 31,053
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17 Trade and other recevables continued

2008 2007
Movement in the allowance for doubtiul debts £'000 £000
Balance at the beginning of the penod (2,801} (1,618)
Provision for mpairment losses recognised {5,579} {1,443}
Amounts written off as uncollectible {79) (85)
Amounts recovered dunng the year 1,811 333
Foreign exchange translation differences {375) 12
Balance at the end of the penod {7,023) (2,801}
The carrying amounts of the Group's fee receivables are originated from the following geographic regions
2008 2007
£:000 £000
UK & Ireland 52,655 42,905
EMEA {excluding UK & Ireland) 41,477 27,740
Asia Pacific 16,683 15,239
The Amencas 7,426 211
118,241 86,095

The concentraticn of credit risk 1s hmited due to the customer base being large, unrelated and internationally dispersed
Accordingly, the Directors believe that there 1s no further credit provision required in excess of the allowance for doubtful debts
The current year increase in the allowance for doubtful debts Is a result of the growth In revenues and through acquisitions during
the peried

Ageing of imparred fee receivables 2008 2007
£000 £000
Up to 3 months {10) (66)
3 to 6 months (53) (19
Over 6 months (6,360) (2,716)
Total (7,023) {2,801)

The Directors consider that the carrying amount of trade and other receivables approximates to therr far value

18 Trade and other payables

Group Comparty
2008 2007 2008 2007
£000 £ 000 £000 £'000
Current

Cther loans 4,238 8,657 - -
Amounts payable to subsidianes - - 1 487
Taxation and social security 17,453 14,359 - -
Trade creditors, accruals and deferred mcome 140,883 101,118 3,363 -
162,574 122,134 3,364 487

Non-current
Trade creditors, accruals and deferred income 5,797 4,556 1,030 857
Amount payable to subsidianes - - 900 800
5,797 4,556 1,930 1,757

Trade and other payables are non-interest beanng The Directors consider that the carrying value of all financial habilities
approximates to their far value
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19 Provisions

Accom-
Defemrad modation

congsideration provision Totat
Current £'000 £:000 £'000
Group
At 1 May 2006 - 923 923
Profit and loss (credit) - (56) {56)
Trangfer from non-current 2,314 - 2,314
Applied - {483) (483)
AL 30 Apnl 2007/1 May 2007 2,314 384 2,698
Deferred considerahon on acquisiion n year 7,134 - 7,134
Profit and loss charge 293 23 36
Transfer from non-current 2,315 - 2,315
Appled {7,010} - (7,010)
Foreign currency translation differences 284 - 284
At 30 Apnl 2008 5,330 407 5,737
Company
At 1 May 2006 - - -
At 30 Apnl 2007/1 May 2007 - - -
Transfer from non-current 2,833 - 2,833
Apphed (1,416) - {1,416)
At 30 Apnl 2008 1,417 = 1,417
Non-current
Group
At 1 May 2006 B,149 841 8,990
Deferved consideration on acquisition in year 5,199 - 5,199
Profit and loss (credit) - (831) (831)
Transfer to current (2,314) - (2,314)
Apphed (2.316) (10) (2,326)
At 30 Apnl 2007/1 May 2007 8,718 - 8,718
Deferrad consideration on acquisitions In year 1,990 - 1,990
Reduction in deferred consideration (5,199) - (5,199)
Acquired with subsidiary - 239 239
Profit and loss charge 65 - 65
Transfer to current (2,315) - {2,315)
Foreign cumrency translation differences {46) - {46)
At 30 Apnl 2008 3,213 239 3,452
Company
At 1 May 2006 4,250 - 4,250
Applied (1.417) - (1,417)
A 30 Apnl 2007/1 May 2007 2,833 - 2,833
Transfer to current (2,833) - (2,833)

At 30 Apnl 2008 - - -

The opening deferred consideration balance relates to the prior year acquisitions of Hodnett Martin Smith Limited, Grosvenor
Hickey Tindale Pty Limited, Edmund Tie & Company Limited and DTZ Rockwoed Current year additions relate to the deferred
consideration associated with the acquisitions of DTZ Barnicke, Donaldsons LLP, Harlow Property Consuitants and Harlow
Property Management Current year reductions relate to the release of the provision for deferred consideration for DTZ Rockwood
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19 Provisions continued
Accommodation provisions represent provisions for onerous leases, In accordance with the requirements of 1AS37 ‘Provisions,
contingent labilihes and contingent assets’

20 Bank loans and overdrafts

Group Comparty
2008 2007 2008 2007
£'000 £'000 £'000 £ 000
Current

Bank loans 12,096 750 12,096 750
Bank overdrafts 1,503 1,180 - -
13,599 1,940 12,096 750

Non-current
Bark loans 62,867 23,861 62,867 23,861
62,867 23,861 62,867 23,861
Amount due for settlement within 12 months 13,599 1,940 12,096 750
Amount due for settlernent after 12 months 62,867 23,861 62,867 23,861
76,466 25,801 74,963 24,611

The other principal features of the Group's borrowings are as follows

(y Bank overdrafts are repayable on demand The average effective interest rate on bank overdrafts 1s approximately 5 25% (2007 7 36%)
per annum ;

(n) The Group has three principal bank facdities

a A loan facility of US$35,000,000, £17,659,000 (2007 £17,515,000) secured on certain current and non-current assets
of the Group This loan was advanced n full on 9 May 2006 and 1s due for repayment in two equal instalments on 9 May
2010 and 9 May 2011 The Group hedges 50% of the loan wvia an interest rate swap exchanging floating rate interest for
fixed rate interest At 30 Apnl 2008, the bank loan carres a floating interest rate of 3 98% (2007 5 363%), and a fixed interest
rate of 5 48%

b Aloan faciity of HK$229,350,000, £14,851,000 (2007 £14,671,000) secured on certain current and non-current assets
of the Group The inival loan was advanced on 27 Apnl 2007, and a subsequent draw down took ptace on 1 August 2007
with a total drawdown of HK$152,502,098, £9,875,000 (2007 HK$99,201,000, £6,348,000) and 15 due for repayment in
four equal annual instalments commencing 16 March 2009 At 30 Apnl 2008, the bank loan carnes a floating interest rate
of 2 91% (2007 3 41%) on amount drawn down in year ended 30 April 2007, and 3 05% for amaounts drawn down n
current year

¢ A loan facility of £70,000,000 (2007 £nil} secured on certaun current and non-current assets of the Group The mtial
loan of £30,000,000 was advanced on 13 September 2007, subsequent draw downs took place on 7 November 2007
{£10,554,000) and 28 February 2008 {£6,875,000) and 1s due for repayment in ten equal semi-annual instatments
commencing 31 October 2008 The bank loan accrued interest at floating rates of 4 75%-6 68% (2007 nil %) at
30 Apnl 2008 The Group hedges part of the sterling denominated interest exposure by swapping part of the floating
rate debt to fixed rates for the full term of the loan

The weighted average interest rates paid dunng the year were as follows

2008 2007
£'000 £000
Bank overdrafts 5 25% 7 36%
Bank loans 517% 593%

Avattable commutted bank faciities
At 30 April 2008, the Group had available undrawn facihties of £22,571,000 under the £70,000,000 facihity and a further |
HK$76,848,000 {2007 HK$130,149,000), £4,976,000 (2007 £8,326,000) avallable under the HK$ facility ‘

DTZ Rockwood - breach of credit facility agreement ‘
During the current year, DTZ Rockwood, a joint venture in which DTZ has a 50% interest, was in breach of its credit facility

agreement At 30 Apni 2008, the overdraft was US$4,773,000 (£2,408,000) with £1,204,000 being reflected in these accounts

The breach was in relatien to the financial covenants and repayment of the facility Subsequent to year end, this facility has

been renegotiated with the Signature Bank of New York The breach occurred due to DTZ Rockwood’s underlying poor trading

performance for the year ended 30 April 2008
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21 Financial instruments

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group will be able to continue as going concerns while maximising the
return to stakeholders through optimisation of the debt and equity balance The capital structure of the Group consists of debt,
which includes the borrowings disclosed in note 20, cash and cash equivalents and equity attributable to equity holders of the
parent, compnising 1ssued capital, reserves and retained earnings as disclosed in notes 23 to 24

Significant accounting palicies

Details of the significant accounting policies and methods adopted, including the criteria for recognition, the basts of measurement
and the basis on which iIncome and expenses are recognised, in respect of each class of financial asset, financial hability and

equity instrument are disclosed in note 2 to the financial statements

Categories of financial instruments

Carying value
2008 2007
£'000 £ 000
Financial assets
Held -to-matunty investments
Other investments — financial assets 537 1,133
Loans and recevables {ncluding cash and cash equivalents)
Trade and cther recevables (non-current) 51 80
Trade and other receivables (current) 151,215 111,153
Cash and cash equivalents 42,773 49,798
194,039 161,031
Financial habihties
Denvative instruments in designated hedge accounting relationships
US$ interest rate swap (578) (197)
Stering interest rate swap (455) -
(1,033) (197)
Amortised cost
Bank loans and overdrafts (current} {13,599) (1,940)
Bank loans and overdrafts (non-current) {62,867) (23,861)
{76,466} {25,801)

Financial nsk management objectives

The Group has formal financial sk management policres which cover those financial nsks which are considered matenal to the
Group’s operations and results These policies and limits are reviewed annually and to ensure comphance, appropriate delegated
authorities have been set together with reporting procedures The Group does hot enter into or trade financial instruments,

including dervative financial instruments, for speculative purposes

Market risk
Foreign currency risk management

The Group publishes its results in sterling but has a number of overseas businesses operating in fareign currencies The Group
does not hedge the foreign exchange nisks ansing from the transtaton of overseas business results into sterling bt will, within
Iimits agreed by the Board, hedge agamst committed transaction foreign currency exposures and the translation exposure of

foreigh currency denominated assets and liabilities

The net amount of monetary assets and habilities and the carrying value of financial habilities at 30 April 2007 and 30 Apnil 2008
denominated in currencies other than the functional currencies of the operations involved were not significant
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21 Financial instruments continued
The net cash and cash equivalents held i1s as follows

Apnl 2008 Apnl 2007

Net cash Mat cash

Cash and cash Cash and cash

and cash Bank Bank loans equivalents and cash Bank Bank loans equivalents

equivalents overdrafts £'000 £'000 squvalents overdrafts £ 000 £000

Euro 19,282 - - 19,282 20,808 - - 20,808
Chinese Yuan 4,516 - - 4,516 - - - -
Sterlng 2,922 - (36,875) (33,953} 14,024 - (750) 13,274
Hong Kong$ 1,250 - {9,875) (8,625} 6,366 - (6,346) 20

Singapore$ 7,401 - - 7,401 5141 - - 5,141
uss$ 2,183 {1,204)  (17,659) {16,680) 1,449 (1.,180)  (17,518)  (17,256)
Canadian$ 293 (299) {10,554) (10,560) - - - -
Austrahan$ 1,638 - - 1,638 1,197 - - 1,197
Others 3,288 - - 3,288 813 - - 813
42,773 (1,503)  (74,963) (33,693) 49,798 (1,190)  (24811) 23,997

At 30 April 2008, if the Euro had weakened / strengthened by 10% against Sterling with all other vanables held constant, post-tax
profit for the year would have been £640,000 lower / £782,000 higher (2007 £369,000 lower / £451,000 hugher} Net assets would
have been £640,000 lower / £782,000 higher (2007 £369,000 lower / £451,000 higher)

At 30 April 2008, if the US$ had weakened / strengthened by 10% against Sterhng with all ather vanables held constant post-tax
prafit for the year would have been £83,000 lower / £101,000 higher (2007 £192,000 lower / £235,000 higher} Net assets would
have been £83,000 lower / £101,000 higher (2007 £192,000 lower / £235,000 higher)

Interest rate risk management

The Group 15 exposed to inferest rate risk as entittes 1n the Group borrow funds at both fixed and floating interest rates The nskis
managed by the Group maintaning an appropriate mix between fixed and floating rate borrowings and by the use of interest rate
swap contracts The Group's guideline is that no more than 50% of net interest rate exposures on debt {net of any working capital
balances} should be at floating rates

If interest rates had been 1% higher / tower and all other variables were held constant, the Group's profit for the year ended
30 April 2008 would decrease/increase by £357,000 (2007 decrease/increase by £150,000)

The Group's exposure to Interest rates on financial assets and liabilities are detailed in the iguidity nsk management section
of this note

Interest rate swap contracts

Under interest rate swap contracts, the Group agrees to exchange the difference between fixed and floating rate interest amounts
calculated on agreed notional pnncipat amounts Such contracts enable the Group to mitigate the nsk of changing interest rates
on the fair value of 1ssued fixed rate debt held and the cash flow exposures on the 1ssued vanable rate hetd

The interest rate swaps settle on a quarterly basis The floating rate on the interest rate swap ts 3 month LIBOR The Group will
settle the difference between the fixed and floating interest rate on a net basis All interest rate swap contracts exchanging floating
rate interest amounts for fixed rate interest amounts are designated as cash flow hedges in order to reduce the Group's cash flow
exposure resulting from vanable interest rates on borrowings

The fair value of the US$$17,500,000 swap at 30 Apnl 2008 1s estimated at US$1,145,000, £678,000 (2007 US$393,000, £197,000)
and has a matunty date of 9 May 2011

The farr value of the £30,000,000 swap at 30 April 200815 estimated at £455,000 and has a matunty date of 1 May 2013

Both interest rate swaps have been designated and deemed 100% effective as cash fiow hedges allowing the fair value to be
deferred in equity At 30 Apnl 2008, the fair value deferred in equity for interest rate swaps was £837,000 (2007 £197,000)

Credit sk management

The Group's principal financial assets are bank balances and cash, trade and other receivables and investments The Group’s
credit nsk 1s pnmanly attributable to its trade receivables The amounts presented in the balance sheet are net of allowances for
doubtful receivables An allowance for impairment 15 made where there i1s an identified loss event, which, based on previous
expernience, 1s evidence of a reduction in the recoverability of the cash flows

The credit sk on hquid funds and derivative financial instruments 1s himited because the counterparties are banks with high credit
ratings assigned by international credit rating agencies

The Group has no significant concentration of credit nisk, with exposure spread over a large number of counterparties and customers
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Liquidity sk management

The Group maintains a debt to capital rabio that has flexibility to allow it to meet its strategic objectives In addition, policies have

been set on borrowing levels to net cash requirements and covenants of financtng sources to be used The Group's regquirements
are reviewed annually or more often if the need anses Included in note 20.1s a description of additional undrawn faciites that the
Group has at its disposal to further reduce hguidity risk

2008 Less than Between 1 Between 2 Over
Tyear andZ2years and5years 5 years
£'000 £:000 £'000 £'000
Bank loans and overdrafts (13,599) (12,237) {42,133 {8,498)
Trade and other payables (162,574) {2,127) (1,724) {1,946)

(176,173)  (14,364)  (43,857)  (10,444)

2007 Less than Between 1 Between 2 Over
1 year and 2 years and 5 years 5 years
£'000 £ 000 £000 £000

Bank loans and overdrafts {1,940) {(1,5886) (11,230 (10,345)

Trade and other payables {122,134) {442) {1,766) (2,348)

{124,074) (2,028) (13,696) (12,693)

22 Convertible loan notes
The convertible loan notes were 1ssued in connection with the acquisition of Donaldsons LLP on 10 July 2007 at an issue price of
£5 44 per note

The net proceeds received from 1ssue of the convertible loan notes have been allocated between the liability element and an equity
compaonent, representing the far value of the option to cover the iability intc equity of the Group as follows

£'000

Proceeds of issue of convertible loan notes
Equity component 924
Liabiity component at date of issue 9,47
Interest charged 540
interest pad -
Liability component at 30 April 2008 10,011
23 Called-up share capital

Number £000
Authonsed ordinary shares of 5 pence
At 1 May 2007 and 30 Apri 2008 68,000,000 3,400
Allotted and fully paid ordinary shares of 5 pence
At 1 May 2006 53,635,899 2,685
Shares tssued for cash in exchange for options exercised 423,000 21
Shares issued in connecticn with acquisition of a subsidiary 2,539,456 127
Shares 1ssued in connection with acquisttion of a joint venture 637,647 32
At 30 Apnl 2007/1 May 2008 57,296,002 2,865
Shares 1ssued for cash in exchange for options exercised 181,874 9
Shares 1ssued in connection with acquisition of a subsichary 1,825,687 N
Shares 1ssued in connection with acquisition of a joint venture 105,965 5
At 30 Apnl 2008 59,409,528 2,970

Total market value for the shares 1ssued in exchange for options exercised was £263,000 (2007 £429,000) Total market value for
shares 1ssued in connection with the acquisihon of a subsidiary was £9,911,000 (2007 £18,475,000) Total market value for shares
issued in connection with the acquisition of a joint venture was £660,000 {2007 £3,974,000)

The DTZ Holdings plc 1997 Profit Sharing Scheme
The DTZ Holdings plc 1997 Profit Shaning Scheme {‘the Scheme’) was adopted on 15 December 1997 following approval by the
shareholders at the AGM on 10 September 1997 and by the Inland Revenue The Scheme 1s operated at the discretion of
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23 Called-up share cap#al continued

the Directors who In any year decide, subject to Inland Revenue limits, the total amount of profit to be contributed by the Company
and qualifying subsidianes to the trustee of the Scheme for the acquisition of shares in the Company The shares are then
appropriated to participating employees on the basis that the employees may be given at least one share for each share they purchase
or provide from their own resources No such contribution was made In the year to 30 April 2008 (2007 nil)

The DTZ Heldings plc 1987 Executive Share Option Scheme
Under the DTZ Holdings plc 1987 Executive Share Option Scheme, no executives of the Group companies held options at 30 April
2008 (2007 nil) over ordinary shares

Reconciiation of option movements over the year to 30 April 2008 1s shown below

2008 2007

Weighted Weighted

average average

Number axercise Number EXercise

of shares prce ot shares prce

Quistanding at 1 May - - 5,000 765
Exercised - - {5.000) 765
Quistanding at 30 Apnl - - - —
Exercisable at 30 Apni - - - -

Following the AGM on 10 September 1997, the above scheme was replaced by the DTZ Holdings plc 1997 Company Share Option
Plan {‘the 1397 COSOP’) and no further options will be granted under this scheme

The DTZ Holdings plc 1997 Company Share Option Plan {'the 1897 COSOP")

The purpose of the 1897 COSOP s to give certain senior employees of the Group the opportunity to acquire shares in the
Company on favourable terms Under the 1997 COSOP, options over ordinary shares outstanding as at 30 Apnl 2008 were
719,724 (2007 963,498)

Number Number

of shares of sharas

Exercise 30 Apni 30 Apnt

Option penod price 2008 2007

1 July 1998 1 July 2001 to 30 June 2008 105 Op 10,000 10,000
30 Juns 1999 30 June 2002 to 29 June 2009 126 5p 15,000 15,000
6 July 2000 6 July 2003 to 5 July 2010 161 5p 25,000 30,000
31 July 2000 31 July 2003 to 30 July 2010 158 Op 10,000 10,000
13 July 2001 13 July 2004 to 12 July 2011 162 5p 15,000 20,000
18 July 2002 18 July 2006 to 17 July 2012 108 5p 15,000 15,000
11 July 2003 11 July 2007 to 10 July 2013 83 5p 30,000 80,000
23 January 2004 23 January 2007 to 22 January 2014 135 0p 6,125 8125
16 July 2004 16 July 2007 to 15 July 2014 165 5p 111,252 239,002
16 July 2004 16 July 2007 to 15 July 2011 165 5p 1,874 10,998
26 January 2005 26 January 2008 to 25 January 2015 214 5p 13,986 13,986
7 July 2005 7 July 2008 to 6 July 2015 229 5p 287,203 319,371
7 July 2005 7 July 2008 to 6 July 2012 229 5p 62,797 63,120
19 January 2006 19 January 2009 to 18 January 2016 468 Op 6,410 6,410
19 danuary 2006 19 January 2009 to 18 January 2013 468 Op 45,000 50,000
18 July 2006 18 July 2009 to 17 July 2016 650 Op 63,455 72,855
18 July 2006 18 July 2009 to 17 July 2013 650 Op 1,622 1,622

719,724 963,498

80/ www dtz com



Reconciliabion of option movements over the year to 30 Apnl 2008 is shown below

2008 2007

Weighted Weightad

average average

Number exarcise Number exerciss

of shares prce of shares price

Outstanding at 1 May 963,498 2379 1,372,021 1714

Forfeited/expired {61,900) 2971 {65,000} 1824

Exercised {181,874) 144 4 {418,000) 1017

Granted - - 74,477 6500

Qutstanding at 30 Apnl 719,724 256 4 963,498 2379
Exercisable at 30 April 268,237 186,125

The exercise of share options under the 1997 COSOP 1s subject to earntngs per share performance targets

Following the AGM on 7 September 2006, the above scheme was replaced by the DTZ Holdings plc 2006 Company Share Option
Plan and no further options will be granted under the 1997 COSOP

Fairr value of options at grant dates are

Grant date Faw value (p}
11 July 2003 147
23 January 2004 296
16 July 2004 391
26 January 2005 522
7 July 2005 521
19 January 2006 1340
18 July 2006 197 6

The DTZ Holdings plc 2006 Company Share Option Plan {‘the 2006 COSOP’"}

The purpose of the 2006 COSOP 1s to give certain senior employees of the Group the opportunity to acquire shares in the
Company on tavourable terms Under the 2006 COSOP, options over ardinary shares outstanding as at 30 April 2008 are 86,565
(2007 52,633)

Number MNumber

of shares of shares

Exercise 30 Apnl 30 Apni

Option penod price 2008 2007

22 January 2007 22 July 2010 to 21 July 2017 7250p 2,758 2,758
30 January 2007 30 July 2010 to 29 Juty 2017 690 5p 47,250 49,875
5 July 2007 5 January 2011 to 4 January 2018 522 5p 29827 -
11 October 2007 11 Apnl 2011 to 10 October 2018 445 8p 6,730 -

86,565 52,633

Reconciliation of option movements over the year s shown below

2008 2007

Weighted Wexghted

average average

Number exercise Number EXercise

of shares pnce of shares prce

Qutstanding at 1 May 52,633 6920 - -
Forfeited/expired (4,625) 617 9 {2,625) 69205
Exercised - - - -
Granted 38,557 508 9 55,258 6920
Outstanding at 30 Apnl 86,565 6146 52,633 6920

Exercisable at 30 Apnl - - - -

The exercise of share options under the 2006 COSOP Is subject to earnings per share performance targets

DTZ Holdings plc Annual Repart and Accounts 2008 / 81

Financial statements




Financial Statements continued

23 Called-up share capital continued
Fair value of options at grant dates are

Grant date Fair value (p)
22 January 2007 226 5
30 January 2007 2151
5 July 2007 1701
11 October 2007 1333

Fair value of opticns
Options for the 1997 COSOP and 2006 COSOP were valued at far value using the Black-Scholes model

The key assumptions used in the calculations were as follows

* Risk freerate 4 7% -5 2% pa depending on grant date and expected life
« Volatity 29 6% — 30 8% pa depending on grant date

« Performance critena All vest after three years

= The expected volatility i1s based on historical volatity

The DTZ Holdings plc 2006 Co-investment and Long Term Incentive Plans
Full details of the Co-investment Plan and Long Term Incentive Plan are included in the Directors’ remuneration report on
pages 39 to 46

The Co-investment Plan 1s avaitable to a Group of approximately 20 (2007 21) Senior Executives including the Executive Directors
The maximum nurnber of shares awarded in 2008 1s 127,711 (2007 109,839) and no shares have vested The fair value of the
shares under the plan 1s based on the market price of the Company's ordinary shares at the date of the award Awards made under
this Co-investment Plan are classified as equity settled The expense recognised In respect of these awards was £103,000 (2007
£246,000)

Six {2007 five) Senmior Executives (Including the Executive Directors) were granted a conditional award of shares under the Long
Term Incentive Plan The number of shares awarded in respect of 2008 was 186,868 (2007 103,412) The fair value of the shares
under the Long Term Incentive Plan 15 based on the market price of the Company’s ordinary shares at the date of the award Al
performance cnterna are expected to be met Awards made under this Scheme are classified as equity settled The expense
recognised in respect of these awards was £409,000 (2007 £231,000)

82/ www dtz com




24 Reconcilation of movement in equity

Share
Called-up premium Retaned Equity Other Mminonty
share capital account samings reserves resern/es nterest Total
£'000 £'000 000 £°000 £000 £'000 £000

Group
1 May 2006 2,685 16,310 42,022 ~ 1,530 2,995 65,542
Shares issued for cash in exchange for
options exercised 21 408 - - - - 429
Shares ssued in connection with acquisition
of a subsidiary 127 18,348 - - - - 18,475
Shares 1ssued in connection with acquisition
of a joint venture 32 3,942 - - - - 3.974
Employee share options - - - - 140 - 140
Recognised income and expense - - 25,880 - 489 2,855 29,224
Equity dvidends paid - - (5,518) - - - 5,518)
Dwidend paid to minonty interast - - - - - 410) 410)
Movement In minonty interest - - - - - 253 253
30 Apnt 2007/1 May 2007 2,865 39,008 62,384 - 2,159 5,693 112,109
Shares issued for cash in exchange for
options exercised 9 254 - - - - 263
Shares issued In connection with acguisition
of a subsidiary 9N 9,820 - - - - 9,911
Shares 1ssued in connectiort with acquisition
of a joint venture 5 655 - - - - 660
Equity component of convertible loan notes
Issued In connection with acquisition - - - 874 - - 874
Interest charge on equity component
of convertible loan notes - - - 50 - - 50
Purchase of shares for Employee Benefit Trust - - - {4,022) - - (4,022)
Employee share options - - - - 155 - 155
Recogrused income and expense - - (4,258) - 6,567 3,984 6,293
Equity dwdends paid - - (6,473) - - - (6,473)
Dvidend paid to minonty interest - - - - - (3,470) (3,470)
Movement in minonty interest - - - - - 1,229 1,229
30 April 2008 2,970 49,737 51,653 (3,098) 8,881 7436 117,579
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24 Reconciliation of movement in equity continued

Share
Called up premiur Retained Equity Other Minonty
share capital account eanings raserves reserves nterest Total
£'000 £ 000 £'000 £'000 £000 £ 000 £'000

Company
1 May 2006 2,685 16,310 12,366 - - - 31,361
Shares 1ssued for cash In exchange for
options exercised 21 408 - - - - 429
Shares 1ssued in connection with acquisition
of a subsidiary 127 18,348 - - - - 18,475
Shares 1ssued 1n connection with acquisition
of a joint venture 32 3,942 - - - - 3,974
Profit for the year - - 4,935 - - - 4,935
Equity dividends paid - -~ 6.518) - - - (5,518)
Foreign exchange translation - - - - (666) - (666}
30 Apnl 2007/1 May 2007 2,865 39,008 11,783 - (666} - 52,990
Shares issued for cash in exchange for
options exercised 9 254 - - - - 263
Shares 1ssued in connection with acquisition
of a subsidiary 91 9,820 - - - - 9,911
Shares 1ssued in connection with acquisiion
of a joint venture 5 655 ~ - - - 660
Profit for the year - - 4,414 - - - 4,414
Equity dvidends paid - - (6,473) - - - (6,473)
Foreign exchange translation - - - - {752) - {752)
30 Apnl 2008 2,970 49,737 9,724 - (1,418} - 61,013

Included in consolidated reserves 1s an amount of £21,407,000 (2007 £21,407,000) relating to goodwill written off in respect
of continuing businesses There are no restrictions on distributions of reserves within subsidiary or associated undertakings

Gther reserves include revaluation reserves, foreign currency translation reserves and share-based payment reserves

Gans and losses on hedging nstrurnents that are designated as hedges on net investments in foraign operations are included
in the foreign currency translation reserve

25 Financial commitments

Group Cormpany

2008 2007 2008 2007

£'000 £000 £'000 £ 000

Capital commitments contracted for but not provided in the financial statements 463 821 - -

The Company, together with other companies within the Group, has given guarantees to the Group’s bankers in respect of
amounts advanced to the Group under its banking facilities No losses are expected to arise with respect to these guarantees

26 Operating lease commitments

2008 2007

Land and Land and
buildings Other buidings Other
£'000 £000 £'000 £'000

Non-cancellable operating leases are payable as follows

Within one year 24,461 6,771 15,164 3.621
Within two to five years 76,554 10,060 40,259 4,117
After five years 65,926 151 46,333 25

Operating lease commitments for land and buildings represent the Group’s tctal lease Irability to the end of each of the leases
Whilst a number of the leases contain several break clauses, It 15 not the Group’s current intention to exercise these clauses,
and therefore the full cost, before minornty interests, has been disclosed
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27 Retirement benefit obligations

Within the UK the Group operates two occupational pension schemes, one of which {the DTZ 2002 Retrrement Pian) provides
benefits based on final pensionable salary and Is closed to new entrants, and the second being a defined contribution scheme
In additicn the Group operates a personal pension plan open to employees not covered by the other two schemes The assets
of all the pension schemes are held separately from those of the Group Proviston i1s also made for the capitalised value of future
pensions payable to certain former partners and widows of the Bernard Thorpe partnership {*Bernard Thorpe Annuitants'’)

Actuaral gains and losses are recogrised in full in the pernod in which they occur The Group has adopted the revised version
of IAS19 (Employee Benefits) published in December 2004 As permitted by the revised standard, actuanal gains and losses are
recognised outside profit or loss and presented in the staterment of recognised income and expense The hability recognised in
the balance sheet represents the present value of the defined benefit obligation, as reduced by the farr value of assets The cost
of providing benefits 1s determined using the protected urit credit method

DTZ 2002 Retirement Plan (*2002 Plan’)

The results of the formal actuanal valuation as at 30 April 2005 were updated to the accounting date by an independent qualifted
actuary in accordance with the IAS19 As required by IAS19, the value of the defined benefit obligation and current service cost
has been measured using the projected unit credit method

The expected rate of return on assets for the financial year ended 30 April 2008 was 6 3% pa (2006/07 6 4% pa) This rate is
derived by taking the weighted average of the long-term expected rate of return on each of the asset classes that the 2002 Plan
was invested in at 30 Apnl 2007

The amount of contributions pard to the 2002 Pian durning 2007/08 was £0 8 miliion (2006/07 £0 9 million} and these are not
expected to matenally change in 2008/09

The 2002 Pian's benefits were amended from 1 April 2006 and these changes have been reflected in our calculations accordingly
The changes only affect pension earned after 1 April 2008

The following tabie sets out the key IAS19 assumptions used

Assumptions 30 Apnl 30 Apnl 30 Apal 30 Apnl
2008 2007 2006 2005
Retal prnice inflation 36%pa 30%pa 30%pa 28%pa
Discount rate 62%pa 55%pa 52%pa 53%pa
Pension ncreases in payment
5% or inflation 35%pa 30%pa 30%pa 26%pa
2V/2 % or inflatron 23%pa 22%pa 22%pa 22%pa
General salary increases 36%pa 30%pa 30%pa 28%pa
Life expectancy of male aged 60 at balance sheet date 268yrs 267yrs  266ys  265wyrs

The amount included in the balance sheet ansing from the Group obligations In respect of the 2002 Pian 1s as follows

2002 Plan

30 Apni 30 Aprd 30 Apnl 30 Apnl

2008 2007 2008 2005

£m £m £m £m

Present value of defined benefit obligation 479 478 49 4 439
Far value of assets (46 8) (46 1) 435 {359)
Liability recogrised in the balance sheet 11 17 59 80

In additton the amount included in the balance sheet ansing from the Group’s obligations in respect of the capitalised value of
future pensions payable to the Bernard Thorpe Annuitants 1s as follows

Bemard Thorpe Annuitants

30 Apni 30 Apri 30 Aprl 30 Apnl

2008 2007 2006 2005

Em iy £ £m

Present value of defined benefit obligation 25 28 31 30
Far value of assets - - - -
Lability recogrised in the balance sheet 25 28 31 30
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27 Retrement benefit obligatens continued

The amounts recognised within finance income in the profit or loss are as follows

2002 Plan Bemard Thompe Annutants
2008 2007 2008 2007
Em £m £m £m
Employer’s part of curent service cost 03 03 - -
Interest cost 26 25 01 o1
Expected return on assets {2 9} (28) - -
Total expense included in profit or loss 00 00 01 01
A reconciiation of the present vaiue of the defined benefit ebligation 1s as follows
2002 Plan Bemard Thape Annuitants
2008 2007 2008 2007
fm £m £m £m
Opening defined benefit obligation 47 8 49 4 28 31
Employer's part of cumrent service cost 03 03 - -
Interest cost 26 25 01 01
Contnbutions from members 0.1 01 - -
Actuanal gans 17 (28) (0 3) 02
Benefits paid 12 17) 02 2
Closing defined benefit obligation 47 9 478 24 28
A reconciliation of the fair value of the assets I1s as follows
2002 Plan Bernard Thorpe Annutanis
2008 7007 2008 2007
£m cm £m £m
Opening fair value of the assels 46 1 435 - -
Expected retum on assets 29 28 - -
Actuanal (losses)y gans (18) c6 - -
Contnbutions by the employer 07 08 - -
Contnbutions by members 01 01 - -
Benefits paid (12) 17 - -
Closing farr value of assets 46 8 46 1 - -

The amount recogmsed outside profit or loss in the statement of recogrused income and expense for 2008 for the 2002 Plan 1s a
less of £0 1 million (2007 gain of £3 4 million) This s the sum of actuaral gains and losses on the defined benefit obligation and
the assets The figure for the Bernard Thorpe Annuitants 1s a gain of £0 3 million (2007 gain of £0 2 million)

The actual return on the 2002 Plan’s assets over the year was £1 1 milhon {2007 £3 4 millvon)

The current allocation of the 2002 Plan’s assets 1s as follows

30 Apnl

30 Apnl

30 Apnl 30 Aprl
2006

2008 2007 2005

Equity instruments 41% 53% 59% 61%
Debt instruments 59% 47% 41% 309%
100% 100% 100% 100%

2002 Plan

30 Apnl 30 Apnl 30 Apnl 30 Apnl

2008 2007 2006 2005

£m £m £m £m

Present value of defined benefit obligation 47 9 47 8 49 4 439
Far value of assets (46 8) (46 1) (43 5) (35 9}
Deficit 1 17 59 80
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Bernard Thorpe Annuitants

30 Apnl 30 Apnl 30 Apnl 30 Apnl
2008 2007 2006 2005
£m £m em £rn
Present value of defined benefit obligation 25 28 31 30
Farr value of assets - - - -
Deficit 25 28 31 30
2002 Plan Bernard Thorpe Annuitants
2008 2007 2006 2005 2008 2007 2006 2005
£m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m
Expenence adjustments on
assets
Amount of loss/ (gain) 18 08 57 08 - - - -
Percentage of assets 4% (1%) (13%) (2%) - - - -
Expenence adjustments on
Iabilittes
Amount of gan - - - {03) {03) 02 - @1
Percentage of the present
value of the habilites - - - (1%) (13%) {7%) - (3%}

In accordance with the transitional provisions for the amendments to IAS19 in December 2004, the disclosures above are
determined prospectively from the 2005 reporting period

In addition to the UK defined benefit scheme, the Group makes defined contnbutions to both UK and overseas company and
statutory pension schemes Total pension contnibutions to defined contribution schemes were £12,535,000 (2007 £9,734,000)
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28 Additional information on princtpal subsidianes, joint ventures and associated undertakings

Equty held % Pnncipal countnes

Nazture of business {ordinary sharas) of operation
Principal subsidianes
Incorporated in Great Britain
DTZ Debenham Tie Leung Limited Property advisers 100* UK
DTZ Pieda Consulting Lirnited Consultancy 100 EMEA
DTZ International Lirmited Holding company 100" EMEA
DTZ Corporate Finance Limited Property advisers 100* UK
DTZ Management Services Limited Property advisers 100* UK
DTZ Insurance Services Limited Property advisers 100~ UK
DTZ Investment Management Limited Property advisers 100" UK
Incorporated in France
Financiere DTZ Jean Thouard SA Property advisers 100 France
Incorporated in Germany
DTZ Deutschland Holding GrmbH Property advisers 100 Germany
Incorporated in The Netherlands
DTZ Central and Eastern Europe BY Property advisers 100 Eastem Europe
Fronton BV Property adwisers 100 The Netherlands
Zadelhoff Participaties BY Property adwisers 70 The Netherlands
Incorporated in Italy
OTZ Itala Spa Property advisers 100 Italy
Incorporated in Belgium
DTZ Belux Group SA Property advisers 100 Belgwm and Luxembourg
Incorporated in Spain
DTZ Ibenca Asesores Immobilianos
Internacionales SA Property advisers 100 Span
Incorporated in Austria
DTZ Austna GmbH Property advisers 100 Austna
Incorporated in Australia
DTZ Australa Pty Limited Property advisers 100 Australia
Incorporated in the Bntish Virgin Islands
EuroAsia Properties Limited Property advisers 70 Japan
Incorporated in Singapore
Edmund Tie & Company Holdings Pte Ltd Property advisers 51 Singapore
Incorporated in India
DTZ intemational Property Advisers Private
Limited Property advisers 100 Incha
Incorperated in USA
DTZ Debenham Tie Leung Inc Property advisers 100 USA
Incorporated in Bahrain
DTZ Bahrain WLL Property advisers 100 Bahrain
Incerporated in the British Virgin Islands
DTZ Pacific Holdings Limited Holding company 100 Hong Kong and China
Incorporated in Hong Kong
DTZ Debenham Tie Leung Limtted Property adwvisers 100 Hong Kong
incorporated in New Zealand
DTZ New Zealand Limited Property advisers 83" New Zealand
Incorporated in Canada
DTZ Bamicke bimited Property advisers 100 Canada
Incorporated in Sweden
DTZ Sweden AB Property adwisers 80 Sweden
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Equity heid %

Prncipal countnes

Mature of business {ordinary sharas) of operation
Joint Ventures
Incorporated in Great Britain
Buying Force Limited Service procurement 50" UK
Incorporated in USA
DTZ Rockwood Holdings LLC Property adwvisers 50 USA
Associated undertakings
Incorporated in the Republic of Ireland
DTZ Sherry FitzGerald Limited Property advisers 20 Republic of Ireland
Incorporated in Australia
DTZ Australia (WA) Pty Limited Property advisers 20 Australia
DTZ Australia {Gold Coast) Pty Limited Property advisers 25 Australia
Incorporated in Qatar
DTZ Qatar WLL Property advisers 40 Qatar
Ownad by parent

Year end 31 Cecember
***Year and 30 June

The above information includes the principal subsidianes of the Group All the UK Group subsicdharies will submit annual returns
to the Registrar of Companies as required by the Companies Act 1985

29 Related party transachons

The Group prowided adwisory services on an arm’s-length basis for total fees of £522,000 (2007 £688,000) to companies on
which two Board members sit as Non-Executive Directors Two subsidiary companies lease, on an arm's-length basis, offices
at an annual rent of £191,000 (2007 one company £135,000), from a company controlled by one of each subsidiaries’ Executive
Directors A subsidiary company pays an annual software user licence fee of £31,000 (2007 £nil), on an arm's length basis, to a

company controlled and owned by two of the subsidianes’ Executive Directors

The Group had outstanding loans to certain joint venture and associated comparues totalling £4,708,000 (2007 £779,000) as
at 30 April 2008 All of these loans are on commercial terms

Our joint venture partners have made loans to DTZ Rockwood, at 30 Apnl 2008, our 50% share reflected in creditors amounted

to £1,873,000 (2007 £1,000,000)

Pnor to the acquisition of OTZ Pacific Holdings, a Director loaned maney to that company, at 30 April 2008 this amount was repaid

in full 2007 £2,980,000 remained outstanding)

30 Share price

The mid-market price of the shares at 1 May 2007 and 30 Apnl 2008 was 595 5 pence and 215 0 pence respectively The share
price duning the year ranged from 204 25 pence to 624 5 pence
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Five year record
Years ended 30 April

The additonal information consishing of the five year record, the sharehoider analysis and financral calendar has been prepared
from the accounting records of the Company Whilst it does not form part of the statutory financial statements, #t should be read
In conjunction with them and the responsibilities section of the Auditors’ Report thereon

UK GAAP IFRSs
2004 2005 2006 2007 2008
£'000 £000 £ 000 £'000 £000
Revenue 166,255 194,441 232,369 310,262 446,309
Cperating profit before exceptional items 8,910 16,726 23,184 32,151 16,395
Profit on ordinary actvities before taxation and exceptional items 11,024 20,603 29,661 37,961 20,613
Exceptional tems - - - 3,834  (15,052)
Profit on ordinary activities before taxation 11,024 20,603 29,661 41,795 5,561
Profit/ (loss) on ordinary actmties after taxation 5,676 12,821 20,201 28,735 {274)
Basic eamings/ (loss) per ordinary share 10 81p 24 75p 37 87p 48 38p {7 65)p
Basic eamnings per ordinary share before exceptional tems 1081p 24 75p 37 87p 44 35p 17 56p
Dmidends per crdinary share (net}
Intenm 2 25p 250p 275p 350p 3 50p
Final 4 25p 500p 7 00p 8 00p 300p*
Year end share pnce 161 5p 199 5p 843 0p 5960p 2150p
Total assets 108,682 139,309 178,635 287,875 386,753
Net assets 48,355 45,386 65542 112,108 117,579
Earnings before interest, taxation, depreciation and amortisation before
exceptional tems (‘adjusted EBITDA') 16,999 24,015 31,951 41,775 30,204
Earmings before interest, taxation, depreciation and
amortisation (‘EBITDA’) 16,999 24,015 31,951 45608 15,152
Net cash / (debt) 6,628 13,981 30,357 23,997 (33,693)
Analysis of earmings before interest, tax, depreciation and amortisation
2004 2005 2006 2007 2008
£000 £000 £000 £'000 £'000
Profit on ordinary activities before taxation 11,024 20,603 29,661 41,795 5,561
Net finance expense/(income) 198 267 (289) 763 2,478
Depreciation and amortisation 5,777 3,145 2,579 3,051 7,113
EBITDA 16,999 24,015 31,951 45,609 15,152
Exceptional tems - - - (3,834) 15,052
Adjusted EBITDA 16,999 24,015 31,951 41,775 30,204

The figures above have been extracted from the audied financial statements for those years

To be paid on 12 September 2008 1f approved at the AGM on 4 September 2008 to the shareholdars on tha register at the close of business on 15 August 2008

The ex-drvidend date is 13 August 2008
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Shareholder analysis
As 5t 30 Apnl 2008

Financial statements

Number of Balance as at
Sharehotders by size holdings % 30 Apnl 2008 %
1-500 1,122 5054 241,235 041
501-1,000 236 1063 189,744 - 032
1,001-5,000 480 2072 1,177,452 198
5,001-10,000 122 550 865,844 1486
10,001-50,000 159 716 3,680,242 619
50,001-100,000 47 212 3,364,004 5 66
100,001-500,000 52 234 10,688,936 17 99
500,001-1,000,00C 10 045 6,378,599 1074
1,000,001 and over 12 054 32,823,472 5525
Total 2,220 10000 59,409,528 10000
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Financial calendar

AGM

Thursday 4 September 2008 — 11 00 am at One Curzon Street, London W1A 5PZ
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